Christoffer Green-Pedersen

The Politics of Justification

Party Competition and Welfare-State Retrenchment in Denmark and <u>the Netherlands from</u> 1982 to 1998 The Politics of Justification

The Politics of Justification

Party Competition and Welfare-State Retrenchment in Denmark and the Netherlands from 1982 to 1998

Christoffer Green-Pedersen

Amsterdam University Press

For the memory of my father

Cover illustration: Jozef Israëls, Working-class family at a meal, 1882 Cover design: Jaak Crasborn BNO, Valkenburg a/d Geul Lay-out: Adriaan de Jonge, Amsterdam

ISBN 90 5356 590 6 NUR 754

© Amsterdam University Press, Amsterdam, 2002

All rights reserved. Without limiting the rights under copyright reserved above, no part of this book may be reproduced, stored in or introduced into a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means (electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise) without the written permission of both the copyright owner and the author of the book.

Acknowledgments

This book is a significantly revised version of my Ph.D.-dissertation entitled: 'How Politics Still Matters. Retrenchment of old-age pensions, unemployment benefits, and disability pensions/early-retirement benefits in Denmark and in the Netherlands from 1982 to 1998.' Some of the ideas and data in the book have also appeared as 'The Puzzle of Dutch Welfare State Retrenchment', *West European Politics*, 24, 3, pp. 135-150 and 'Welfare State Retrenchment in Denmark and the Netherlands, 1982-1998. The Role of Party Competition and Party Consensus', *Comparative Political Studies*, 34, 9, pp. 963-985.

The Department of Political Science at the University of Aarhus constituted my working base both as Ph.D.-student and now as an assistant professor. Sincere thanks are due to both faculty and staff for providing a nice working environment. Together with the Research Foundation of the University of Aarhus, the department has also generously sponsored my different activities, which lead to this book. I owe a debt of gratitude to many people at the department who have been crucial to my success in completing first the dissertation and now the book. First of all, my Ph.D.-supervisor, Peter Nannestad has been generous with his time and helpful advice. His insistence of my spending a great amount of time on both research design and conceptualization and measurement of the dependent variable has not only proved invaluable for this book, but also in realizing the research standards at which political science should aim. Asbjørn Sonne Nørgaard has likewise been a source of enormous inspiration. He has influenced my view of the welfare state, political science and many other things in life much more than he knows. I am also grateful to Jens Peter Frølund Thomsen and Jørn Loftager for many inspiring discussions about my work, the welfare state and many other things, and to Jørgen Elklit for taking the time to introduce me to the departmental life. While still at the department, Erik Albæk and Peter Munk Christiansen got me interested in the welfare state in the first place and have continued to help and encourage me. I am also thankful to my two office mates Christian Bertelsen and Asbjørn Skjæveland and to my fellow

Ph.D.-students for many discussions about the frustrating life as a Ph.D.student. Finally, I am pleased to acknowledge the support of Helle Bundgaard, Jonna Kjær, Lone Winther Matias, Else Løvdal Nielsen, and Tina Ro Thomsen with the manuscript at its various stages.

The dissertation allowed me to experience the implications of a comparative study. I do not regret it for a moment, not least because it provided me with the opportunity to spend time in such a friendly place as the Netherlands. The Political Science Department at the University of Nijmegen served as my working base and I am grateful to Kees van Kersbergen and everyone at the department for a warm welcoming atmosphere. Kees has shown me how high academic standards and friendliness can ideally be combined and he and Inger have shown genuine hospitality. Taco Brandsen, Romke van der Veen, and especially Duco Bannink at the University of Twente have patiently corrected my worst misunderstandings about the Dutch welfare state and have commented on my work in general. Anton Hemerijck, Wim van Oorschot, and Jelle Visser have taken time for some very interesting discussions about the changes in the Dutch welfare state. Finally, many thanks are also due to Welmoet Boenders, Christiaan de Jong, and Remco Peijs for showing me that there is much more to the Netherlands than welfare-state reforms.

A number of people have read parts of this manuscript or several of the papers written as part of the work. I am very thankful to Robert Henry Cox, Markus Haverland, Fiona Ross, Herman Schwartz, John D. Stephens, and Christa van Wijnbergen for many critical but very helpful comments. At the final stages, the dissertation, and thus this book, benefited greatly from comments from a group consisting of Karen Anderson, Sven Jochem, Anders Lindbom, Bruno Palier, Paul Pierson, and Nico Siegel who met for a workshop on welfare-state retrenchment in Århus.

My dissertation committee consisting of Hans Keman, Jørgen Goul Andersen, and Asbjørn Sonne Nørgaard provided me with excellent criticism and opportunity to think through several elements of the work again. Increasingly during recent years, Centre for Comparative Welfare Studies (ccws) at the University of Aalborg has also been a forum for many stimulating discussions about the welfare state. A generous invitation by Fritz W. Scharpf and the Max-Planck Institute for the Study of Societies in Cologne also encouraged me to work more intensively with the Danish case. My gratitude is due to the politicians and political advisers who were interviewed for this study, but whose names I unfortunately cannot mention, for spending an often great amount of their sparse time on me.

Thanks are also due to Jaap Wagenaar at the AUP who has been a very

helpful and friendly editor, and to Steve Martin for improvements of the manuscript.

However, my deepest gratitude goes to my wife Lone for her love and support, and to Jacob, who entered this world when this project was almost completed and taught me that there are much more important things in life than work.

Århus, August 2002

Christoffer Green-Pedersen

Contents

Acknowledgements / 5

List of abbreviations / 11

1 Introduction / 13 The arguments in brief / 14 The structure of the book / 16

2 From theories of expansion to theories of retrenchment / 19 Theories of welfare-state expansion / 19 Theories of welfare-state retrenchment / 23

3 Aframework for government choice on retrenchment / 31 Political parties: their objectives and incentives for retrenchment / 31 A justification strategy of blame avoidance / 33 Systems of party competition and their effects on the possibilities of pursuing a justification strategy / 35 Connection to the labour market: which social-security schemes will be retrenched the most? / 39 The theoretical argument in brief / 41

4 Research strategy and research design / 43

Denmark and the Netherlands – a most similar systems design / 43 The choice of social-security schemes / 49 The choice of time period / 50 Definition and measurement of retrenchment / 58 Some hypotheses / 62

5 Retrenchments in Denmark and the Netherlands / 65

Retrenchment in Denmark and the Netherlands / 65 Actual variation in extent of retrenchment / 87 The match between the actual and expected variation in retrenchment / 89

6 Dutch Politics and welfare-state retrenchment. How party competition produced consensus / 93

Depillarisation and fumbling response to the oil crises / 93 The first and second Lubbers governments: No-nonsense policy and an emerging consensus / 96 The third Lubbers government: WAO affair and the fall of the CDA / 102 Purple governments: centrist policy without the CDA / 106

The Dutch case – a general view / 107

7 Danish politics and welfare-state retrenchment: The difficulties of a right-wing government and the possibilities of a left-wing government / 111

Landslide election and fumbling socio-economic policy / 111 Right-wing governments and the difficulties of welfare-state retrenchment / 113 1993-1998: the possibilities of social democratic-led governments / 124

The Danish case – a general view / 129

8 The evidence on balance and some quibbles / 131

The empirical support for the framework on balance / 131 Alternative explanations / 134 Balance / 141

9 Party politics matter – summary and implications / 143

The main findings / 143 The implications for the retrenchment debate / 144 The politics of miracles and the dilemmas of European Social Democracy / 149

```
Appendix / 153
Summary / 159
Notes / 165
References / 175
Index / 197
```

IO CONTENTS

List of abbreviations

Political Parties

- ARP Anti Revolutionaire Partij (Dutch Protestant/Calvinist party)
- CD CentrumDemokraterne (Danish Centre Party)
- CDA Christen Democratisch Appèl (Dutch Christian Democratic party)
- сни Christelijk-Historische Unie (Dutch Protestant party)
- D66 Democraten 1966 (Dutch social liberal party)
- кvp Katholieke Volks Partij (Dutch Catholic party)
- PPR Politieke Partij Radicalen (Dutch left-wing Catholic party)
- Pvda Partij van de Arbeid (Dutch Social Democratic party)
- SF Socialistisk Folkeparti (Danish moderate left-wing party)
- VVD Volkspartij voor Vrijheid en Democratie (Dutch liberal party)

Social-security schemes

AAW	Algemene arbeidongeschiktheidswet (Dutch disability-pension
	scheme)
AOW	Algemene ouderdomswet (Dutch old-age pension)
WAO	Wet op de arbeidsongeschiktheidsverzekering (Dutch disability
	pension)
VUT	Vervroegde uittreding (Dutch occupational early retirement
	scheme)
WW	Werkloosheidswet (Dutch unemployment-benefit scheme)
WWV	Wet werkloosheidsvoorziening (Dutch unemployment-benefit
	scheme)

Other Abbreviations

CNV	Christelijk Nationaal Vakverbond (Dutch Protestant federation of
	trade unions)
CTSV	College van Toezicht Sociale Verzekeringen (Dutch institution for
	the supervision of some social-security schemes)
FNV	Federatie Nederlandse Vakbewegening (Dutch federation of trade unions)
GMD	Gemeenschappelijke Medische Dienst (Dutch institution for the awarding of disability pensions)
OECD	Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development
LISV	Landelijk Instituut Sociale Verzekeringen (Dutch institution for
	the coordination of some social-security schemes)
SVB	Sociale Verzekeringsbank (Dutch institution for the administra-
	tion of some social-security schemes
SVR	Sociale Verzekeringsraad (Dutch institution for the supervision
	and coordination of some social-security schemes)

1 Introduction

The development of modern welfare states is an issue that has attracted enormous attention within social science. One could easily fill an impressive library with books and articles about the issue. The reasons for this interest are straightforward. The welfare state is a highly important phenomenon in Western societies. It strongly influences the life of nearly the entire population in the Western world. Thus, researchers interested in different subjects such as gender relations (e.g. Lewis 1992; Orloff 1993) or poverty (e.g. Korpi & Palme 1998) automatically come to focus on the welfare state.

Until about 20 years ago, studying the development of modern welfare states was synonymous with studying their growth. This no longer applies. Welfare-state retrenchment has been on the political agenda of most of the rich OECD countries for the last 20 years, and almost all countries have experienced welfare-state retrenchments (Stephens, Huber, & Ray 1999). This has been part of a larger attempt of Western societies to adjust their models of welfare capitalism to a changed economic environment (cf. Kitschelt *et al.* 1999; Regini 2000; Scharpf & Schmidt 2000a). Evidently, the recent development of modern welfare states has also affected the scholarly interest. Research into welfare-state growth is still ongoing (e.g. Hicks 2000; Iversen & Cusack 2000; Mares 2000; Huber & Stephens 2001a). However, starting with Pierson's (1994; 1996) groundbreaking studies of welfare-state retrenchment in primarily the United States and Britain, a scholarly debate about retrenchment has gained momentum.

This book is an investigation of retrenchment in Denmark and in the Netherlands during the period 1982 to 1998, focussing on retrenchment of old-age pensions, unemployment benefits, and disability pensions/early retirement benefits. The general aim of the book is to contribute to the scholarly debate about welfare-state retrenchment in a number of ways. The main aim is to add to the knowledge of the factors causing variation in retrenchment between countries and across social-security schemes. Here, the argument of the book is that politics is the main factor causing variation. In this way, the book differs from most other writings on retrenchment that follow the new institutional wave within political science in general, highlighting the role of institutional factors. An additional aim of the book is to add to the empirical knowledge about retrenchment. As argued by Alber (1996: 3), '... systematic studies of retrenchment processes in a comparative perspective are still thoroughly missing.' This book aims to fill a small part of that vacuum.

However, this book should not only interest scholars engaged in the debate about welfare-state retrenchment. As argued above, welfare-state retrenchment is part of the broader effort of Western governments to adjust their models of welfare capitalism to a new economic environment. Welfare-state retrenchments are probably the most controversial part of this effort, and this book, therefore, contributes to the understanding of different country's capacity to adjust their models of welfare capitalism. Further, Denmark and the Netherlands have come to be seen as two of the success stories with regard to this adjustment process. Scholars are thus debating both a Dutch and a Danish miracle (cf. Visser & Hemerijck 1997; Schwartz 2001a, and Green-Pedersen 2001a). The book draws attention to the role that party politics has played in the adjustment processes within the two countries. This includes both the development of the party systems in the two countries and the situation of the Social Democratic Parties. The discussion of the latter factor also contributes to the wider debate about the dilemmas of European Social Democracy.

Before presenting a brief overview of the book, it is worth spelling out the main arguments of the book.

The arguments in brief

In its briefest form, the theoretical argument of this book is that politics matter for welfare-state retrenchment. But what does that mean, politics matter? This claim consists of two parts. First, the argument is that governments' possibilities of implementing retrenchment measures are crucially dependent on their capabilities of justifying the measures in the eyes of the electorate. If voters consider retrenchment measures unfair or driven by hidden ideological motives, they are likely to punish governments at the polls. In this way, as Pierson (1994) argues, the politics of retrenchment are the politics of blame avoidance. Instead, governments must convince the electorate that they are retrenching the welfare state to improve its financial viability or to remedy some of the policy failures that may follow from it. The question then is which factors determine governments' capabilities of justifying retrenchment measures?

Two linked factors relating to party politics produce variation between countries because they shape governments' possibilities of justifying retrenchments. First, the electorate has certain standard views of political parties. Parties of the left are expected to focus on social justice and to support the welfare state, whereas parties of the right are expected to concentrate on keeping taxation down and things such as economic management. Christian Democratic Centre Parties fall in between. In addition, they have a reputation for political compromise and social accommodation that may facilitate the justification of retrenchment measures. These standard views of political parties influence the electorate's judgment of the political parties' arguments concerning retrenchment. They are much more likely to accept a left-wing parties' attempt at justifying retrenchment than they are to accept arguments from right-wing parties. In the latter case, they tend to believe that there are hidden ideological motives. Second, the way political parties compete affects governments' possibilities of justifying retrenchment measures. What governments need in order to be successful with their justification strategy is a party consensus in the sense that no other major party attacks their strategies of justification. Whether or not such a consensus emerges depends on the system of party competition and the party-color of the government. In bloc systems of party competition, a consensus emerges only if the left-wing bloc holds office. Bloc systems are systems where a left wing and a right-wing bloc compete over government power by seeking as many votes as possible. The reason for this dynamic in bloc systems is that due to voters' standard expectations of political parties explained above, the right-wing bloc has no votes to gain by attacking a leftwing government for retrenchment. Pivot systems of party competition are systems in which a centre party, often a Christian-Democratic one, is pivotal as it can determine whether it wants to govern with the major left or right-wing party. Such a system produces a party consensus on retrenchment when the centre party opts for retrenchment because the left-wing party then has to accommodate the centre party if it wants to gain office. The factor argued to cause variation across social-security schemes is the degree of connection to the labour market of different social-security schemes. This factor first affects governments' options of justifying retrenchments. For instance, retrenching unemployment benefits can be justified by arguing that generous unemployment benefits encourage passivity. Further, the economic incentives to retrench schemes with close connection to the labour market are greater.

Generally, the developments in Denmark and the Netherlands during the period 1982 to 1998 support the arguments. The book thus offers an expla-

nation why, despite a number of similarities between the two countries, more retrenchment has been implemented in the Netherlands than in Denmark. They both have very extensive and popular welfare states with fairly similar institutional characteristics; they have faced basically the same macro-economic challenges in the period, and have quite similar macro-political institutions. The difference in systems of party competition, bloc system in Denmark vs. pivot system in the Netherlands, explains the variation between the two countries. The argument also offers an explanation why more retrenchment has been implemented in Denmark after 1993 than during the period 1982 to 1993: Denmark was governed by social democraticled governments from 1993 and during the rest of the period studied. Finally, the theoretical argument also provides an explanation as to why old-age pension schemes have experienced the least retrenchment in both countries; when governments in both countries started focussing on fighting inactivity, old-age pension schemes were out of focus because of their more limited connection to the labour market.

The structure of the book

Chapter 2 is devoted to giving a review of the literature on welfare-state development. The main focus is on the literature on welfare-state retrenchment. However, to make sense of this latter debate, a short introduction to the debate about the growth of the welfare state is also provided. Concerning the literature on welfare-state retrenchment, the focus will be on the arguments about variation across social-security schemes and between countries.

Chapter 3 sets up a theoretical framework for governments' choices about retrenchment. The main argument of this framework is the one presented above. That is, several factors cause variation in retrenchment because they affect governments' possibilities of justifying retrenchment in the eyes of the electorate. In addition, the chapter also argues that office- and vote-seeking governments are prompted towards welfare-state retrenchment by economic factors.

Chapter 4 has two primary aims. The first aim is to justify the choice of cases, that is the choice of countries, social-security schemes and time period. Second, the chapter outlines the theoretical and operational definition of retrenchment used in this book. Here, it is worth emphasizing from the outset that the book builds on a fairly narrow theoretical definition of retrenchment as another word for cutting-back or scaling-down social-security ben-

efits.¹ The chapter ends by deriving 6 hypotheses about the scale of retrenchment to be expected in the two countries.

Chapter 5 uses the definition and operationalisation of retrenchment presented in chapter 4 to evaluate changes in old-age pensions, unemployment benefits, and disability pensions/early retirement benefits in Denmark and in the Netherlands from 1982 to 1998.² The chapter then summarises the variation in retrenchment identified and discusses to what extent it matches the hypotheses derived in chapter 4.

Chapter 6 and 7 provide in-depth case studies of the politics of welfarestate retrenchment in the Netherlands and Denmark, focussing mainly on the period 1982 to 1998. The aim of these case studies is to explore to what extent the causal mechanisms surrounding retrenchment actually are the ones suggested in chapter 3. What is provided in chapter 5 is basically correlation evidence for the theoretical argument; that is the correlation between the predicted and the actual welfare-state retrenchment. Yet, the question remains whether the variation has actually come about for the reasons suggested in chapter 3.

Chapter 8 first summarises the results of the two different types of empirical evidence for the theoretical argument; that is both the correlation evidence and the in-depth case studies. The chapter then continues with a discussion of a number of alternative explanations for the variation in retrenchment identified in chapter 5. The point is whether the theoretical argument of this book can explain more of the variation in retrenchment than other theoretical arguments.

Finally, chapter 9 summarises the entire book and tries to draw some lessons from it at two levels. First, the lessons for the retrenchment debate will be discussed. Then the chapter moves on to discuss the broader issue of the two country's apparent success in adjusting their models of welfare capitalism to a changed economic environment.

2 From theories of expansion to theories of retrenchment

Following Pierson's seminal work (1994; 1996), it has become conventional wisdom within the literature on welfare-state retrenchment that retrenchment politics are fundamentally different from expansion politics. This indicates that the scholarly debate about welfare-state retrenchment would be markedly different from the debate about welfare-state expansion, which in several respects is also the case (Green-Pedersen & Haverland 2002). Nevertheless, as will become clear below, the retrenchment debate has not started from scratch. It has been influenced by the preceding and ongoing debate about the growth of the welfare state. Therefore, it is necessary to start with a short introduction to the voluminous literature on welfare-state expansion.

Theories of welfare-state expansion

In the following, a brief sketch of the main positions with regard to the growth of the welfare state will be given.¹ This should provide the reader with the necessary background for understanding the retrenchment debate. In general terms, theoretical arguments about the expansion of the welfare state fall into three groups; namely structural or functional theories, theories emphasising the role of politics, especially party politics, and state-centered or institutional theories.

Structural theories all link the emergence of the welfare state to structural changes in society such as modernisation, democratisation, economic growth, or changes in labour market structures (Wilensky 1975; Flora & Alber 1984; Iversen & Cusack 2000, cf. also Pierson 1991: chap. 1 & 2). These societal changes have lead to the emergence of the welfare state. The main aim of these theories has been to explain why all Western countries developed some kind of welfare state. Less attention has been paid to comparative differences. Still, some 'structural studies' have focussed on variation among welfare states. By way of example, Cameron (1978) and Katzenstein

(1985) emphasize the degree of openness of the economy as a factor leading to different welfare-state developments. Nevertheless, the main impact of the 'structural theories' has been to highlight the existence of certain prerequisites for welfare-state development such as democratisation, modernisation etc.

The second group of theories all emphasize the role of politics, especially party politics, in the expansion of the welfare state. With the structural theories, these theories share the ambition of explaining the growth of the welfare state in general. However, the focus of this second group of theories has also very much been on explaining comparative differences both in welfare effort, that is how much is spent, and in the content of welfare states, that is the way it is spent.

The most prominent of these theories and probably among all theories of welfare-state expansion is what is known as 'power-resources theory' (cf. Castles 1978; Stephens 1979; Korpi 1983; 1989; Shalev 1983; Esping-Andersen 1985b; 1990; Esping-Andersen & van Kersbergen 1992; Hicks 2000; Huber & Stephens 2001a). The core idea of power-resources theory is that the welfare state is part of the distributional struggle in capitalist societies between the working class and the bourgeoisie. A rapid transition from capitalism to socialism never occurred, but instead the welfare state was established. Its basic aim is to secure workers against the perils of the market, that is to de-commodify them.

The establishment of the welfare state became possible with the introduction of universal suffrage and the numerical rise of the working class. Both developments strengthened the political position of the working class compared to other classes. Social Democratic Parties backed by trade unions and opposed by bourgeois parties could implement welfare legislation. Thus, in the sense of the party-color of the government, politics matter (Castles & McKinlay 1979; 1997; Jackman 1986; Esping-Andersen & van Kersbergen 1992). Welfare-state variation has sometimes been explained simply by the power resources of the working class, that is its numerical strength, the strength of trade unions and the extent of social democratic government participation (Korpi 1989). Other studies have given more complicated explanations by including such factors as the possibilities of an alliance with the middle class (Esping-Andersen 1985b; 1990) and the unity of the bourgeois opposition (Castles 1978). However, the bottom line remains that the welfare state is seen as an opportunity for the working class to limit the influence of the market on the distribution of wealth in society (cf. Esping-Andersen 1985c).

Increasingly, scholars arguing from the power-resources approach have

emphasized that the goal of the working class and social democracy has not just been the establishment of a generous welfare state, but the establishment of a generous welfare state with certain characteristics. This is the argument behind Esping-Andersen's (1990) famous identification of three welfare-state regimes. For instance, Esping-Andersen (1985b; 1990) argues that the achievement of Social Democratic Parties in Scandinavia is an institutional welfare state, that is a welfare state relying on especially universal welfare benefits. Along the same lines, Huber & Stephens (2000) argue that Social Democratic Parties, unlike Christian Democratic Parties, have responded to women's entry to the labour market by expanding publicly funded and publicly provided welfare services.

In the 1990's, a number of studies have challenged the strong focus within the power-resources theory on social democracy. They have all argued that political parties or interest groups other than Social Democratic Parties and trade unions have been driving forces behind the creation of modern welfare states. This claim has been strong in relation to the role of Christian Democratic Parties in the building of the welfare states in Continental Europe.² Van Kersbergen (1995) has shown how Christian Democratic Parties have established their own version of the welfare state distinct from Social Democratic welfare states (cf. also Castles 1994). Still, studies highlighting the positive role played by political forces other than Social Democratic ones have not focussed merely on Christian Democratic Parties. Baldwin (1990) has shown the importance of agrarian and middle-class interests for the introduction of universal welfare benefits in a number of countries, including the Scandinavian ones. Finally, a new literature is emerging stressing the positive role in welfare-state expansion played by employers (Swenson 1991; Martin 1995; Mares 2000, cf. Pierson 2000b).

The third group of theories about welfare-state expansion is known as state-centered or institutional theories. This is the most heterogeneous group of theories, and basically it is just a heading for a number of theories emphasizing how 'the state' has affected welfare-state expansion (Heclo 1974; DeViney 1983; Skocpol & Ikenberry 1983; Weir & Skocpol 1985; Skocpol & Amenta 1986). Where both structural and 'political' theories explain welfare-state expansion by focussing on societal forces such as political parties, interest groups, or economic changes, all the studies belonging to this third group argue that the state has had an independent effect on the welfare state.

The heterogeneity of this group of theories is due to the quite different conceptualisations of 'the state'. Thus, Heclo (1974) points to the role played by bureaucrats in the shaping of the British and Swedish welfare

states as well as learning from previous policies. Weir & Skocpol (1985) point to the same two variables, but also the role played by state structures and state capacities. As a third example, DeViney (1983) operationalises the role of the state as the impact of, among other things, the resources of the state bureaucracy, reliance on indirect taxes and a centralised state. Altogether, the claim that 'the state' has played an autonomous role in the shaping of modern welfare states points to the impact of quite different factors, and consequently testing the claim has proven difficult. The main contribution of this group of theories has probably been in explaining American exceptionalism, that is why the American welfare state developed quite differently from its European counterparts (cf. Skocpol & Ikerberry 1983).

One of the latest waves within the study of the growth of the welfare state consists of a number of quantitative studies of welfare-state expansion using new methodological tools such as pooled time-series and cross-sectional data (Hicks & Swank 1992; Hicks & Misra 1993; Huber, Ragin & Stephens 1993; Huber & Stephens 1993; Birchfield & Crepaz 1998; Crepaz 1998; Huber & Stephens 2001a), or Boolean techniques (Hicks, Misra and Ng 1995). These studies have tested a number of hypotheses derived from the above three groups of theories. Not surprisingly, the findings do not point to one single cause of welfare-state expansion. Yet, the main finding is that party politics matter (but see Birchfield & Crepaz 1998; Crepaz 1998). The positive impact of Social Democratic Parties on welfare-state expansion is generally repeated in these studies. However, the role of other political forces, especially Christian Democratic Parties, is also clear and these studies thus add to the criticism of the power-resources model for focussing too much on the role of social democracy.

Altogether, even with the latest wave of quantitative studies, the debate about the creation of modern welfare states has not come to an end in the sense that one single explanation for the expansion of modern welfare states has been found. However, there is considerable evidence that political parties, but not necessarily Social Democratic ones, have been the main driving force behind the expansion of modern welfare states. In other words, party politics matter.

The changed economic environment of the welfare state was already clearly visible 20 years ago. The first reaction that this provoked within scholarship was a literature on 'the crisis of the welfare state' (O'Connor 1973; Gough 1979; Offe 1984, cf. also Moran 1988). The gist of these often Marxist-inspired crisis theories was that the problems of the welfare state were not just problems, but rather expressions of crisis in the sense of a fundamental contradiction between modern welfare states and a capitalist economy. What could be derived from these studies was the expectation that modern welfare states could not survive, at least not without fundamental changes. Yet, this proved false. Modern welfare states did survive and most often without fundamental changes (Klein 1993; van Kersbergen 2000). Therefore, as will be explained below, it is not surprising that the starting point for the recent retrenchment debate has been just the opposite of the crisis literature; namely the persistence of the welfare state.

Theories of welfare-state retrenchment

As mentioned above, the scholarly debate about welfare-state retrenchment was initiated by Pierson's seminal work (1994; 1996). Therefore, a brief introduction to this work is essential as a starting point for a survey of the retrenchment debate.

Pierson – the new politics of the welfare state and blame avoidance

One of the central claims in Pierson's work is that one cannot expect theories explaining welfare-state expansion to explain welfare-state retrenchment. The reason is that the political logic of retrenchment is fundamentally different from that of expansion. According to Pierson (1994: 17-19; 1996: 144-147), there are two reasons for this. First, retrenchment is by itself hazardous since it implies imposing losses on concentrated groups in return for dispersed gains to, say, all taxpayers. The interests surrounding retrenchment are asymmetrically distributed to the disadvantage of retrenchment. In addition, what is known as 'the negative bias of voters' makes retrenchment politically dangerous. The negative bias of voters refers to the finding of electoral research that voters react more strongly if something is taken away from them than if something is given to them (cf. Lau 1985). According to Pierson, the second reason why the political logic of retrenchment is different from that of welfare-state expansion is the growth of the welfare state itself. Under the label of 'the new politics of the welfare state', Pierson mentions two feedback effects from the expansion of the welfare state, which he argues influence the politics of retrenchment. First, welfare programmes have gained strong popularity among the electorate. One can speak of a 'popular entrenchment' of the welfare state. Second, the growth of the welfare state has created a number of interest groups such as organisations for the elderly and unions of public employees likely to meet suggestions of retrenchment with stiff opposition.

In what way is the political logic of retrenchment then fundamentally dif-

ferent from the logic of expansion? For the two reasons outlined above, Pierson argues that the politics of welfare-state retrenchment are an exercise in blame avoidance as laid out by Weaver (1986). Due to the electoral dangers seemingly involved, politicians worrying about their chances of being reelected will shun retrenchment, unless they find some way of minimising the electoral dangers.

As mentioned before, Pierson's work has been the starting point for the whole debate about welfare-state retrenchment (cf. Ross 2000c). The argument that the politics of retrenchment are different from the politics of expansion and that the former is about how to avoid blame, has become conventional wisdom within the literature on retrenchment (e.g. Esping-Andersen 1996a; Stephens, Huber & Ray 1999; Vail 1999; Ross 2000a; Kitschelt 2001). This may be due to the fact that the hypothesis about welfare-state continuity that can be derived from the argument has generally been confirmed (cf. Stephens, Huber & Ray 1999; Kuhnle 2000; van Kersbergen 2000). As Esping-Andersen (1996a: 266-267) puts it: '....contemporary politics of the welfare state is a politics of status quo'.

Increasingly, however, variation in welfare-state retrenchment has come into focus. Even if the general picture is one of continuity, it is clear that there is variation in the limited extent of retrenchment that has taken place, and this has drawn increased attention. Variation in welfare-state retrenchment can be identified at two levels. First, variation can be identified among countries. Thus, one challenge for theoretical propositions about welfarestate retrenchment is to explain why some countries have implemented more retrenchment than others. Second, variation can be found among different social-security schemes. Some schemes have fared better than others and this must be explained by theoretical arguments about welfare-state retrenchment as well.

Theories of variation in retrenchment across social-security schemes

Pierson (1994: 166-176) himself focussed on explaining variation across social-security schemes. The main variable he singled out as the cause of such variation is an institutional one, namely what he labels 'the programmatic structure' of social-security schemes. This variable is basically a shorthand for a number of characteristics of the rules concerning social-security schemes. The programmatic structure can be identified by answering such questions as, how are eligibility and duration decided? who administers benefits?; etc. In other words, former political decisions about the structure of social-security schemes have feedback effects on the politics of retrenchment, and the possibilities of implementing retrenchments will be path-dependent (cf. Pierson 1993; 2000a).

Pierson's (1994: 19-26) argument about why the programmatic structure is likely to be decisive for how different schemes fare is the following: Despite the electoral risks involved, politicians facing 'permanent austerity' (Pierson 1998) are willing to engage in retrenchment if they are able to pursue some kind of blame avoidance strategy, that is some way of minimising the electoral risks involved. Pierson himself identifies three different blame avoidance strategies: strategies of obfuscation, division, and compensation (op. cit.). The strategy of obfuscation goes back to Arnold's (1990) idea of causal chains. If voters are to react on a change in public policy, they have to construct a causal chain between government action and positive or negative effects on their lives. Strategies of obfuscation aim at making it more difficult for voters to construct such causal chains. The strategies of division aim at dividing the political opponents. A united opposition is harder to fight, so if a government can split its opponents, it may lessen the political costs of retrenchment. The third strategy is the compensation strategy. Here, the idea is to offer side-payments to specific groups considered to be central for the mobilisation of political opposition.

The possibilities of pursuing such blame avoidance strategies depend on the programmatic structure of the schemes. For instance, Pierson (1994: 53-73) explains Thatcher's relative success in retrenching the British pension system by, among other things, the absence of a unifying scheme, the way benefits were indexed, and the existence of private alternatives. However, Pierson does not put forward any general hypotheses about which types of programmatic structures offer the best possibilities of pursuing the three blame-avoidance strategies.

Other scholars also aiming at explaining variation across social-security schemes have generally followed in Pierson's institutional footsteps. They have also focussed on the programmatic structures of social-security schemes, especially the way they are financed. However, there is some disagreement about which form of financing, social contributions vs. tax-financing, leads to the most extensive retrenchment measures. For instance, Anderson (1998) partly explains variation across social-security schemes in Sweden in the 1990's by the degree to which they are financed by contributions from employers. Such contributions have an easily identifiable effect on international competitiveness. Yet, Alber (1996; 1998) argues that governments will be most interested in retrenching social-security schemes having a direct impact on the government budget, that is schemes financed through taxation.

Another type of argument focuses on other institutional characteristics of social-security schemes arguing that universal schemes will fare better than selective schemes. Universal schemes are schemes providing adequate levels of benefits for the majority of the population including the middle-class (cf. Rothstein 2000), whereas selective schemes are schemes providing meager and means-tested benefits for a limited part of the population. The underlying idea is that the political feedback from universal schemes protects them against retrenchment. This argument has been based on a power-resources theory (Korpi 1980), but also on the norms and attitudes towards social security that universal schemes create (Rothstein 2000).

Arguments other than institutional ones about variation across social-security schemes also exist. Partly following Pierson (1994: 164-166), it could be argued that the strength of organised interest attached to different schemes is decisive. Some schemes, for example old-age pensions, are linked with strong user groups or client networks doing whatever they can to draw political attention to retrenchment. Other schemes such as social assistance or child benefits have no or weakly organised interest to protect them. If the strength of organised interests matters, the latter type of schemes should be most vulnerable to retrenchment. In addition, trade unions have long had close links to certain schemes, especially unemployment benefits since they are involved in the administration of the schemes. However, different opinions exist as to the importance of trade-union attachment. Pierson (1994: 164-166) argues that due to the declining power of trade unions, the schemes they protect are more vulnerable than, for instance, old-age pensions. Anderson (2001), on the other hand, argues that in Sweden, where trade unions are still strong, they have been able to protect unemployment benefits from being exposed to retrenchment measures. Finally, Alber (1998) presents what he labels a Marxist perspective. Here, schemes such as unemployment and sickness benefits closely connected to the labour market are more vulnerable to retrenchment due to the interest of 'capital' in recommodifying labour.

Theories of variation in welfare-state retrenchment among countries

The debate about the factors explaining variation among countries has been more vivid than the one about variation across social-security schemes.³ Basically, three positions can be identified in the former debate under the headings of economics, institutions, and politics. To some extent, these three groups of arguments resemble the three groups of theories of welfare-state expansion. The arguments about economics, to some degree, are simply reversions of the structural theories of welfare-state expansion. The institutional arguments come close to several versions of the state-centered theories. Finally, some attention has been paid to the effects of politics on welfare-state retrenchment, especially party politics, but also political discourse.

Arguments about the importance of economics can be further divided into two subtypes. The most prominent subtype relates welfare-state retrenchment to governments having to respond to macro-economic difficulties such as budget deficits, high unemployment, declining competitiveness, etc. Therefore, the extent of the retrenchment measures governments will implement depends on economic factors such as the gravity of the economic situation and how extensive and hence costly welfare states they govern are. For instance, Castles (2001) shows that the development of public expenditure from 1983-1995 depended on a number of economic factors such as unemployment and economic growth. Along the same lines, Huber & Stephens (2001a) argue that most welfare state retrenchments have been unemployment driven.

A second subtype of economic arguments is the increasing literature that, inspired by the idea of 'varieties of capitalism' (Soskice 1999), focuses on the interplay between welfare states and 'political economies', especially labour markets (cf. Pierson 2000b). This has been a leitmotif in Esping-Andersen's work (1990; 1999); Huber & Stephens (2001b) have analyzed the interplay between welfare states and production regimes, just as Iversen & Wren (1998) have discussed the challenges facing different political-economic models. The contribution of this literature to the retrenchment debate lies in its emphasis on welfare states' close connection with labour markets, implying that analyses of retrenchment cannot ignore different labourmarket structures. Yet, it is not always quite clear which hypotheses concerning retrenchment to derive from such arguments. Yet, both Esping-Andersen (1996b) and (Scharpf 1997; 2000b) have emphasized the very difficult situation facing Continental welfare states with regard to the interplay between the labour market and social security.4

The most prevalent types of theories about variation in welfare-state retrenchment are theories focussing on the effects of institutions. The new institutional wave within political science in general (cf. Hall & Taylor 1996; Peters 1999) has certainly also swept across the welfare-state retrenchment debate. Upon a closer look, the institutions matter claim in relation to retrenchment can be divided into two groups, one focussing on macro-institutions and one focussing on micro-institutions.

Theories concentrating on macro-political institutions have focussed

mainly on formal institutions or constitutional structures, that is electoral systems, bi-cameralism, presidential vs. parliamentary systems, federalism, etc. Generally, the starting point for this group of theories is the notion of veto points developed by Immergut (1992) and Weaver & Rockman (1993). A veto point refers to a situation in which a certain actor can block a political decision. The general literature on veto points argues that an increasing number favour status quo, as the number of actors that may block political decisions increases. This argument has generally been taken over by the literature on welfare-state retrenchment in the sense that it is argued that a large number of veto points, albeit often in combination with other factors, inhibits retrenchment and vice versa (cf. Pierson 1998; Huber & Stephens 2001a, chap 7; Bonoli, George & Taylor-Gooby 2000; Merrien & Bonoli 2001).

Crepaz & Birchfield (2000) and Swank (2001) have extended the argument by suggesting that what Lijphart (1999) labels 'consensus democracies' should experience less retrenchment than 'majoritarian' countries. A consensus democracy is a democracy with political institutions favouring inclusion and power sharing, whereas the political institutions of a majoritarian democracy aim at power-concentration and an adversarial style of politics. Following the same line of thought, two analyses of retrenchment in France (Bonoli 1997; Vail 1999) highlight the importance of a consensual vs. an adversarial style of welfare-state retrenchment. Yet, these studies conclude that consensual styles favour retrenchment.

The second group of institutional theoretical arguments focuses on micro-institutions; namely the programmatic structure of social-security schemes. Hence, this group of theories basically extends the idea of the importance of programmatic structures to entire welfare states. This is possible because, as implied by Esping-Andersen's (1990) idea of types of welfare states, social-security schemes in the same country tend to share certain institutional characteristics. One implication of a number of arguments about programmatic structures is that Continental or conservative welfare states should experience the least retrenchment. Swank (2001) argues that the involvement of labour and business in the administration of social-security schemes, which is strongest in Continental welfare states, tends to hamper retrenchment. Bonoli, George & Taylor-Gooby (2000: 144) argue that, in theory, Bismarckian insurance systems, that is conservative welfare states, should be most resistant to retrenchment, especially if employee contributions are predominant. Finally, Palier (2000: 120-121) points to the linkage between contributions and benefits in Continental insurance systems as a source of resistance to retrenchment.

Another argument based on Esping-Andersen's typology is that a universal welfare state should be less vulnerable to retrenchment due to the political feedback from universal social-security schemes (Rothstein 2000).⁵ Parallel to this is Korpi & Palme's (2001) argument that encompassing and state-corporatist welfare states should experience less retrenchment than basic security, targeted, and voluntary state-supported welfare states, because the former keep the middle class away from private alternatives.

As argued by Ross (2000c), party politics (*the* factor highlighted by the literature on welfare-state expansion) has generally been downplayed in the welfare-state retrenchment debate. A few studies (e.g. Borchert 1995; Hicks 2000, chap. 7; Korpi & Palme 2001) have followed the literature on welfare-state expansion arguing that retrenchment results from strong right-wing parties vs. weak left-wing parties. However, some of the main proponents of the politics matter thesis in relation to welfare-state expansion argue that politics do not matter anymore (Castles 2001), or that the role of partisanship has declined (Huber & Stephens 2001a; Stephens, Huber & Ray 1999).

Taking issue with these findings, a few recent studies have argued that party politics are still crucial for welfare-state development. Yet, the effect is visible only if conceptualised differently from the traditional welfare-state expansion debate. Ross (2000a) has argued that left-wing parties are less likely to be punished for welfare-state retrenchment by the electorate than right-wing parties. Consequently, left-wing parties can exploit a 'Nixon goes to China logic'. However, this strategic advantage tends to disappear in multi-party systems where the major parties of the left face competition from parties further to the left. Levy (1999) has argued that Social Democratic Parties in Continental Europe have been able to pursue a 'vice into virtue' strategy. They have combined retrenchments of social-security schemes with 'perverse' consequences, such as extremely generous pension systems, with progressive welfare reforms. Also, Kitschelt (2001) has argued that different configurations of party competition affect welfare-state retrenchment. For instance, retrenchment is less likely to take place in countries where party competition is primarily between a Social Democratic Party and a Christian Democratic Party, with liberal parties playing a limited role (e.g. Germany).

A number of studies also emphasize the importance of politics in the sense of political argumentation and discourse. Cox (2001) explains why welfare reforms happened in Denmark and the Netherlands but not in Germany by the social construction of imperatives for change. Schmidt (2002) highlights the importance of governments' attempts to justify welfare-state reforms through normative discourse. A strong affinity exists between these arguments about political discourse and arguments about the importance of framing for the opportunities of implementing retrenchment (Ross 2000a).

As can be seen from the above, the debate about welfare-state retrenchment is still in the making. However, a number of plausible theoretical propositions about variation across social-security schemes and among countries have been put forward. Generally, Pierson's argument that explanations of welfare-state expansion cannot just be turned upside down to explain retrenchment has been accepted as a premise for the whole debate. Nevertheless, the factors emphasized by the literature on retrenchment are not new. Most of them were also prominent in the debate about expansion.

3 A framework for government choice on retrenchment

This chapter aims at developing a theoretical framework to explain variation in welfare-state retrenchment, both among countries and across socialsecurity schemes. More precisely, the framework seeks to map the factors influencing government decisions on retrenchment. Theoretically, the framework draws on ideas put forward in a number of the studies referred to above and some insights developed by rational-choice theory.

Political parties: their objectives and incentives for retrenchment

As the framework is centered on political parties, it is worthwhile to start with some theoretical deliberations on them. The literature on political parties points to three different goals: office, votes, and policy (Strøm 1990a; Müller & Strøm 1999b). This framework is based on the assumption that the ultimate goal of political parties is to gain office; that is government power. However, this does not imply that they disregard votes. To gain office, any party needs votes. Consequently, in the following political parties are seen as office- and vote-seekers having office as the ultimate goal. Policy per se is not assumed to be important for political parties. Thus, the framework follows Downs (1957: 28) in arguing that, 'parties formulate policies'.

In some situations, the office- and vote-seeking strategies coincide in the sense that the best way to gain office is to gain as many votes as possible. However, in other cases, parties face a trade-off between office and votes, which in effect is a trade-off between the short- and long-run (Müller & Strøm 1999b: 9-11). How parties will respond to this trade-off in a concrete situation is difficult to predict, as it will depend on the actual situation and their time preferences (cf. Müller & Strøm 1999a). Still, as gaining office is the ultimate goal, parties are not expected to sacrifice office for votes repeatedly. In situations where vote- and office-seeking possibilities are unrelated, for instance, because a party is sure to continue in power, political parties

are expected to seek as many votes as possible. The reason is that electoral success *per se* has a number of positive side effects such as a positive spirit within the party and an improvement of the party's bargaining position visà-vis other political parties.

As vote-seeking is assumed to be a central goal, albeit not the ultimate goal, for political parties, it is reasonable to deliberate on the situation in which vote-seeking parties find themselves in relation to retrenchment. The framework follows Pierson in seeing retrenchment as an unpopular policy. For the reasons outlined when presenting Pierson's argument in chapter 2, retrenchment is expected to be unpopular with the persons actually affected and with the electorate in general.¹ The politics of welfare-state retrenchment are the politics of blame avoidance.

This immediately provokes a puzzle. If vote seeking is an important goal for political parties and welfare-state retrenchment is unpopular since voters are likely to punish parties for retrenchment, should rational political parties not be expected to stay away from retrenchment? To some extent, the answer to this question is yes. Governments are not expected to implement sweeping retrenchment. However, vote-seeking governments do have incentives for retrenchments identified in the way voters keep governments responsible for the economic well being of their country. As argued by Kitschelt (2001), the 'push' factors for governments in relation to retrenchment are economic.

Following the idea of 'nested games', put forward by Tsebelis (1990), the politics of welfare-state retrenchment are seen as nested with the politics of economic management and visa versa. To make sense of the decisions in one arena, one needs to pay attention to the other arena. The extensive literature on vote and popularity functions has shown that governments are blamed for not keeping the economy on track (cf. Lewis-Beck 1988; Nannestad & Paldam 1994; Lewis-Beck & Paldam 2000). Thus, governments have a cross party-color incentive to welfare-state retrenchment.

At the general level, the economic push factors in relation to retrenchment are connected to the changed economic environment of the mature welfare state within the last 20 years (cf. Pierson 1998; 2001a; Scharpf 2000a).² There are several specific economic reasons as to why managing the economy pushes governments towards retrenchment. An obvious reason is budgetary problems. A well-managed economy requires control of budgetary deficits. Considering the fact that social-security benefits take a large share of government budgets, a strict budgetary policy tends to imply retrenchment of social security. In the cases where social-security schemes are not directly part of government budgets but financed through separate social contributions, the incentives for retrenchment are more indirect. Social contributions will often be seen as another tax and they are often integrated into the tax system. Therefore, if they become too high, they will limit governments' possibilities of levying other taxes and thus their possibilities of balancing budgets. This provides governments with an incentive to keep the expenditures down even though they do not directly affect the government budget. However, government incentives for retrenchment do not just relate to the direct costs of social security. For instance, economists (e.g. Layard, Nickell & Jackmann 1994; OECD 1994: 171-213) have argued that generous unemployment benefits and social assistance discourage the unemployed from job seeking. In other words, generous social-security schemes may lead to higher levels of unemployment. Generous early retirement and pension schemes with easy access also encourage older workers to leave the labour market at a time when a diminishing workforce is becoming a concern for many governments (OECD 1997). Finally, limiting or abolishing automatic indexation of social-security benefits has been used as a means to fight inflation.

Altogether, the situation of vote-seeking parties in relation to welfarestate retrenchment can be summarised as a dilemma between economic constraints and popular entrenchment. If governments shun retrenchment, they risk not being able to manage the economy. If they do retrench, they risk being punished by the electorate as well. One way out for governments is to make use of blame-avoidance strategies.

A justification strategy of blame avoidance

As explained in chapter 2, Pierson suggests three types of blame-avoidance strategies: strategies of obfuscation, division, and compensation. In the following, the argument is that government decisions whether or not to retrench social-security schemes are determined by the possibilities of pursuing a somewhat different blame-avoidance strategy, labeled a 'justification strategy'. The starting point for this strategy is the importance, as suggested by extensive literature (e.g. Baumgartner & Jones 1993; Kingdon 1995), of agenda setting in politics. The fact that governments have implemented an unpopular policy does not automatically imply that voters will punish them at the polls. For this to happen, retrenchment must be politicised and come on the political agenda so voters actually evaluate governments on the basis of their retrenchment record.

Considering the importance of modern welfare states for peoples' well be-

ing, it is unlikely that governments can introduce significant retrenchments without it becoming a political issue. Pursuing a strategy of agenda denial in relation to welfare-state retrenchment is not a real option for governments. Still, what governments should avoid is not necessarily retrenchment becoming a political issue. The role of agenda setting is not just a question of issues coming on the agenda or not, but also a question of how the issues are defined or framed. As Schattschneider (1960: 68) argued long ago, 'the definition of alternatives is the supreme instrument of power', and later Riker (1986: 1-17) gave some very good examples of the importance of that power to define the issue.

Such considerations are relevant in relation to welfare-state retrenchment as well (Ross 2000b). To see why, a closer look at the research into voters' attitudes towards the welfare state is required. As noted above, this research has found broad support for the welfare state across countries. Yet, as indicated by a number of studies (Taylor-Gooby 1982, 2001; van Oorschot 2000; Andersen 1999a; Overbye 1999, cf. also Papadakis 1992), voters' attitudes towards the welfare state are complex, and basic support should not be confused with uncritical support. For instance, voters are often critical of the economic viability of extensive welfare states. They regard many social-security schemes as very complicated and open for cheating, and show limited support for further increases in taxation. To make sense of this, Andersen (1999a), inspired by Svallfors (1991) and Rothstein (1998), distinguishes between solidarity in the sense of the support for the welfare state per se, and trust in the way the idea of a welfare state is actually implemented. Andersen (1999a) further divides trust into three different elements: 1) that the procedures for distributing costs and benefits are fair, resulting in, for instance, low levels of fraud, 2) that the welfare state is efficient and achieves its goals, for instance, equality, and 3) that it is economically feasible.

The voters' basic support for the idea of solidarity is what makes welfarestate retrenchment a question of blame avoidance. The default reaction of the electorate to retrenchment is negative. However, voters might abstain from punishing the government if they can be persuaded that the retrenchment measures take away benefits from some undeserving group or improve the economic viability of the welfare state. To borrow an expression from Levy (1999), governments must pursue a 'vice-into-virtue strategy', arguing that retrenchment is pursued to cure some of the problems of implementing the idea of solidarity. Governments must be able to persuade voters that the welfare state is retrenched to save it or to remedy its policy failures. Altogether, any support for or lack of punishment for welfare-state retrenchment is contingent upon governments' ability to argue convincingly that welfare-state retrenchment improves the implementation of the principle of solidarity. If retrenchment is politicised as a matter of being for or against the welfare state *per se*, the electoral dangers will be insurmountable.

Unfortunately, pursuing this kind of justification strategy of blame avoidance is not an easy task for governments. For example, the positive effects of retrenchment on the economy are generally medium- or long-term and indirect. Understanding why retrenchment may have positive economic effects and thus may save the welfare state often requires voters to construct long and complicated causal chains. On the other hand, it is easy to understand that retrenchment has negative effects on those affected by it. In addition, even if voters might accept the necessity of retrenchments, they will still react negatively if they find that the burdens are unfairly distributed. Therefore, one should not expect governments to implement sweeping retrenchment. Yet, they have an incentive to implement some retrenchments in combination with the application of blame-avoidance strategies.

The overall situation of vote-seeking parties in relation to retrenchment can be summarised in the following way. They are caught in an unpleasant dilemma between the popular entrenchment of the welfare state and economic constraints, which may also result in electoral punishment. The best way to avoid blame from the electorate is implementing some but not sweeping retrenchment combined with a justification strategy of blame avoidance. For example, such a strategy consists of emphasizing the financial need for retrenchment. The question then becomes: which factors affect vote-seeking political parties'/governments' possibilities of pursuing a justification strategy? This question can be addressed at two levels; namely at the country level and at the level of different social-security schemes.

Systems of party competition and their effects on the possibilities of pursuing a justification strategy

Starting with the country level, the following argues that the decisive factor is party competition among political parties with the goals outlined above. To explain this, the situation of different kinds of political parties in relation to welfare-state retrenchment needs some elaboration.

Political parties find themselves in different strategic situations in relation to retrenchment. The reason should be found in what Ross (2000a) aptly coins 'issue association'. Based on the salience theory (cf. Budge & Farlie 1983), the idea is that voters have certain fixed views of what to expect from political parties. These expectations form the basis of their evaluation of political parties. A political party can 'own' a certain issue. Left-wing parties generally own the welfare state issue in the sense that the electorate expects left-wing parties to fight hard for social security and social justice. On the other hand, the electorate is more sceptical of the abilities of left-wing parties to take good care of the economy. Voters' expectations of right-wing parties, liberal or conservative ones, are basically the expectations of the left in the reverse. Voters view the commitment of the right wing to the welfare state with scepticism, but they have confidence in its ability to manage the economy (Ross 2000a).

In addition, a third group of parties must be discussed as they play a crucial role in a number of countries; namely Christian Democratic Parties. Voters view Christian Democratic parties as holding a centre position between left and right-wing parties.³ On the one hand, unlike parties of the right, Christian Democratic parties have a reputation as creators of the welfare state, giving them partial ownership of the welfare-state issue. However, it is limited ownership compared to that of left-wing parties. On the other hand, the electorate does not view the Christian Democratic Parties' ability to manage the economy with the same scepticism as that of the social democrats. Furthermore, it is important to note that Christian Democratic Parties are more than simply a compromise between social democracy and conservatism/liberalism. As argued by van Kersbergen (1994; 1995), Christian democracy is a distinct political phenomenon. What makes it distinct, besides its attempt to strike a balance between social democracy and conservatism/liberalism on the socio-economic dimension, is its adherence to compromise, integration and societal accommodation as goals per se. This has made pragmatism and flexibility two central characteristics of Christian democracy.

In relation to social and economic policies, the existence of these different 'party images' has consequences for different political parties' capabilities of pursuing a justification strategy of blame avoidance. Parties of the right find themselves in the most difficult situation. Voters are likely to be sceptical towards a claim from these parties that retrenchments are made out of, for instance, economic necessity. The voters' suspicion will be that these parties have hidden ideological motives. Furthermore, voters trust their ability to manage the economy. Consequently, right-wing parties have fewer incentives to demonstrate such ability through 'tough policies.' Parties of the left are in the opposite situation. Voters are much more likely to trust left-wing parties arguing that retrenchments are introduced merely to remedy policy failures. Therefore, left-wing parties can exploit a 'Nixon goes to China logic' in relation to welfare-state retrenchment (cf. Ross 2000a; Kitschelt 2001). They also often have a need to prove their ability to manage the economy. As Downs argued (1957: 96-113), vote-seeking parties must appear consistent in the eyes of the electorate. This perspective limits how much left-wing parties can exploit a 'Nixon goes to China logic'. Christian Democratic Parties are in an intermediate position. Their possibilities of exploiting a 'Nixon goes to China logic' are not as good as that of the left-wing parties. On the other hand, due to their partial ownership of the welfarestate issue, they hold a better position than the right-wing parties. Furthermore, their adherence to compromise, integration, and societal accommodation is likely to represent an asset when trying to persuade the electorate to accept retrenchment.

However, governments do not engage with voters in isolation from other political parties. This is why systems of party competition must be taken into account. For instance, what makes it difficult for right-wing parties to justify retrenchment measures is not just their image among the electorate, but also the existence of left wing and/or Christian Democratic Parties likely to attack parties of the right for being on an ideological crusade against the welfare state. In addition, looking at the system of party competition also brings into the theoretical framework how the trade-off between voteand office seeking affects political parties' strategies towards welfare-state retrenchment. The reason is that the system of party competition is a crucial variable in determining to what extent political parties face a trade-off between vote- and office seeking.

In the following, the impact of two different configurations of party competition will be discussed; namely bloc systems and pivot systems.⁴ Bloc systems are dominated by a bloc of left wing and a bloc of right-wing parties.⁵ Christian Democratic Parties are either non-existent or play a minor role. In such systems, vote- and office-seeking strategies will coincide. The best way to achieve government power is to seek votes. In such systems, what happens in terms of retrenchment is dependent on which of the two blocs holds government power. If the right-wing bloc holds power, a small scale of retrenchment can be expected to take place. The reason is that such a government finds it extremely difficult to pursue a justification strategy of blame avoidance. Basically, the electorate will be sceptical of its motives and the vote-seeking left-wing opposition can be expected to do everything possible to create an image of a right-wing government on an ideological crusade against the welfare state. In other words, the right-wing parties will find it difficult to avoid retrenchment being turned into a question of being for or against the welfare state, a battle they have few chances of winning.

If the left holds office, they have a good chance of exploiting the 'Nixon goes to China logic'. The only political alternative is the right-wing bloc. Yet, credibly attacking the left-wing bloc for being against the welfare state *per se* is not possible for right-wing parties. Actually, due to the fear of appearing inconsistent, the right wing will find it difficult to oppose retrenchment measures altogether. Therefore, a left-wing government has a good chance of achieving political consensus, including parliamentary support for the legislation from the opposition. Parliamentary support does not only secure government control of the way the issue is defined, it also gives the opposition a share in the possible blame.

Party competition in pivot systems works in somewhat different ways. As laid out by Keman (1994 & 1997), pivot systems are party systems in which a pivotal centre party dominates both government formation and legislation. It can choose to govern with either the major party to the left of it or with the major party to the right of it, and forming a government without it is politically impossible.⁶ Because the pivot party will automatically be in power, it can focus on vote seeking. The major left or right-wing party not included in the government will face a difficult choice between vote- and office seeking. In terms of votes, the best strategy will often be to distance itself from the policy of the government. However, this also implies distancing itself from the Christian Democratic Centre Party and thus from government participation. Having this as the ultimate goal, the party will find it difficult to constitute a strong opposition for a very long time. Consequently, in a pivot system, whether or not welfare-state retrenchment will be introduced depends on the interest of the Christian Democratic Party. As the party will be vote seeking, its situation in relation to welfare-state retrenchment is the same as for any vote-seeking party outlined above. The best way out of the dilemma between economic constraints and popular entrenchment will be to implement some retrenchment measures in combination with a justification strategy of blame avoidance. The Christian Democratic Parties' reputation for societal accommodation and pragmatism is an additional asset in terms of succeeding with such a strategy. More importantly, it is almost certain that not even the left-wing party will constitute a stiff opposition for a long time, as this will imply political isolation. Thus, the same type of party consensus that may surface in bloc systems if the left-wing bloc holds office is likely to emerge in pivot systems as well, once the Christian Democratic Centre Party opts for retrenchment. This will most likely happen if the Christian Democratic Party governs with the left-wing party, since otherwise some left-wing opposition can be expected, especially in the short-run.

Summing up, the argument is that variation in the scale of welfare retrenchment implemented in different countries can be explained by different systems of party competition. Concerning bloc systems, the hypothesis that can be derived is that retrenchment will take place when the left-wing bloc governs, as it can exploit a 'Nixon goes to China logic'. If the rightwing bloc holds power, little if any retrenchment is expected since it will be found electorally too dangerous. Pivot systems of party competition are expected to be conducive to welfare-state retrenchment because of the power of the Christian Democratic Party. Once this party opts for retrenchment, a party consensus around retrenchment can be expected to emerge. Thus, ceteris paribus, the hypothesis is that more retrenchment will be implemented in countries with pivot systems of party competition than in countries with bloc systems of party competition. Only if bloc systems are governed solely by the left, the same scale of retrenchment seen in pivot systems can be expected. Furthermore, in pivot systems, it is expected that more retrenchment will take place if the Christian Democratic Party governs with the leftwing party than if it governs with the right-wing party.

Connection to the labour market: which social-security schemes will be retrenched the most?

The next step is to investigate governments' possibilities of pursuing a justification strategy in relation to individual social-security schemes. Governments do not retrench welfare states; they retrench old-age pension schemes, social-assistance schemes, etc. Thus, a justification strategy of blame avoidance must also relate to specific social-security schemes and this level of analysis must be included as well. Yet, including it does not imply that governments' decisions whether or not to introduce retrenchment can be understood solely by focussing on factors at this level. General political considerations such as the reactions of competing political parties will be crucial when governments consider whether or not to retrench at all, and at which scale. However, which social-security schemes should be targeted depends on factors at the level of social-security schemes.

The following argument is that the connection to the labour market is decisive for the vulnerability of social-security schemes to retrenchment. This factor was introduced as a Marxist perspective in chapter 2, arguing that schemes covering risks generated by the labour market were most vulnerable to retrenchment because of a government or a capitalist interest in recommodifying labour. From a non-Marxist perspective, social-security schemes covering social risks generated by the labour market are likely to be more vulnerable to retrenchment for two related reasons. First, governments have stronger incentives to retrench schemes closely linked to the labour market. The reason is that they tend to have negative effects on the labour market. As already mentioned, economists (e.g. Layard, Nickell & Jackmann 1994; OECD 1994: 171-213) have argued that the generosity of unemployment benefits affects the willingness of the unemployed to search for a job. Another example is that generous early retirement schemes reduce the supply of labour. Second, a close connection with the labour market also provides governments with ways of justifying retrenchment. Schemes closely linked to the labour market can be considered 'evils' in the sense that most people will agree that, irrespective of the expenditure, having a large number of sick or unemployed is a problem, and that keeping down the number of claimants can be considered a goal per se. Ideally, claimants of schemes closely connected to the labour market should be working. Thus, a large number of unemployed or disabled can be argued to be a policy failure of the welfare state. Related to this, the popular images of claimants of schemes with limited connection to labour tend to be more positive. Old-age pensioners or families with children are often seen as deserving their benefits, for instance, after a long working life. The same sense of deservingness is not present in relation to schemes closely connected to labour, such as unemployment benefits. Benefits are given to the unemployed because they cannot find a job, not because they deserve it.

Summing up, governments have different ways of pursuing a justification strategy in relation to different social-security schemes. They also have different degrees of incentive for retrenchment. In relation to schemes with limited connection to the labour market, the only relevant question is 'how much can we afford to give to this deserving group'. Governments can only legitimise retrenchment measures by referring to the cost of the schemes. Even such arguments about cost are weak since it can be argued that less deserving groups should be affected. In relation to schemes closely linked to the labour market, governments have far better capabilities of justifying retrenchment. Apart from cost considerations, governments can, for example, refer to the problem of too many claimants and argue that the schemes have gone 'way out of hand'. In relation to schemes closely connected to the labour market, governments also have stronger incentives to introduce retrenchment measures.

It is now possible to derive some hypotheses about the scale of vulnerability of different social-security schemes. Schemes such as old-age pension schemes and child-allowance schemes have limited connection to the labour market. Such schemes are expected to suffer the least retrenchment. The opposite group consists of schemes with claimants with a close connection to the labour market. The most obvious example in this group is unemployment benefits, which are expected to be highly vulnerable to retrenchment.

The theoretical argument in brief

The aim of this chapter is to put forward a theoretical framework mapping the factors affecting government decisions concerning retrenchment. The starting point for the framework is political parties assumed to be vote- and office seekers with the latter as their ultimate goal. Their incentive for welfare-state retrenchment is generated by a changed economic environment and an electoral need to govern the economy successfully. Yet, the popularity of welfare states makes retrenchment an exercise in blame avoidance. Political parties are caught in an unpleasant dilemma between popular entrenchment and economic constraints. The best way out is argued to be the implementation of some retrenchment measures in combination with a justification strategy of blame avoidance. This raises the question of determining the factors affecting governments' possibilities of pursuing such a strategy. Concerning variation among countries, the argument, based on the notion that political parties own certain issues, is that different systems of party competition are the decisive factor. The system of party competition shapes political parties' trade-off between votes and office. With respect to variation across social-security schemes, this is expected to depend on the schemes' connection to the labour market. Different degrees of labour market connection affect governments' possibilities of justifying retrenchment as well as their incentives to retrench.

A number of hypotheses can be derived from this framework. One hypothesis is that given the electoral dangers for vote-seeking governments, sweeping retrenchment is not a real option. In bloc systems, welfare-state retrenchment is expected to take place only if the left-wing party is in government. Only then will the kind of consensus necessary for the application of justification strategy of blame avoidance emerge. More retrenchment is expected to take place in pivot systems. In such systems, parties of the left and right can only obtain government power by cooperating with the Christian Democratic Centre Party. This is expected to produce a political consensus conducive to welfare-state retrenchment because the left-wing party will be forced to accept retrenchment measures in order to gain power. The most retrenchment-favorable political climate is expected to be when the

centre party governs with the left-wing party. As regards variation across social-security schemes, schemes such as unemployment benefits with close connection to the labour market are expected to experience the most retrenchment. Schemes such as old-age pensions with a more limited connection to the labour market are expected to experience the least retrenchment.

4 Research strategy and research design

The aim of this chapter is to present the research strategy and research design of the study. As will be further explained below, the overall research strategy of this study is comparable case studies. The chapter therefore starts with a discussion of the choice of cases. This includes both the choice of countries, social-security programmes, and time period. The chapter then goes on to discuss the definition and measurement of the dependent variable, namely retrenchment. The overall aim of the empirical parts of the study is to determine whether or not there is empirical support for the theoretical framework developed in chapter 3. Following King, Keohane & Verba (1994), the best way to investigate the explanatory power of a framework is to derive as many empirically observable implications or empirical hypotheses from it as possible and to see whether these match the actual empirical developments. Therefore, this chapter ends by developing 6 hypotheses about variation in retrenchment across the selected cases.

Denmark and the Netherlands - a most similar systems design

Starting with the country level, the study is based on a most similar systems design (Lijphart 1971; Frendreis 1983). This implies that the two ideal cases for this study would be two countries representing the two different modes of party competition discussed in chapter 3, while at the same time being similar in all other relevant respects. The relevant respects with regard to this study are the institutional and economic factors discussed in chapter 2. Two such ideal countries do not exist. However, as will be argued below, Denmark and the Netherlands are fairly close and have been investigated.

As will be further argued in chapters 6 and 7, the two countries exemplify the two different modes of party competition. Denmark represents the bloc type of party competition. It is either governed by social democratic governments, often including one or several small centre parties,¹ or right-wing governments, mostly involving both the two major right-wing parties, the Conservatives and the Liberals (Damgaard 1992). The Netherlands represents the pivotal type of party competition. The pivotal party is the Christian Democratic Party or CDA.² Until 1994, the party could usually choose to govern with either the Social Democrats (PvdA) or the Liberals (VVD) (Andeweg & Irwin 1993; Keman 1996).³

As displayed in Table 1 below, Denmark was governed by 5 different governments of right-wing parties from 1982 to 1993, but by social democratic-led governments from 1993 onwards. In the Netherlands (cf. table 2), the CDA governed with both the VVD, from 1982 to 1989, and with the PvdA, from 1989 to 1994.⁴ Thus, the composition of the government has varied in both countries, providing additional cases for investigation of the empirical support for the theoretical framework presented in chapter 3.

As regards to economic factors, Tables 3 to 8 provide a number of macroeconomic indicators for the two countries for the period investigated, 1982-1998 as well as for the preceding years, 1973-1981.⁵ For both countries, the period 1973 to 1981 was the end of the booming economy of the 1960's. Both countries experienced years of negative growth. Unemployment, which was more or less non-existent in 1973, rose steadily causing rapid growth in social-security expenditure. Inflation reached double figures and budget surpluses disappeared. It seems that Denmark was hit the hardest. On average, unemployment and inflation were higher in Denmark than in the Netherlands and growth was lower. In addition, Denmark's chronic, current account deficit was further aggravated while the Netherlands, partly due to its natural gas resources, had current account surpluses during most of the years. Public deficits were, however, generally higher in the Netherlands.

If we turn to the period studied, 1982-1998, the two countries have fared somewhat similarly with regard to most of the macro-economic indicators presented in Tables 3 to 8. Average growth and unemployment, when using the standardised unemployment figures, were very similar. Furthermore, both countries have continued to spend a large portion of their GDP on social security. Inflation has been slightly higher in Denmark than in the Netherlands, but broad unemployment has been slightly higher in the Netherlands⁶ and the same goes for public deficits. The major macro-economic difference between the two countries was Denmark's current account deficit in the 1980's. The deficit was problematic because Denmark had had a significant current account deficit since the beginning of the 1960's (Hansen *et al.* 1994: 291). In 1982, Denmark had an external debt equal to 32% of GDP (*op. cit.*; OECD, *National Accounts*). Altogether, in terms of macro-economic troubles, the two countries can generally be considered most similar cases. If the theoretical argument about the degree of macro-economic difficulties were to predict any differences between the two cases in terms of retrenchment, it would be that Denmark should have experienced the most retrenchment because of its chronic current account problem.

The macro-economic trajectories of the two countries from 1982 to 1998 have been quite similar as well. Both countries found themselves in dire economic straits during the first half of the 1980's. When excluding the current account, the Danish economy recovered quite well in the mid-1980's but then experienced another recession until 1994. In the Netherlands, the economy improved at a steadier rate during the last part of the 1980's, but then worsened again around 1992 and 1993. From 1994 and onwards, the two countries have been macro-economic success stories. Growth has been high, inflation low, public deficits have disappeared and unemployment has declined steadily. It has become common to speak of both a Dutch (Visser & Hemerijck 1997) and a Danish miracle (Schwartz 2001a; Green-Pedersen 2001a). The fact that both countries went through macro-economic ups and downs during this period opens up the possibility of investigating the theoretical argument about the effects of macro-economic difficulties over time in both countries (cf. chapter 8).

The second group of economic arguments about retrenchment contains arguments about the interplay between welfare states and different country's political economies, and their labour markets in particular. Scholars working along these lines (Iversen & Wren 1998; Huber & Stephens 2001b) have clustered countries into groups fairly similar to Esping-Andersen's (1990) three welfare-state regimes. In the clustering of both Huber & Stephens (op. cit.) and Iversen & Wren (op. cit.), Denmark is seen as an example of a social democratic political economy, and the Netherlands as an example of a Christian democratic political economy. Simply put, the difference between the two types of political economies is that the social democratic ones have aimed to maximize labour force participation for women, and parallel to that have expanded publicly provided welfare-state services. In contrast, Christian democratic political economies are to a large extent based on a small and very productive male labour force. That these descriptions also fit Denmark and the Netherlands is best observed by examining women's labour force participation. In 1983, the female labour force as a percentage of females aged 15-64 was 39% in the Netherlands and 73% in Denmark. In 1997, the figures were 62% in the Netherlands and 75% in Denmark (Scharpf & Schmidt 2000b: table A.12).

As argued in chapter 2, what to expect in terms of retrenchment from the

arguments about differences in political economies is not apparent. However, there seems to be some agreement that the Christian democratic political economies were facing the most severe economic problems due to their very low levels of overall employment. To the extent that the solution to this problem is retrenchment of social security, one should expect the most retrenchment in Christian democratic political economies, and hence more retrenchment in the Netherlands than in Denmark. In this regard, the two countries are not most similar cases.

The other major group of theoretical arguments about retrenchment identified in chapter 2 was institutional arguments, found in both a macro and a micro version. As to the theoretical arguments about macro-institutions, these were found in two subversions. Some focussed solely on formal institutions while others focussed on a broader range of macro-institutions. With regard to the formal political structures, these are quite similar in the two countries. Both countries are parliamentary systems with proportional electoral systems and are unitary states. The only notable difference is Dutch bicameralism. However, the Dutch First Chamber only plays a marginal role. The Second Chamber is 'the real political arena' (Andeweg & Irwin 1993: 139) and Dutch bicameralism can be ignored.⁷

Some of the arguments about macro-institutions took a broader focus by referring to Lijphart's (1999) idea of consensual vs. majoritarian democracies. On both dimensions used by Lijphart (1999: 312-314), the two countries have quite similar scores and can also be considered most similar cases in this regard (cf. also Lijphart 1999: chap. 14). Before concluding that the two countries are also most similar cases with regard to macro-institutions in general, one difference between them is important to note. As demonstrated in Tables 1 and 2, the Netherlands has had majority governments during the entire period studied here, mostly minimal winning coalitions, whereas Denmark has had almost solely minority governments. In this regard, the two cases are not most similar.

Turning to micro-institutions, the theoretical argument explained in chapter 2 was that the programmatic structure of social-security schemes would affect the extent of retrenchment. In addition, social-security schemes in the same countries tend to share certain characteristics. Consequently, it makes sense to discuss the institutional characteristics of entire welfare states.

One attempt at measuring the institutional characteristics of different welfare states is Esping-Andersen's (1990) idea of three different welfarestate regimes. Different welfare states are placed in the different regimes on the basis of indices measuring two dimensions; namely the degree of decommodification and the way in which social policy stratifies. In terms of de-commodification, the Danish welfare state is ranked as the third most decommodifying among the 18 countries covered, while the Netherlands is ranked fourth (*op. cit.*: 52). The way social policy stratifies is measured by several indicators on the basis of which welfare states are clustered into three groups corresponding to the three worlds of welfare capitalism (*op. cit.*: 69-78). Both Denmark and the Netherlands are argued to belong to the socialism (social democratic) cluster (*op. cit.*: 76).⁸ Altogether, Esping-Andersen's analysis indicates that the institutional characteristics of the Danish and Dutch welfare states are not radically different (cf. also Goodin & Smitsman 2000). Korpi & Palme (1998) also classify both welfare states as basic security models. Finally, both countries have very comprehensive welfare states in the sense that they spend a large portion of their GDP on social security. As displayed in Tables 4 and 7, in 1982, Denmark spent 29.5% of its GDP on social expenditure while the Netherlands spent 30%.⁹

However, upon closer inspection, there are differences in the programmatic structures of social-security schemes in the two countries that must be taken into account. Two differences are worth emphasizing: namely a difference in the way benefits are financed and in the role of social partners in social-security organisation. In Denmark, social security is almost exclusively financed from general taxation (cf. chap. 5). In the Netherlands, the picture is more diversified.¹⁰ Dutch social-security schemes can be divided into three types, which are financed in different ways; namely people's/national insurance (volksverzekeringen), workers' insurance (werknemersverzekeringen), and social provisions (sociale voorzieningen). Both the people's insurance and the workers' insurance are financed mainly (cf. chapter 5) through social contributions. The contributions are paid into specific funds covering the expenditure on the schemes and are generally regulated to meet the expenditure. However, in the people's insurance, everyone is automatically insured and pays a percentage of their income in general, not just income from work, above a certain level and with a maximum amount. Thus, in reality, the people's insurance is financed through an earmarked income tax. In the workers' insurance, only people working are insured and the contributions from employers and employees are calculated as a percentage of income from work. Social provisions are financed from general taxation. Altogether, social security in the Netherlands is financed from a mixture of sources. Yet, it is important to note that contributions from employers are not as extensive in the Netherlands as in many other Continental European countries (cf. OECD 1999: table A.4).

In the Netherlands, the social partners were closely involved in the admin-

istration of the workers' insurance. These schemes were administered by organisations at industry level controlled by representatives from Employers Associations and Trade Unions. In Denmark, unemployment benefits (*arbejdsløshedsdagpenge*) and early retirement benefits (*efterløn*) are administered by unemployment funds with a close relationship with the trade unions. Hence, social partners play a role in the administration of these schemes. However, since all the other social-security schemes apart from workers' accident insurance are administered by central or local government, social partners play a more limited role in Denmark than in the Netherlands.

Altogether, despite the general similarities in the programmatic structures of social-security schemes in the two countries, there are differences with regard to the funding and involvement of social partners. These differences are important because a number of the theoretical arguments about programmatic structures focus on exactly these two aspects. The argument was that close involvement of the social partners would imply less retrenchment. On this basis, one should expect the most retrenchment measures in Denmark. Based on the arguments about the effects of the financing of social security schemes, one should also expect more retrenchment in the Netherlands than in Denmark due to the importance of social contributions in the Netherlands.

Other than the similarities relating to economics and institutions, Denmark and the Netherlands are similar with regard to public support for the welfare state. Survey research in each of the two countries points to the popularity of the welfare state (on Denmark: Nannestad & Paldam 1993; Andersen 1999a; on the Netherlands: Bijlsma & Koopmans 1991; van Oorschot 1997). In addition, Ferrera (1993) has conducted a study on attitudes towards social security asking the same questions in the EU countries. In this study, the Danes and Dutch gave almost identical answers to general questions about support for social security (*op. cit.*: 5).

Summing up on the comparison, it should be emphasized that arguing that these two countries can be used for a 'most similar systems' design does not imply that they are similar in all respects. What they share are a number of basic similarities. The most important ones relate to the macro-economic difficulties they faced from 1982 to 1998, their formal political institutions, and the institutional characteristics of their welfare states. At the same time, they represent different types of party competition; a bloc system vs. a pivot system. Upon closer examination, there will always be differences between two countries. Governments in the Netherlands in the period studied were all majority governments, whereas all Danish governments except one were minority governments. A great part of social security in the Netherlands is financed through social contributions while almost all security schemes in Denmark are financed through general taxation. Furthermore, social partners played a greater role in the implementation of Dutch social security. Also, the political-economic models in the two countries are different, substantiated by the different labour-force participation rates for women. As theoretical arguments have been put forward explaining why such differences could lead to different degrees of retrenchment, there must be a further discussion of the effects of these differences. This discussion is provided in chapter 8.

The choice of social-security schemes

This study analyses old-age pensions, unemployment benefits, and disability pensions/early retirement benefits. There are two considerations behind the choice of these schemes. First, in order to carry out a general analysis of the 'politics' surrounding welfare-state retrenchment in the two countries, a focus on the most important social-security schemes is required. Second, the schemes providing the best possibilities of investigating the explanatory power of the theoretical framework put forward in chapter 3 and alternative theoretical propositions should be chosen.

The old-age pension schemes in the two countries, 'folkepension' in Denmark and 'AOW' (algemene ouderdomswet) in the Netherlands, are the most costly social-security schemes. Therefore, they are obvious candidates for this study. In Denmark, the unemployment-benefit scheme (arbejdsløshedsdagpenge) is the other scheme imposing great costs on the welfare state, whereas the disability-pension schemes, wAO (Wet op de arbeidsongeschiktheids-verzekering) and AAW (Algemene arbeidongeschiktheidswet), are central in the Netherlands. Thus, focussing on old-age pensions, unemployment benefits and disability pensions offers good possibilities for investigating politics in general in the two countries.

In addition, focussing on these three schemes provides opportunities for investigating the explanatory power of the theoretical framework put forward in chapter 3, since it predicts variation in the extent of retrenchment across the three schemes. Also, as will be shown in chapter 8, choosing these schemes also provides fairly good possibilities for empirical analyses of alternative theoretical propositions about variation across social-security schemes. Alternative theoretical propositions generally predict a different pattern of variation across the three types of schemes from the one predicted by the theoretical framework of this study.

Before turning to the choice of time period, some delimitation problems must be addressed. 'Folkepension' in Denmark and the 'AOW' in the Netherlands are the only public pension schemes in the two countries.¹¹ Thus, investigating these two schemes does not create any specific delimitation problems.¹² In relation to unemployment benefits, the most important delimitation is that social-assistance schemes covering unemployment are not included as this would imply investigating social assistance in general, that is adding a fourth type of social-security scheme to the study. In Denmark, 'arbejdsløshedsdagpenge' is studied. In the Netherlands, the two closely connected unemployment-benefit schemes that existed in 1982, ww (werkloosheidswet) and wwv (wet werkloosheidsvoorziening) are studied. Finally, concerning disability pensions, the two closely connected Dutch disability schemes, wAO and AAW, have been analysed together with 'fortidspension' in Denmark. However, as will be explained in chapter 5, the administration of the Dutch disability-pension schemes was so lenient that they de facto came to function as early-retirement schemes. Thus, simply comparing the Dutch disability-pension schemes with the Danish disability-pension scheme would not be appropriate. Therefore, both the Danish disability-pension scheme (førtidspension) and the Danish early-retirement scheme (efterløn) have been analysed and compared to the Dutch disability-pension schemes.

The choice of time period

The time period studied is 1982-1998. The reason for starting the investigation at the beginning of the 1980's is that around this time when the effects of the second oil crisis were visible, it was becoming clear to governments in the Western World that the macro-economic difficulties they were facing were not simply signs of a temporary crisis. The macro-economic difficulties indicated that the economic order of the 1950's and 1960's was definitely history. From an international perspective, the 'embedded liberalism' order was disappearing (Ruggie 1982; Keohane 1984). From a national perspective, the varieties of Keynesian compromises were becoming increasingly vulnerable. This was clearly illustrated by the fate of the Keynesian policy pursued by the new socialist government in France at the beginning of the 1980's (Scharpf 1984). Expansion of the welfare state had been an integrated part of both Keynesianism and 'embedded liberalism'. The emerging, new economic environment necessitated an adaptation of the different models of welfare capitalism bringing welfare-state retrenchment onto the

Table 1	Governments in Denmark,	1982-2002	
	Prime Minister	Party composition	Minority/Majority
1982-1984	Poul Schlüter (Conservative)	Conservatives, Liberals, cd, and Christian People's Party	Minority
1984-1987	Poul Schlüter (Conservative)	Conservatives, Liberals, cd, and Christian People's Party	Minority
1987-1988	Poul Schlüter (Conservative)	Conservatives, Liberals, c d, and Christian People's Party	Minority
1988-1990	Poul Schlüter (Conservative)	Conservatives, Liberals, and Social Liberals	Minority
1990-1993	Poul Schlüter (Conservative)	Conservatives and Liberals	Minority
1993-1994	Poul Nyrup Rasmussen (Social Democrat)	Social Democrats, Social Liberals, cd, and Christian People's Party	Majority
1994-1998	Poul Nyrup Rasmussen (Social Democrat)	Social Democrats, Social Liberals, and c d (stepped out in 1996)	Minority
1998-2001	Poul Nyrup Rasmussen (Social Democrat)	Social Democrats and Social Liberals	Minority

Table 2 (Table 2 Governments in the Netherlands, 1982-2002				
	Prime Minister	Party composition	Minority/Majority		
1982-1986	Ruud Lubbers (CDA)	CDA and VVD	Majority		
1986-1989	Ruud Lubbers (CDA)	CDA and VVD	Majority		
1989-1994	Ruud Lubbers (CDA)	CDA and PVdA	Majority		
1994-1998	Wim Kok (PvdA)	pvda, vvd, and D66	Majority		
1998-2002	Wim Kok (pvda)	pvda, vvd, and D66	Majority		

	Growth of real GDP (percent)*	Current account balance (percentage of GDP)*	Inflation (Change in consumer prices)*	General government financial balances (as percen- tage of GDP) [*]	(percent)*	Social expenditure (as percentage of GDP)#
1973	3.6	-1.7	9.3	5.2	1	
1974	-0.9	-3	15.3	3.1	2.3	
1975	-0.7	-1.5	9.6	-1.4	5.3	
1976	6.5	-4.8	9	-0.3	5.3	
1977	1.6	-3.7	11.1	-0.6	6.4	
1978	1.5	-2.5	10	-0.4	7.3	
1979	3.5	-4.5	9.6	-1.7	6.2	
1980	-0.4	-3.7	12.3	-3.3	7	29.1
1981	-0.9	-3.2	11.7	-6.9	9.2	29.4
Average	1.5	-3.2	10.9	-0.7	5.6	

Table 3 Macro-economic indicators for Denmark, 1973-1981

* Source: OECD, Economic Outlook (various years)

Source: OECD, National Accounts (various years), and OECD, Social Expenditure Data Base, 1980-1998

140104			,,,,,,,,,,,,		
	Growth of real GDP (percent)*	Current account balance (as percentage of GDP)*	Inflation (Change in consumer prices)*	General government financial balances (as percentage of GDP)*	Social expenditure (as percentage of GDP) [#]
1982	3	-3.9	10.1	-9.1	29.5
1983	2.5	-2.4	6.9	-7.2	29.9
1984	4.4	-3.1	6.3	-4.1	28.7
1985	4.3	-4.6	4.7	-2	27.9
1986	3.6	-5.3	3.7	3.4	27
1987	0.3	-2.9	4	2.4	27.8
1988	1.2	-1.4	4.5	0.5	29.2
1989	0.2	-1.3	4.8	-0.8	29.5
1990	1	0.9	2.6	-1.6	29.3
1991	1.1	1.4	2.4	-2.4	30.2
1992	0.6	2.6	2.1	-2.2	30.7
1993	0	3.3	1.3	-2.9	32.3
1994	5.5	1.8	2	-2.4	33.1
1995	2.8	1	2.1	-2.3	32.4
1996	2.5	1.8	2.1	-1	31.7
1997	3.1	0.6	2.2	0.1	30.7
1998	2.3	-1.2	1.8	0.9	29.8
Average	2.5	-0.7	3.7	-1.8	30

Table 4 Macro-economic indicators for Denmark, 1982-1998

* Source: OECD, *Economic Outlook*, (various years)

Source: OECD, National Accounts (various years), and OECD, Social Expenditure Data Base, 1980-1998

THE CHOICE OF TIME PERIOD

Table 5	Unemployment indicators for Denmark, 1982-1998					
	Unemploy- ment (percent)*	Standardised unemploy- ment (percent)*	Broad Unemployment (percentage of broad labour force receiving social-security benefits ¹ , 18-66 years old) [#]			
1982	9.7	8.4				
1983	10.3	9				
1984	9.9	8.5	20			
1985	8.9	7.1	19.1			
1986	7.7	5.4	18.2			
1987	7.7	5.4	18.7			
1988	8.4	6	19.6			
1989	9.2	7.3	20.6			
1990	9.4	7.7	20.7			
1991	10.3	8.4	21.9			
1992	11	9.2	22.7			
1993	12.1	10.1	24			
1994	12	8.2	26			
1995	10.2	7.2	25.6			
1996	8.7	6.8	25			
1997	7.7	5.6	24.1			
1998	6.4	5.2	23.3			
Average	9.4	7.4	22			

Table 5 Unemployment indicators for Denmark, 1982-1998

* Source: OECD, Economic Outlook, (various years)

Source: Danmarks Statistik, Statistisk tiårsoversigt (1999; 2000)

1 See note 6 for additional information

	Growth of real GDP (percent)*	Current account balance (percentage of GDP)*	Inflation (Change in consumer prices)*	General government financial balances (as percentag of GDP)*	Unemploy- ment (percent)* e	Social expenditure (as percentage of GDP)#
1973	4.7	3.8	8	0.9	1.4	
1974	4	4.1	9.6	-0.2	1.7	
1975	-0.1	2.7	10.2	-2.8	3.3	
1976	4.8	3.6	8.8	-2.6	3.5	
1977	2.6	1.1	6.4	-1.8	3.4	
1978	2.4	-0.9	4.1	-2.7	3.4	
1979	2.3	0.1	4.2	-3.7	3.5	
1980	0.9	-0.6	6.5	-4	4.1	27.4
1981	-0.7	2.5	6.7	-5.5	6.3	28.4
Average	2.3	1.8	7.2	-2.5	3.4	

Table 6 Macro-economic indicators for the Netherlands, 1973-1981

* Source: OECD, *Economic Outlook*, (various years)

Source: OECD, National Accounts (various years), and OECD, Social Expenditure Data Base, 1980-1998

Table /	macro cco			1902-1 <u>9</u>	550
	Growth of real GDP (percent)*	Current account balance (percentage of GDP)*	Inflation (Change in consumer prices)*	General government financial balances (as percentage of GDP)*	Social expenditure (as percentage of GDP) [#]
1982	-1.2	3.4	5.9	-7.1	30
1983	1.7	3.5	2.7	-6.4	30.3
1984	3.3	4.8	3.3	-6.3	29.1
1985	3.1	3.2	2.3	-4.8	27.6
1986	2.8	2.4	0.1	-6.1	27.2
1987	1.4	1.9	-0.7	-6.5	27.5
1988	2.6	2.9	0.7	-5.1	27.1
1989	4.7	4.2	1.1	-5.3	26.5
1990	4.1	3.1	2.5	-3.2	28
1991	2.3	2.6	3.2	-4.4	28.1
1992	2	2.2	3.2	-3.6	28.6
1993	0.8	4.2	2.6	-4.2	28.8
1994	3.2	5.1	2.8	-4.2	27.1
1995	2.3	5.8	1.9	-1.8	25.9
1996	3	5.4	2	-1.2	25.3
1997	3.8	7.5	2.2	-0.8	24.9
1998	3.7	5.5	2	0.5	23.8
Average	2.6	4	2.2	-4.1	27.4

 Table 7
 Macro-economic indicators for the Netherlands, 1982-1998

* Source: OECD, *Economic Outlook* (various years)

Source: OECD, National Accounts (various years), and OECD, Social Expenditure Data Base, 1980-1998

56 RESEARCH STRATEGY AND RESEARCH DESIGN

Table 0	onemployment indicators for the Nethenands, 1902-1990					
	Unemploy- ment (percent)*	Standardised unemploy- ment (percent)*	Broad Unemployment (percentage of broad labour force receiving social-security benefits¹, 15-64 years old)#			
1982	8.5	8.1	24.1			
1983	11	9.7	25.6			
1984	10.6	9.3	26.4			
1985	9.2	8.3	25.3			
1986	8.4	8.3	24.5			
1987	8	8.1	23.8			
1988	7.7	7.6	23.4			
1989	6.9	6.9	23.4			
1990	6	6.2	23.1			
1991	5.4	5.8	23.1			
1992	5.4	5.6	23.2			
1993	6.6	6.6	23.6			
1994	7.6	7.1	24.2			
1995	7.1	6.9	23.7			
1996	6.6	6.3	23.8			
1997	5.5	5.2	22.8			
1998	4.2	4	21.8			
Average	7-3	7.1	23.9			

Table 8 Unemployment indicators for the Netherlands, 1982-1998

* Source: OECD, *Economic Outlook* (various years)

Source: Sociaal en Cultureel Planbureau, Sociaal en Cultureel Rapport (1998)

¹ See note 6 for additional information

agenda of the rich OECD countries (cf. Scharpf 2000c). The OECD (1981) now declared the welfare state in crisis, marking the end of its Golden Age.

As illustrated in Tables 3 to 8, Denmark and the Netherlands also found themselves in dire economic straits at the beginning of the 1980's, forecasting new policy measures. The new times were clearly indicated by the new governments taking office in the autumn of 1982; the first Lubbers government in the Netherlands and the first Schlüter government in Denmark. Therefore, the autumn of 1982 is an obvious starting point for this study, covering the period until 1998.

The next step is then to develop a number of hypotheses about variation in the extent of retrenchment across the selected case. It is, however, necessary to discuss the definition and measurement of the dependent variable, i.e. retrenchment, further and in advance.

Definition and measurement of retrenchment

The definition and measurement of retrenchment are problems haunting much of the work within this field. In the wake of Pierson's seminal work on welfare-state retrenchment, a separate 'dependent variable debate' has thus emerged (Pierson 1994; 1996; 2001(a); Alber 1996; Clayton & Pontusson 1998; Lindbom 2001; van der Veen, Trommel & de Vroom 1999; Kitschelt 2001; Green-Pedersen 2002a).

As a starting point, it is important to keep one thing in mind: the questions about conceptualisation and measurement of the dependent variable are necessarily closely connected to the theoretical approach as well as to the research question (King, Keohane & Verba 1994: 55-63; Peters 1998: 218-219). There is no such thing as retrenchment *per se*. Therefore, the following first outlines the theoretical definition of retrenchment and then goes on to the operational definition.¹³

A theoretical definition of retrenchment

In this study, retrenchment of a certain social-security scheme has been defined as *a change in the scheme making it less attractive to the (potential) claimants.* The 'attractiveness' of social-security schemes includes two dimensions, the quality of the benefits and the criteria that have to be fulfilled to ensure eligibility for benefits. For example, the quality of the benefits implies the amount of money you receive and the duration of the period in which you are entitled to benefits. Retrenchment is any change in social-security schemes affecting one of these two aspects negatively. It is another word for cutting back, scaling down, or curtailing benefits. Hence, examples of changes considered as retrenchment in this study are lowering benefits, tightening eligibility, shortening duration, etc.

The choice of this fairly narrow definition is based on the theoretical perspective of this study as outlined in chapter 3. Theoretically, the focus in this study is on the interplay between political parties and the electorate, or, to use Rokkan's terminology (1966), on the 'electoral channels of politics'. One of the premises of this focus is that the electorate actually pays attention to the changes in social security and, if they have the character of retrenchments, dislikes them, although the government is not necessarily punished. This premise seems fulfilled once the focus is on changes to socialsecurity schemes that affect their 'attractiveness', as defined above. Such changes have an obvious positive or negative effect on the claimants.

If the focus of the study had been broadened by choosing a more encompassing definition of retrenchment, it would be an open question whether this premise was fulfilled. For example, it is not apparent that the electorate would care about changes to the organisational structure of social security if the changes had no impact on 'attractiveness'. In contrast, organised interests such a trade unions would care very much if, for instance, the government would try to take the administration of a certain social security away from them, regardless of the impact on 'attractiveness'. Thus, to explain this type of changes to social security, a different theoretical perspective would probably be needed. Instead of focussing on the interplay between political parties and the electorate, this perspective would probably have to focus on the power of different organised interests and their negotiations with the government.

Therefore, one must distinguish between retrenchments as defined here and what could be labelled 'restructuring reforms'. Examples of such reforms are:

- I Reforms aiming to change the content of social-security schemes such as the introduction of active labour market policies. This change may contain elements of retrenchment that must be included in this study (see below). However, the main aim of these reforms is not to curtail benefits, but rather to add an element of education or activation (cf. Clasen 2000).
- 2 Reforms aiming to change the organisation and financing of social-security schemes, for instance privatisation. If such changes imply retrenchment in line with the above definition, they should be included in this study. However, a change in the organisational structure and financing alone will not be considered retrenchment. The reason is that it is unclear whether such changes of social-security schemes affect their attractiveness.

An operational definition of retrenchment

The next step is to provide an operational definition of retrenchment. An additional reason for choosing the fairly narrow definition of retrenchment outlined above is that it makes the operationalisation more manageable. As Alber (1996: 7-13) points out, the lurking danger is to end up with only very imprecise measurements such as 'substantial', 'less than one might expect', 'extensive', etc. There would be no guarantee that the measurements would be reproducible and this would seriously bring the whole study into question.

Basically, there are two ways of meeting these requirements; namely a macro-level and a micro-level approach (cf. Kitschelt 2001). A macro-level approach implies the use of aggregate social-security expenditure data, perhaps disaggregated to the level of individual social-security schemes. Such an approach is widespread within welfare-state research. Yet, it poses a problem since changes in social-security expenditure are not necessarily due to changes in legislation. For instance, changes in the unemployment rate automatically affect social-security expenditure as more or fewer people claim benefits. In addition, the effects of many changes in social-security schemes only gradually manifest in social-security expenditure. For instance, the full effects of a number of the changes in social-security schemes that will be discussed in chapter 5 will only be visible in social-security expenditure in 10 to 20 years. Therefore, a micro-level approach will be applied in this study. It consists of providing a measurement of the effects of each change in social-security legislation. The question then is which micro-level measure to apply.

In this study, the extent of retrenchment following a specific change in a social-security scheme has been measured by its budgetary implications. More specifically, the *likely* budgetary savings as a percentage of the total expenditure on the scheme have been calculated and used as the basic measure of retrenchment. This operational definition should provide the necessary kind of reproducible and quantitative retrenchment indicators without implying the same problems as a macro-level approach. It also provides a common yardstick for comparing very different changes in very different social-security schemes. For instance, tightened eligibility criteria of the Dutch unemployment-insurance scheme have been compared to a freeze of the benefits of the Danish early-retirement scheme. Budgetary implications seem to be the only type of measure allowing the comparison of such rather different changes. Some elaborating comments on this operational definition are warranted.

First of all, it should be stressed that the aim is to explain the political decisions concerning retrenchment. As these are based on the *likely* budgetary consequences of the changes, they are of principal interest. However, determining the likely budgetary implications of specific changes in social-security schemes is not always an easy task and may involve great uncertainties. In order to ensure as valid estimations as possible, two measures have therefore been used. Apart from the principal measurement defined above, the outcome of the decisions in the sense of the actual spending consequences of changes has been studied as well. Due to changes in factors such as the level of unemployment, the level of inflation, or implementation problems, the amount of cash actually saved may differ significantly from the likely outcome as seen from the time when the changes were passed. However, by correcting the figures for changes in, for instance, the level of inflation and the level of unemployment, the worst of these problems are hopefully avoided. As the expected savings are the principal interest, the actual savings are the less important of the two measures. It has been included as a way of ensuring that the former measure does not entail serious misjudgments of the budgetary consequences.

Needless to say, even the combination of two measures does not take away all uncertainties about the budgetary implications of changes in social-security schemes. Therefore, the results must be interpreted cautiously and conclusions should not be based on minor differences in the extent of retrenchment. These may simply be due to measurement errors. Thus, the figures will be interpreted on an ordinal level. If significant differences in retrenchment are found, conclusions about the extent of retrenchment can be drawn. Conclusions on an interval scale will not be drawn. Due to the uncertainties involved, the figures can say something about the magnitude of retrenchment implied by a certain change, but they cannot give a very precise measure. Furthermore, when comparing figures for the expected and actual budgetary effects, an identical result is unrealistic in light of the measurement uncertainties involved. This operational definition, of course, raises a number of questions about delimitation, which figures to use, etc. Appendix 1 discusses a number of these questions and provides two examples of the calculations.

A further caveat against the operational definition is that it has difficulties handling indirect retrenchments, i.e. retrenchments working over very long periods or in a very indirect way. Following the idea of blame-avoidance strategies, implementing retrenchment working indirectly and/or over long periods would be attractive for governments (cf. also Bonoli & Palier 1998; Taylor-Gooby 1999). Two things will be done to address this point of criticism. First, as explained in appendix 1, the focus will be on the budgetary implications of fully implemented changes. At least in some situations, this should make it possible to measure gradually implemented retrenchments. Second, when going through changes in the social-security schemes, major changes in rules that do not directly regulate the attractiveness of schemes will receive attention as well. In other words, in relation to each scheme, there will be an examination into whether or not restructuring reforms have taken place with indirect retrenchment effects modifying the conclusions drawn from examining retrenchment in accordance with the above outline.

Summing up, each social-security scheme has been investigated as follows. All legislative changes have been recorded and, whenever possible, likely and actual budgetary implications have been measured in accordance with the operational definition. On the basis of these figures, a conclusion about the magnitude of retrenchment in each scheme will be drawn. Finally, there will be a discussion of possible retrenchment effects of restructuring reforms. The results of this will be presented in the next chapter.

Some hypotheses

After having discussed the definition and measurement of retrenchment, the rest of the chapter is devoted to presenting the hypotheses about the cases derived from the theoretical framework put forward in chapter 3. First of all, the framework predicts that sweeping retrenchment will not have taken place in either of the two cases.¹⁴ Further, the framework predicts that more retrenchment will have taken place in the Netherlands than in Denmark. The reason is the different systems of party competition. In a bloc system like the Danish one, retrenchment is expected only when the left-wing bloc governs. As the right-wing bloc governed Denmark in the main part of the period studied (1982-1993), little retrenchment is predicted to have taken place. In contrast, pivot systems are expected to be conducive to retrenchment, paving the way for a larger scale of retrenchment in the Netherlands. If the focus is on Denmark exclusively, the framework predicts more retrenchment to have taken place from 1993 to 1998, the period of left-wing rule, than during the preceding period of right-wing rule. When concentrating only on the Netherlands, the framework predicts that more retrenchment will have taken place from 1989 to 1994, when the CDA governed with the PvdA, than from 1982-1989, when the CDA governed with the VVD. The reason is that the CDA-PvdA government did not have any major opponents

Table 9	Hypotheses concerning (variation) in retrenchment in Denmark and the Nether-
	lands, 1982-1998

No'sweeping' retrenchment

More retrenchment in the Netherlands than in Denmark

More retrenchment in Denmark from 1993 to 1998 than from 1982 to 1993

More retrenchment in the Netherlands from 1989 to 1994 than from 1994 to 1998 and more from 1994 to 1998 than from 1982 to 1989

More retrenchment in the Netherlands of unemployment benefits than of disability pension and old-age pension

More retrenchment in Denmark of unemployment benefits and early retirement benefits than of disability pension and old-age pension

to the left. The 'purple governments' from 1994 and beyond represent somewhat of a problem for the framework, as they constitute a break with the pivotal position of the CDA in Dutch politics. The hypothesis that can be derived from the framework is that less retrenchment will have taken place after 1994 than under CDA-PvdA rule, but more than under CDA-VVD rule. The reason is that the 'purple governments' have faced an opposition party, the CDA, which with some credibility could argue that the purple governments were attacking the welfare state *per se*. Yet, due to the participation of the PvdA, the purple governments have been in a much more favourable position than the CDA-VVD governments.

Turning to variation across social-security schemes, the framework would predict schemes with strong labour market connection to be retrenched more than schemes with limited labour market connection. In Denmark, the old-age pension and the disability-pension schemes can be argued to have limited labour market connection. Old-age and disabled persons are not expected to be part of the labour market. Unemployment benefits and early retirement benefits are, on the other hand, closely connected to the labour market. The claimants in both schemes could just as well be working. Therefore, these two schemes are expected to suffer the most retrenchment. In the Netherlands, unemployment benefits are expected to suffer more retrenchment than the old age and the disability pensions. Table 9 provides a survey of the hypotheses concerning the cases derived from the theoretical framework.

5 Retrenchments in Denmark and the Netherlands

This chapter first reports the results of the investigation of the extent of retrenchment in each of the selected social-security schemes carried out as described in chapter 4 and appendix 1. The discussion of each scheme is divided into two parts. First, there will be a short description of the scheme as of 1982. Second, there will be an analysis of developments in the scheme from 1982 to 1998, based on the reported calculations of expected and actual savings.¹ These are reported in tables.² The chapter then summarises the findings of variation in retrenchment,³ and compares them with the hypotheses developed in chapter 4 to see to what extent the theoretical framework developed in chapter 3 has been capable of predicting the actual variation in retrenchment.

Retrenchment in Denmark and the Netherlands

The Danish old-age pension

The Danish old-age pension, 'folkepension', was⁴ a pension for all citizens aged 67 or more with two types of benefits.⁵ A basic amount paid to everyone regardless of other income and an income-tested pension supplement. In 1982, 49% of all pensioners received the full supplement, 19% part of it, and 32% no supplement at all (Danmarks Statistik, *Statistiske efterretninger afdeling A* 1982: 1282-1283). Compared to the basic amount, the supplement was of limited importance, as the maximum supplement in 1982 amounted to only 18% of the basic amount.⁶ Benefits could also be awarded to persons under the age of 67 in two cases. First, single females aged 62-67 were entitled to a pension. Second, if special, social or medical conditions were present, a pension could be awarded to people aged 55-67. In both cases, the basic amount and the pension supplement were subject to an income test. Benefits were taxable as any other income, but single pensioners were entitled to an enhanced personal tax-exemption. Thus, single pensioners living from only the national pension paid no income tax. Benefits were linked to the development in prices and tax financed on a pay-asyou-go basis.

Development of the Danish old-age pension from 1982 to 1998

Table 10 provides an overview of changes in the Danish old-age pension from 1982 to 1998 and their budgetary implications, if measurable. The main conclusion from Table 10 is that the Danish old-age pension has not been retrenched. Actually, it has been expanded. From 1986 to 1990, benefits were raised in general and the income testing of the pension supplement eased. The changes in the structure of benefits when the special tax-exemption for single pensioners was abolished implied a minor retrenchment, but taken together, all the changes equal an expansion of 10.4%.⁷ Furthermore, benefits have been tied to the development in wages instead of prices, a change that will imply expansion in the long run. Finally, all possibilities of receiving pensions before the age of 67 were transferred to the new disability-pension scheme as of 1984, and the pension age was lowered to 65 in 1999.⁸

The issue then is if the scheme has been subject to restructuring reforms indirectly implying retrenchment. The basic structure of the scheme has been unchanged within the period. The scheme is still a tax-financed pay-asyou-go scheme. Still, one change warrants attention in this connection.

As mentioned above, the benefit structure was changed when the special tax-exemption for single pensioners was abolished. In the short-run, the budgetary consequence was a small retrenchment. This retrenchment was the result of enhanced importance of income testing within the scheme, as the importance of the income-tested pension supplement relative to the basic amount was raised quite considerably. Thus, the pension supplement as a percentage of the basic amount increased from 26% in 1993 to 44% in 1994. When the special-pension supplement, which temporarily compensated single pensioners for the loss of the special tax-exemption, had been fully transferred to the normal-pension supplement in 1999, the basic amount and pension supplement were almost identical for single pensioners. Once the number of pensioners with additional pensions rises, it will have retrenchment effects.9 For instance, if the calculations made in relation to the changes (see Green-Pedersen 2000: 210-212) are redone with 50% of all pensioners being entitled to the full supplement, 20% to half of it, and 30% to no pension supplement, the retrenchment increases from 0.8% of the total expenditure in 1993 to 5.2%. Thus, this change will imply retrenchment in the long run, but exactly how much will depend on the income-situation of the future pensioners.

	0		01 / 5 55		
Lawnumber	Passed	Effect	Content	Expected budgetary consequences	Actual budgetary consequences
L 136, 137 1982-1983	June 1983	January 1984	All possibilities of receiving a pension for people under 67 were transferred to the new disability-pension scheme ¹		
L 119 1986-1987	June 1987	January 1988	Income testing of pension supplement was eased	+²2.1%	+3.0% (covers part of L 168 as well)
L 218 1986-1987	April 1987	April 1987	Pension supplement increased	+1.1%	
L 168 1987-1988	March 1988	July 1988	All benefit levels were increased and the easing of the income testing of the pension supplement was hastened and followed by a further ease	+6.4%	+6.2% (covers only parts of the law)
L 223 1989-1990	June 1990	January 1991	Benefits were tied to the development in real wages	No measurable budgetary implications, but expansion the long-run	
L 224 1989-1990	June 1990	January 1991	The basic amount was raised for most married pensioners	+1.6%	
L 314 1993-1994	May 1993	January 1994	Conversion of benefits for single pensioners into taxable income. Improvements of the pension supplement. Cutback of the basic amount	-0.8%	+1.3%
L 175 1998-1999	April 1999	July 1999	Pension age lowered from 67 to 65 years ³		
Total				+10.4%	

Table 10 Changes in the Danish old-age pension, 1982-1998

1 Analysed in connection with the Danish disability-pension scheme.

2 + indicates expansion of the scheme; – indicates retrenchment.

3 Analysed in connection with the Danish early-retirement benefits scheme.

Summing up, the general picture of the Danish national pension is still one of expansion, although the expansion seems less once the long-term consequences of the changes in 1993 are taken into account.

The Dutch old-age pension

In the Dutch old-age pension, AOW, everyone was entitled to a pension from the age of 65.¹⁰ Benefits were flat rate and not related to other income. On the other hand, they depended on matrimonial status and were related to the net minimum wage as follows. A married couple was entitled to 100% of the net minimum wage and a single pensioner to 70%. In general, married women had no personal right to a pension. Whether a married couple was entitled to a pension depended on the age of the husband. However, if the wife reached the age of 65 before her husband, she was entitled to the pension for married couples in certain cases.

The net value of benefits was linked to the development of the net minimum wage, that is the gross minimum wage minus income taxes and social contributions. The gross minimum wage was linked to the development of wages (*index regelingslonen*), so benefits would be affected by development in wages. Benefits were indexed twice a year (cf. Vording 1993: 14-28). In principle, benefits were taxable income, yet special rules implied that oldage pensioners paid limited income tax and social contributions from the AOW. The scheme was a peoples' insurance scheme (cf. chapter 4) administered by the Social Insurance Bank (SVB) and mainly financed from a *de facto* earmarked income tax. Yet, the state, that is general taxation, supported the scheme with minor contributions. In 1982, this amounted to 4.2% of the total expenditure (Centraal bureau voor de statistiek, *Statistisch Jaarboek* 1984: 328-329).

Development of the Dutch old-age pension from 1982 to 1998

Table 11 gives an overview of the legislative changes in the Dutch old-age pension from 1982 to 1998. The general picture emerging is one of some-what retrenchment of the scheme. This is primarily the result of limited indexation of benefits from 1982 to 1984¹¹ and from 1993 to 1995. Still, the abolishment of the special supplement for pensioners with a partner younger than 65 contributes as well.

Apart from the changes reported in Table 11, a number of minor changes have taken place in relation to the special supplement for pensioners with a partner younger than 65. This supplement was introduced in 1985 when the

	•		01		
Law number	Passed	Effect	Content	Expected budgetary consequences	Actual budgetary consequence
L 749, 1982	December 1982	January 1983	Indexation of benefits limited to 1% in 1983	-16.6% ²	
L 674, 1983	December 1983	January 1984	Benefits frozen for 1984	-2.7%	
L 652, 1984	December 1984	January 1985	Benefits frozen for 1985	-1.5%	
L 627, 1987	December 1987	January 1988	Benefits frozen for 1988	+1%	
L 625, 1988	December 1988	January 1989	Benefits frozen for 1989	+2.3%	
L 624, 1991	November 1991	December 1991	New indexation rules	No direct budg implications	etary
Freeze of social security benefits for 1993 ³	у		Benefits frozen for 1993	-1.6%	
Freeze of social security benefits for 1994 ³	у		Benefits frozen for 1994	-1.9%	
Freeze of social security benefits for 1995 ³	у		Benefits frozen for 1995	-1%	
L 696, 1995	December 1995	January 1996/97	The special supplement for pensioners with a partner younger than 65 abolished	-5.4%	Not yet measurable
Total				-17.4%	
1 indicators	verneien -f+	ho cchom -	indicator ratranchmant		

Table 11	Changes in the Dutch old-age pension, 1982-1998

¹ + indicates expansion of the scheme; – indicates retrenchment

² Due to the way benefits were indexed, providing measures for actual budgetary implications of the freezes is impossible (see Green-Pedersen 2000:213-216)

³ The decision was taken in the autumn of the preceding year

scheme was 'individualized.'¹² Each married person became entitled to a pension equal to 50% of the net minimum wage. The special supplement, equal to 50% of the net minimum wage, was then introduced for pensioners married to a person younger than 65 with no right to his/her own pension. In the case where the man was older than his wife, this had no material consequences compared to before. However, a number of couples where the wife was older than her husband now became entitled to a pension. To reduce the expenditure, the government gradually introduced income testing on the supplement. In the following years, the rules concerning this supplement were changed a number of times until it was finally abolished in 1995.

Before concluding that a retrenchment of 17.4% has taken place in relation to the Dutch old-age pension, it must be investigated whether any restructuring reforms have taken place. The basic principles of the Dutch oldage pension scheme have remained unchanged. It is still a pay-as-you-go scheme. The financing changed within the period as the government withdrew its support for the scheme. However, the government has recently decided to support the scheme again. A new law concerning the financing of the peoples' insurance was passed in 1998. The law placed a maximum on the contributions to the scheme and left the rest of the expenditure for the government. To meet some of these expenditures, the government is creating a special fund. The estimation in the law was that when the expenditure on the pension peaks in 2040, the government will pay approximately 31% of the total expenditure (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal 1997-1998: 25699, nr. 3, 11, cf. also van Oorschot & Boos 1999). The question is whether this will indirectly affect the scheme. For two reasons, this is unlikely. First, the major part of the expenditure will still be paid by contributions. Second, as will be argued in chapter 8, different ways of financing social-security schemes do not seem to have much effect on their vulnerability to retrenchment measures.

The Danish unemployment-benefit scheme

The Danish unemployment-benefit scheme was a voluntary insurance scheme administered by the unemployment funds.¹³ As mentioned in chapter 4, these funds were independent organisations with close links to the trade unions. In 1982, 66.6% of the labour force was insured (Danmarks Statistik, *Statistisk tiårsoversigt* 1991).

Membership in itself was not sufficient to be eligible for benefits in the case of unemployment. One year of membership plus 26 weeks of work within the last three years were required. The unemployed person had to

register at the employment service, be willing to accept a job when offered one, and be actively seeking a job. Whether these requirements were met, was decided by the unemployment funds.

Benefits were in principle equal to 90% of the former wage, but a maximum rate existed. In 1982, 35% of all claimants received the maximum rate. Most of the remainder received an amount just below this. Thus, average benefits were equal to 89% of the maximum benefits in 1982 (Direktoratet for Arbejdsløshedsforsikring 1983). All benefits were taxed in the same way as earnings from work and were linked to the development in real wages.

An unemployed person was entitled to benefits as long as he or she, before each monthly payment, fulfilled the requirement of 26 weeks of work within the last three years. This rule implied that the unemployed would lose their right to benefits after approximately two and a half years. However, in reality, benefits were continuous due to a law passed in 1978 (*Lov om arbejdstilbud til ledige*) that entitled the unemployed to a job offer lasting at least 26 weeks in due time before losing their right to benefits.

The scheme was financed by three sources: General taxation, employer contributions, and member contributions.¹⁴ Each member paid a tax-deductible premium plus an amount to cover the administration expenditure of the funds, and the employers paid a contribution for each employee. The government, that is general taxation, paid the expenditure exceeding the revenues from the two types of contributions and thus carried the marginal burden. It also paid the major part of the expenditure. In 1982, 86% of the total expenditure on unemployment benefits and early-retirement benefits was paid by the government (Danmarks Statistik, *Statistisk tiårsoversigt* 1991; Danmarks Statistik, *Skatter og afgifter: Oversigt* 1992).

Development of the Danish unemployment benefits from 1982 to 1998

Table 12 gives an overview of the legislative changes in the Danish unemployment-benefit scheme from 1982 to 1998. The general picture emerging from Table 12 is one of significant retrenchment. The freeze of benefits from 1982 to 1986 had significant effects, even if it was somewhat modified by the raising of maximum benefits in 1987. The limitation in the duration of benefits and introduction of extended benefits in 1985 also implied retrenchment, but was given up in 1988 before having real effects. In the 1990's, eligibility criteria were tightened from 26 to 52 weeks of work within the last three years, the duration of benefits was reduced to 4 years, and

Lawnumber	Passed	Effect	Content	Expected budgetary consequences	Actual budgetary consequences
L10/11 1982-1983	October 1982	January 1983	Full or partial freeze of benefit levels for 21/2 years	- ¹ 18.8%	-18.4%
L165 1983-1984	May 1984	October 1985	Freeze of the maximum level of benefits for one yea	-2.8% ar	Not measurable
L 109/110 1984-1985	June 1985	July 1985	De facto shortening of duration of benefits and introduction of extended benefits	-2.3%	Not measurable
L 160/161 1987-1988	March 1988	July 1988 January 1989	Maximum benefits increased. Rules concer- ning extended benefits given up	+7.1	+5.3
L 223 1989-1990	June 1990	Januari 1991	Benefits tied to the development in real wages	No direct budgetary implications	
L 272-275 1992-1993	June 1993	January 1994	Labour market reform	No direct budgetary implications	
L14-15 1995-1996	December 1995	January 1996 January 1997	Cuts in benefits for young people with no qualifying education after six months of unemployment. Duration of benefits shortened to five years. Eligibility rules tightened	-9%	Not measurable
L 32 1998-1999	December 1998	January 1999	Duration limited to four years, and rules tightened for unemployed over 50	-4.2%	Not measurable
Total				-30%	

 Table 12
 Changes in Danish unemployment benefits, 1982-1998

72 RETRENCHMENTS IN DENMARK AND THE NETHERLANDS

benefits for younger unemployed persons were cut. After the freezing of benefits from 1982 to 1986, benefits were indexed by parliament on a year-to-year basis until 1990 when they were tied to real wages again.

The next question then is whether any restructuring reforms that may indirectly lead to retrenchment have been implemented. The organisational structure of the scheme has basically remained unchanged (cf. Nørgaard 1997: 271-337). Regarding the financing of the scheme, the general picture is also one of continuity. The government, that is general taxation, still pays most of the expenditure and carries the marginal burden. Member contributions were raised somewhat in 1982 and the following years, but still remain fairly limited. The contributions from employers were abolished in 1988, but they were forced to pay for the first two days of unemployment in the following years.

Finally, Danish labour-market policy has changed. Starting in the 1980's (Jensen et al. 1991) and most pronounced with the labour-market reform in 1993, Danish labour-market policy has become more active. This implies a stronger focus on upgrading and improving skills, on individual plans for training and education, establishment of subsidised jobs, introduction of leave arrangements, etc. (Cox 1998; Etherington 1998; Jensen 1999). The question is whether some of these changes imply retrenchment. As participation in the various activation measures is mandatory to acquire eligibility for benefits, one could argue that some of these measures make unemployment benefits less attractive. The new labour-market policy contains a stronger focus on the requirement of being willing to accept a job. Yet, it is also an offensive policy aiming to improve the skills of the work force (cf. Etherington 1998; Jensen 1999). Furthermore, it must be kept in mind that certain demands on the claimants of unemployment benefits, for instance, the requirement of being at the disposal of the labour market, have always existed (Nørgaard 1999). The long duration of unemployment benefits introduced in 1978 was also based on the acceptance of job offers.

Altogether, a number of restructuring reforms of the Danish unemployment-benefits scheme have been implemented, but there is no indication that any of the reforms will have significant retrenchment effects and thus will disturb the conclusion about significant retrenchment.

The Dutch unemployment-benefit scheme(s)

In 1982, the Netherlands had two schemes covering the risk of unemployment. The ww and the wwv.¹⁵ The ww was a workers' insurance and the wwv a social provision. To be eligible for ww, 130 days of work within the last year was required. Furthermore, the unemployed were required to register at the labour exchange, be willing to accept suitable work, and be actively seeking work. ww benefits were equal to 80% of the former wage with a fairly high maximum. The duration of ww was 26 weeks. The wwv was basically an extension of the ww. However, benefits were lower; namely 75% of the former wage, also with a fairly high maximum. The duration of the wwv was two years. Both benefits from the ww and from the wwv were taxable income in the same way as income from work. The wwv benefits were indexed twice a year on the basis of the changes in wages (cf. Vording 1993: 14-28).

Development of the Dutch unemployment-benefit scheme(s), from 1982 to 1998

Table 13 reports the legislative changes in the Dutch unemployment-benefit scheme(s) from 1982 to 1998. The picture emerging from Table 13 is one of significant retrenchment. The level of benefits has been reduced significantly as a result of the freezing of benefits from 1982 to 1987 and 1993 to 1995 and as a result, the reduction of the level of benefits from 80/75% of former wage to 70%.¹⁶ Eligibility has also been tightened, especially as a result of L 955. In relation to the duration, the picture is mixed. For the young unemployed, the duration has been shortened significantly, whereas for older unemployed, there has been an expansion.

Looking at the institutional arrangement of the scheme, there are several important changes. The merging of the ww and wwv implied that unemployment benefits were now fully financed by contributions from employers and employees. In other words, the tax financing was removed. However, it is difficult to determine whether this change would imply more or less retrenchment. As will be argued in chapter 8, there is no clear indication that the way of financing social-security schemes affects their vulnerability to retrenchment.

The changes in the administrative structure of the schemes are more interesting (cf. Teulings, van der Veen & Trommel 1997; Bannink 1999; van der Veen & Trommel 1999): In 1994, a new organisational act abolished the svR, a body with representatives from trade unions and employer organisations and independent members appointed by the government surveying the work of the Industrial Insurance Organisations. After some intermediate arrangements, the coordinating functions were transferred to the LISV (*Landelijk Instituut Sociale Verzekeringen*). This institution has a tripartite structure with an independent chairman. The supervisory tasks of the svR

Lawnum	ıber Passed	Effect	Content	Expected budgetary consequences	Actual budgetary consequences
L 737 1982	December 1982	January 1983	Tightening of the rules concerning minimum benefits	- ¹ 1.1%	See below
L749 1982	December 1982	January 1983	Indexation of benefits limited to 1% in 1983	-4.2%	-3.3% (includes L 737 as well)
L 278 1983	June 1983	July 1983	Duration of benefits limited for most unemployed under 23 years of age	-2.9%	Not measurable
L 674 1983	December 1983	January 1984	Most benefits frozen for 1984. Benefits cut by 2.3/2.4%	-3.8%	-3%
L 652 1984	December 1984	January 1985	Most benefits frozen for 1985	-2.3%	See below
L 633 1984	December 1984	January 1985	Benefits in both schemes reduced to 70% of former wage. Earlier, nominal cuts in benefits reversed		-10.7% (includes L 652 as well)
L704 1985	December 1985	January 1986	Most benefits frozen for 1986	-1.6%	
L566	November 1986	January 1987	A new unemployment- benefit scheme introduced ww and wwv merged	0% (see appen I.	dix 1)
L 624 1991	November 1991	December 1991	New indexation rules	No direct budgetary implications	
Freeze of benefits	f social-security for 1993²		Most benefits frozen for 1993	-2.2%	-2.3%
	f social-security for 1994 ²		Most benefits frozen for 1994	-1.8% for 1994	see below
	f social-security for 1995²		Most benefits frozen for 1995	-1.9% for 1995	see below
L 955 1994	December 1994	March 1995	Eligibility rules tightened	-6.4%	-3.0% (covers the freeze in 1995 as well, but only part of the effects of L955).
Total				-33.7%	
1 2			scheme:–indicates retrenchme autumn of the preceding year	ent	

8

RETRENCHMENT IN DENMARK AND THE NETHERLANDS

were taken over by the CTSV (*College van Toezicht Sociale Verzekeringen*). This is an independent institution headed by three government-appointed leaders. The Industry Insurance Associations were long planned to be transformed into market organisations competing with each other, but in the end, new government agencies responsible for the administration of benefits in workers' insurance were chosen. Reintegration efforts, however, were privatised.

The issue is whether these changes may indirectly lead to retrenchment of the scheme. The main reason for the changes was to limit the influence of the social partners on the administration of the scheme, since it was considered too lenient. In other words, retrenchment, in the sense of a more strict administration of the schemes, was the purpose for the changes. However, the impact of these changes remains to be seen. The administrative arrangement is most important in situations where the rules leave considerable discretion to whoever is administering the scheme. Generally, the rules concerning the ww do not allow much discretion. The rules concerning eligibility, duration and the level of benefits are quite simple and clear. When it comes to the question of being willing to accept a job, actively seeking a job, etc., who administers the rules is probably more important. Thus, the administrative changes may imply further retrenchment, but it seems unlikely that the impact will affect the conclusion of significant retrenchment of the scheme.

Just as Denmark, the Netherlands has witnessed the introduction of an active labour-market policy (cf. Visser & Hemerijk 1997: 155-178; Cox 1998; van der Veen & Trommel 1999). The Dutch active labour-market policy has consisted of elements such as, subsidised jobs, reforms of the unemployment service, and stronger focus on the duties of the unemployed, for instance, through changes in the definition of 'suitable jobs'. As in relation to the Danish active labour-market policy, the question is whether this may 'scare off' some of the unemployed. The stronger focus on the duties of the unemployed may have such effects. Thus, van der Veen & Trommel (1999: 305) report a significant rise in the use of sanctions in the scheme. Such sanctions are imposed if the unemployed person is not willing to accept an offered job or if the job-searching efforts are found to be insufficient. However, other changes such as the introduction of subsidised jobs, may be perceived as an improvement since it enhances the possibilities of re-entering the labour market. In other words, also in the Dutch version of active labour-market policy, an offensive element is present. In summary, the introduction of active labour-market policy may have some retrenchment effects through the increased focus on the duties of the unemployed, but parallel to the administrative changes, significant retrenchment seems an unlikely result.

Altogether, a number of restructuring reforms have been passed in relation to Dutch unemployment benefits. There has been a shift in financing from tax financing to social contributions, the influence of the social partners on the administration has been limited, and an active labour-market policy has been introduced. These changes may result in some retrenchment. Particularly, the combination of the changes in the administrative structure and the stronger focus on the duties of the unemployed may make this scheme less attractive for the unemployed. It is difficult to anticipate the precise extent of such retrenchments, let alone convert them into figures, but it seems unlikely to have much effect on the conclusion of significant retrenchment.

The Danish disability-pension scheme

The Danish disability-pension scheme known as *'invalidepension'* could award a disability pension to everyone aged 15-67.¹⁷ The scheme was administered by the municipalities, but they did not award pensions. This competence had been given to the regional 'boards of rehabilitation and pension'. Members of these boards were partly local politicians and partly experts appointed by the Minister of Social Affairs. Central government reimbursed the expenditure of the municipalities by 100%.

The basic criterion for being awarded a pension was a permanent reduction of work capacity. Whether or not this had occurred was mainly a medical judgment, but certain social criteria were involved as well. Three levels of benefits were awarded depending on the degree of reduction in work capacity. To be eligible for the highest level, the remaining work capacity had to be zero or insignificant. The middle level was awarded if the person had lost around two-thirds of his or her work capacity. The lowest level was awarded if the applicant had lost more than half but less than two-thirds of his or her work capacity. In other words, applicants who were judged to have more than half of their work capacity intact were not eligible for benefits.

The highest level of benefits consisted of four different types: The basic amount and the pension supplement of the old-age pension (see above), yet both of them were subject to an income test. Furthermore, an invalidity supplement and a work-incapacity supplement were awarded regardless of other income. Both supplements were equal to approximately half of the basic amount. The middle level of benefits consisted of the basic amount, the pension supplement, both subjected to an income test, and the invalidity amount. The lowest level of benefits consisted of half of the basic amount, subject to an income test, and half of the invalidity amount. The invalidity amount was tax-free, whereas the other types of benefits were taxable income. However, the special tax rules that made the old-age pension for single pensioners with no other income tax-free also applied to disability pensioners. Once benefits were awarded, the person would be eligible until he or she turned 67. Benefits were linked to the development in prices.

Development of the Danish disability-pension scheme from 1982 to 1998

Table 14 below summarizes the legislative changes in the Danish disabilitypension scheme from 1982 to 1998. The general picture emerging from Table 14 is not one of retrenchment but one of significant expansion of the scheme. Benefits were improved two times from 1986 to 1988, and slightly in 1993. From 1990, benefits were also tied to the development in wages instead of prices. However, the major expansion came with the 1983 reform of the scheme, introducing three new levels of benefits:

- I The highest level could be awarded to anyone aged 18-59 upon the condition that he or she, due to health problems, had lost any significant capacity to work. Benefits were the same as the highest level in the old scheme.
- 2 The middle level was awarded to anyone aged 18-59 who, due to health problems, had lost around two-thirds of his or her work capacity, or to anyone aged 60-66 who fulfilled the criteria for obtaining the highest level of benefits. Benefits were the same as the middle level in the old scheme.
- 3 The normal level of benefits could be awarded in three different situations. First, to anyone who, due to health problems, had lost less than two-thirds but more than half of his or her work capacity. Second, to anyone aged 18-66 whose work capacity, due to either health or 'social' problems, had been reduced by at least 50%. A need for provision, established through means testing, had to be present as well. Third, anyone aged 50-66 could be awarded normal benefits for 'social reasons'.

Also in this case, a need for provision had to be documented. Normal benefits were equal to the basic amount plus the pension supplement of the oldage pension, but both types of benefits were subject to an income test. As of 1985, everyone awarded a normal pension before the age of 60 would be entitled to a tax-free and not income-tested supplement equal to half of the invalidity amount. Apart from including the elements of disability pension that had existed in other schemes, this new scheme significantly expanded the possibilities of awarding a pension for other than strictly medical reasons. In addition, the reform improved benefits slightly.

Law number	Passed	Effect	Content	Expected budgetary consequences	Actual budgetary consequences
L 136,137 1982-1983	June 1983	January 1984	New disability-pension scheme: All elements of disability pensions from other schemes trans- ferred to this scheme. Benefits improved. Increased possibilities of awarding pensions for 'social reasons'	+ ¹ 15% (rough estimation partly based on the devel- opment in actu expenditure)	ıal
L 119 1986-1987	June 1987	January 1988	Income testing for the basic amount and pension supplement eased	+4.2%	+3.3% (covers part of L168)
L 168 1987-1988	March 1988	July 1988	Benefit levels increased, the easing of the income testing for the pension supplement hastened, and the income testing further eased	+3.4%	+5% (covers only parts of the law)
L 223 1989-1990	June 1990	January 1991	Benefits tied to the development in real wages	No measurable budgetary implications, yet expansion in the long-run	
L 314 1993-1994	May 1993	January 1994	Changes of some bene- fits for single pensioners into taxable income. Improvements of the pension supplement. Cutback in the basic amou	+1.8% nt	-0.9%
Total				+24.4%	

Table 14 Changes in the Danish disability-pension scheme, 1982-1998

1 + indicates expansion of the scheme; – indicates retrenchment

The next question is whether there have been any restructuring reforms that may indirectly lead to expansion or retrenchment. This is indeed the case. In the 1990's, the financing and the competence to award pensions were changed a number of times making it significantly more difficult to obtain a pension (Christiansen 2000). In 1991, taking effect in 1992, the right to award normal benefits was transferred from the boards of rehabilitation and pension to the municipalities. At the same time, the reimbursement from the central government was changed from 100% of the expenditure to 50% in relation to all new, normal pensions being awarded. However, central government still reimbursed the entire expenditure on all pensioners aged over 60. Taken together, these changes gave the municipalities a financial interest in awarding as few normal pensions as possible, an interest that the boards of rehabilitation and pensions had not had (*op. cit.*).

In 1994, the rules were changed again. The municipalities could now apply for the right to award the highest and middle level of benefits. In 1997, this right was fully transferred to the municipalities. Furthermore, the joint financing of central and local government was extended to all new pensioners, and the process of awarding a pension could no longer be initiated by the disabled, but only by the municipality. In other words, the municipalities achieved much more control of the awarding process. In 1998, the financing was changed again as central government reimbursement for new pensioners was cut back from 50% to 35%. Thus, the incentives for the municipalities to limit the number of pensions being awarded were significantly strengthened and the competence of the municipalities has been spread out to all types of disability pensions.

As Christiansen (2000) shows, the effect of these changes is a reduction of 20% in the number of awarded pensions from 1990 to 1997. The effect of the most recent changes seems to be an even more significant reduction in the number of awarded pensions (*op. cit.*). The falling level of unemployment has probably played a role as well. Yet, Christiansen's analysis shows that the role has been limited. Due to transitional effects in the awarding of pensions (*op. cit.*), the exact magnitude of the reduction in the number of awarded pensions can only be established after some years. However, it is already obvious that these changes strongly affect the conclusion of significant expansion of the scheme. A conclusion of neither retrenchment nor expansion seems more appropriate when these institutional changes are taken into account.¹⁸

The Danish early-retirement benefits scheme (efterløn)

The Danish early-retirement benefit scheme (*efterløn*) offered the possibility of early retirement for people aged 60 to 66.¹⁹ It was organised as an extension of the unemployment-benefit scheme. Thus, it was administered by the unemployment funds and financed in the same ways as unemployment benefits. Anyone aged 60-66 could retire if he or she fulfilled two requirements. First, he or she had to fulfill the eligibility criteria in the unemployment-benefit scheme (see above). Second, membership in an unemployment fund for 10 of the last 15 years was required.

Benefits were equal to the unemployment benefit as long as the claimant fulfilled the eligibility criteria for unemployment benefits. When this was no longer the case, most often after $2\frac{1}{2}$ years, benefits were reduced to 80% of the maximum amount. After another two years, benefits were further reduced to 70% of the maximum amount. Benefits were taxable like any other income, and linked to the development in prices and wages in the same way as the unemployment benefit.

Development of the Danish early-retirement benefit scheme from 1982 to 1998

Table 15 reports the legislative changes in the Danish early-retirement benefit scheme from 1982 to 1998. The picture emerging from Table 15 is one of significant retrenchment. As in unemployment benefits, the partial freeze of benefits for $2\frac{1}{2}$ years dating from 1982 with a later extension of one year implied significant retrenchment.²⁰ The improvements passed in 1986 and 1987 implied, among other things, that the 70% level of benefits was changed to 80% and that the earlier retrenchments were compensated to some extent. In 1990, benefits were again linked to the development in real wages, as they had been at the beginning of the period. The most dramatic retrenchment was the reform of the scheme negotiated in the autumn of 1998. This reform implied that future claimants would be entitled only to the less generous old-age pension when they turned 65, that strong incentives were introduced not to join the scheme before the age of 62, and that a special contribution had to be paid starting from the age of 35, which will probably lead to less claimants.

When looking at the institutional structure surrounding the scheme, changes have taken place only in relation to the financing of the scheme. The changes mentioned in connection with the Danish unemployment benefit affected the early-retirement benefits since they were financed in the same

Lawnumber	Passed	Effect	Content	Expected budgetary consequences	Actual budgetary consequences
L 10/11 1982-1983	October 1982	January 1983	Fully or partly freeze of benefits for 21/2 years	- ¹ 19.4%	-18.9%
L165 1983-1984	May 1984	October 1985	Freeze of most benefits for another year	-4.5%	Not measurable
L49 1986-1987	December 1986	January 1987	The 70% level of benefits abolished and replaced by 80%	+3.2%	+2.9%
L160 1987-1988	March 1988	July 1988	Most benefits increased	+5.2%	+2%
L 223 1989-1990	June 1990	January 1991	Benefits tied to the development in real wages	No direct budgetary implications	
L125,174 and 175 1998-1999	April 1999	July 1999	Early retirement reform. Pension age lowered from 67 to 65 years. Special contribution introduced, and strong incentives for later retirement introduced	-19.6% (very uncertain estimation)	Not measurable
Total				-35.1%	

Table 15 Ch	anges in Danish early	v-retirement bene	efits. 1982-1998
-------------	-----------------------	-------------------	------------------

¹ + indicates expansion of the scheme; – indicates retrenchment

way. Two changes affecting only the early-retirement scheme further underline the tendency towards less government financing following these changes. In 1991, the number of years of membership required to be eligible for early-retirement benefits was raised from 10 of the last 15 years to 20 of the last 25 years. This change gave the unemployment funds around 100,000 new members (calculations based on Danmarks Statistik, *Statistisk tiårsoversigt* 1996) and thus raised the revenue from member contributions significantly. Apart from a possible lower number of claimants in the future, the special contribution introduced in connection with the reform in 1998 also implied increased financing from members, both because the special contribution is higher and because it has to be paid for 25 years.

The question then is whether the increased financing from members would indirectly lead to more or less retrenchment. Most likely, it will not have much effect. It is important to note that the basic features of the financing of the scheme are left unchanged. The government still carries the marginal burden of the expenditure and pays the majority of it. Thus, even 25 years of payment of the new contribution to the early-retirement scheme equals less than one year's benefits. Altogether, none of the restructuring reforms affect the conclusion of significant retrenchment.

The Dutch disability-pension schemes

The Netherlands had two closely connected schemes covering the risk of disability²¹; the AAW, which was a peoples' insurance scheme and the wAO, which was a workers' insurance scheme. The wAO paid benefits to workers and the AAW to people not eligible for benefits in the wAO. Despite the AAW being a peoples' insurance scheme, both schemes were managed by the Industry Insurance Associations. Applications for a disability pension were considered by the Joint Medical Committee (GMD), a medical and vocational body connected to the Industry Insurance Associations. The schemes were financed from contributions from employers and employees and from state support. In 1982, the state covered 4.5% of the total expenditure (Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek, *Statistisch Jaarboek* 1984: 328-329).

The schemes covered persons between 18 and 64. The entry into both schemes was sickness benefits. After receiving sickness benefits for one year, a person could apply for a disability pension, provided he or she had some connection with the labour market prior to becoming disabled. The basic criterion for judging the application was a person's ability to fulfill a commensurate job, in the sense of a job matching his or her qualifications.

Degree of disability	% of basis or former wage
80-100	80
65-80	65
55-65	50
45-65	40
35-45	30
25-35	20
15-25 (only wao)	10

Table 16The connection between degree of disability and benefits in the Dutch disability-pension schemes

Hence, the scheme was meant to cover the loss of income from not being able to perform such a commensurate job, not to cover disability *per se*, and the cause of the inability was irrelevant. In other words, the scheme did not distinguish between *risque professional* and *risque social*. Furthermore, the law stipulated that the GMD should consider how the disability would affect the person's possibility of actually finding a commensurate job (known as 'the labour-market consideration'). Finally, the administrative practice concerning the awarding of disability pensions was very lenient. In fact, the Industry Insurance Associations had decided to give the claimants all the benefit of the doubt. This implied that people applying for a disability pension, almost as a matter of *pro forma*, were awarded a full disability pension. Only the very doubtful cases were in fact considered by the GMD (Aarts & de Jong 1996a: 22-26). Thus, 85% of the disability pensioners in 1982 were fully disabled (Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek, *Statistisch Jaarboek* 1983: 324).

The level of benefits was decided according to the table shown below. Anyone employed had their benefits calculated from former wage, whereas people with no former employment had it calculated from the so-called 'basis', which in 1982 was approximately NLG 2,250 per month. Both benefits in the AAW and in the WAO were indexed twice a year (cf. Vording 1993: 14-28).

Development of the Dutch disability-pension schemes from 1982 to 1998

Table 17 below shows the legislative changes in the Dutch disability-pension schemes from 1982 to 1998. The picture emerging from Table 17 is one of drastic retrenchment. The Dutch disability schemes have been retrenched in many ways. Benefits were frozen from 1982 through 1989 and from 1993 through 1995, yet in some years with marginal budgetary effects due to limited inflation. In 1984, benefits were also cut, and the labour-market consideration was removed from the awarding of benefits in 1986. Finally, another reform added significant retrenchment in 1993: Eligibility was tightened due to new rules about commensurate jobs and due to the requirement that the relationship between the impairment and the disability is objectively assessable. New claimants will also face significantly lower levels of benefits when after some years in the scheme, their benefits only to some extent will be related to their former wage. Especially young claimants will face significantly lower levels of benefits as the length of the period on wage-related benefits will be dependent on age, just as the level of benefits after this wagerelated period will be partly dependent on age.

The final question in relation to the Dutch disability-pension scheme is

Law number	Passed	Effect	Content	Expected budgetary consequences	Actual budgetary consequences
L 749 1982	December 1982	January 1983	Indexation of benefits limited to 1% in 1983	- ¹ 6.7%	-5%
L 674 1983	December 1983	January 1984	Benefits frozen for another year. Most benefits cut by 2.4%	-4.3%	-5.7% (covers L 271 as well)
L 271 1984	June 1984	July 1984	Most benefits cut by 2.4%	-1.6%	
L 652 1984	December 1984	January 1985	Benefits frozen for 1985	-3.3%	See below
L 633 1984	December 1984	January 1985	Maximum benefits in the wao reduced to 70% of former wage. Earlier cuts in nominal benefits reversed	-4.4%	See below
L704 1985	December 1985	January 1986	Benefits frozen for 1986	-2.3%	-12.4% (covers L 652 and L 633 as well)
L 561 1986	November 1986	January 1987	'The Labour-market consi- deration'abolished	-6% (uncertain estimation)	See appendix 1
L 624 1991	November 1991	December 1991	New indexation rules	No direct budgetary implications	
Freeze of soci benefits for 19			Benefits frozen for 1993	-3.2%	-4%
L 412 1993	July 1993	January 1994	Tightened eligibility criteria, cuts in benefits	-23.9% (uncertain estimation)	See appendix 1
Freeze of social- security Benefits frozen for 1994 benefits for 1994 ²			-2.6%	-3.2%	
Freeze of social- securityBenefits frozen for 1995benefits for 19952			Benefits frozen for 1995	-2.8%	-3.3%
Total				-61.1%	

Table 17Changes in Dutch disability-pension schemes, 1982-1998

1 + indicates expansion of the scheme; – indicates retrenchment

2 The decision was taken in the autumn of the year before

whether any institutional changes affect the above conclusion of drastic retrenchment. The institutional structures surrounding the Dutch disability schemes have undergone significant changes (cf. Teulings, van der Veen & Trommel 1997; Bannink 1999; van der Veen & Trommel 1999).

First of all, the administrative changes discussed in relation to unemployment benefits implying a decreased influence of the social partners also affected the disability-pension schemes, since they were administered in the same way. In addition, the GMD was abolished as of 1995, leading to a transfer of the tasks to the LISV. The question is whether these changes will indirectly imply retrenchment. The awarding of disability pensions almost automatically involves an element of discretion. Therefore, who actually awards benefits is crucial. The reason for reducing the influence of the social partners was that their administration was considered too lenient. Therefore, there are good reasons to believe that these changes in the administration of the disability-pension schemes will imply a stricter administration of the scheme and, hence, indirectly retrenchment. However, no quantitative evidence has been found.

The financing of the scheme has also undergone several changes. Through the 1980's, contributions from the employers to the WAO were gradually removed. From 1990, employer contributions to the AAW were abolished and replaced by contributions from employees. The government had also gradually removed its financial support for the schemes. However, from 1990 to 1993, it strongly supported the schemes, paying between 40% and 50% of the total expenditure (Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek, Statistisch Jaarboek 1993: 292-293; 1995: 298-299). As a result of the 'Bolkenstein motion'22 (Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal 1993-1994: 22730, 21), all state support for the schemes were removed as of 1994. In 1997, taking effect in 1998, the financing of the schemes was changed again.²³ From then onwards, the wAO would be financed solely by contributions from employers. Their contributions would consist of a basis contribution equal for all employers and a contribution partly dependent on the level of disability in each firm. The latter contribution was meant to cover the costs of the first 5 years of disability. The employers could choose to opt out of the scheme and not pay the differentiated contribution. However, the employer then had to pay for the first 5 years of disability himself or take out insurance. In other words, the financing of the scheme was changed to provide employers with an incentive to try to keep down the number of disability claimants. At this stage, it is impossible to say anything precisely about this potential indirect effect.

Altogether, the two types of restructuring reforms add to the picture of drastic retrenchment emerging from Table 17, even though the exact effects are impossible to quantify.

Actual variation in extent of retrenchment

After having documented the retrenchments implemented in the selected social-security schemes, the question is what variation in retrenchment can be observed. Starting with the question of variation between the two countries, the general picture is that more retrenchment has been implemented in the Netherlands than in Denmark. The Danish old-age pension was actually expanded, 10.4%,²⁴ whereas the Dutch old-age pension was retrenched somewhat, 17.4%. The figures also suggest that the Dutch unemploymentbenefit scheme(s) was retrenched more than the Danish with 33.7% compared to 30%. When considering the uncertainties involved in measuring the budgetary impact of retrenchments, the difference is not large enough to warrant a conclusion that unemployment benefits in the Netherlands have been retrenched more than unemployment benefits in Denmark. The difference of 3.7% might simply be due to measurement errors.²⁵ Therefore, a more obvious conclusion is that unemployment benefits in the two countries have been retrenched equally. Finally, disability pension/early-retirement benefit schemes have been retrenched to a different extent in the two countries. The Dutch disability-pension schemes have been retrenched drastically, 61.1%, and probably even more if the effects of the changes in the institutional structure surrounding the schemes are taken into account. In Denmark, the early-retirement scheme was retrenched by 35.1% while the disability pension was neither retrenched nor expanded when taking into account the effects of the administrative changes in the 1990's. Altogether, as regards two of the three types of schemes, the Dutch experienced the most retrenchment. In relation to unemployment benefits, the figures only warrant a conclusion that the schemes in the two countries have been retrenched to the same extent.

As regards the development over time in Denmark, it seems that in general the schemes fared better from 1982 to 1993, and especially from 1986 to 1989, than after 1993. In the old-age pension scheme, the expansion took place from 1986 to 1990 whereas the enhanced role of means testing, which will imply retrenchment in the future, was passed in 1993. The disability-pension scheme was expanded from 1983 to 1988, but from 1991 and on-wards,²⁶ the implementation of the various restructuring reforms clearly implies retrenchment. Turning to the early-retirement benefit scheme, a significant retrenchment of the scheme took place in 1998. A comparable retrenchment was implemented from 1982 to 1984, but modified somewhat by the expansion from 1986 to 1988. When comparing the full development from 1982 to 1993 with the development after 1993, the early-retirement scheme

was retrenched slightly more in the latter period; 19.6% compared to 15.5%. Yet, the difference is too small to warrant a substantive conclusion about a difference in retrenchment. Concerning the development of the unemployment scheme, significant cuts were implemented from 1982 to 1984, but somewhat modified in 1987. Additional cutbacks were implemented during the 1990's. When the uncertainties of measuring the budgetary effects are taken into account, this scheme fared the same in the two periods. Altogether, 2 out of the 4 schemes, old-age pension and disability pension, fared better from 1982 to 1993 than after 1993. The other two schemes fared similarly in the two periods. A closer look at the first period reveals that significant retrenchment of 2 of the 4 schemes, unemployment benefits and early-retirement benefits, took place from 1982 to 1984. Thus, significant retrenchment measures were also implemented from 1982 to 1993.

Turning to the Netherlands, the retrenchment of the old-age pension scheme has been spread quite evenly over the pertinent time periods, 1982-1989, 1989-1994, and 1994-1998. At least the differences are too limited to warrant any conclusions about variation. Looking at the disability-pension scheme, the retrenchment has been concentrated in the first two periods. Finally, looking at unemployment benefits, the major part of the retrenchments took place in the period 1982 to 1989. Only slight retrenchments were implemented in the subsequent two periods. When studying all three schemes across all three time-periods, differences are found. In general, the most retrenchment was implemented from 1982 to 1989. Compared to the period 1989 to 1994, more retrenchment was implemented in unemployment benefits, and compared to the period 1994 to 1998, more retrenchment was implemented both in relation to unemployment benefits and to the disability pension. However, it is worth noting that the retrenchment in the first period took place almost entirely from 1982 to 1985. Finally, when comparing the period 1989 to 1994 with the period 1994 to 1998, there is a general picture of more retrenchment in the former period. This conclusion is based on the much greater extent of retrenchment of the disability-pension scheme in the former period.

When looking at the pattern of retrenchment across the different socialsecurity schemes, it is found that in the Netherlands, the old-age pension scheme was retrenched significantly less than the two other schemes, and the disability-pension scheme significantly more than unemployment benefits. In Denmark, the early-retirement scheme and unemployment-benefit scheme were retrenched the most. The disability-pension scheme was neither retrenched nor expanded and the old-age pension scheme has been expanded. Before comparing the actual variation in retrenchment with the hypotheses developed in chapter 4, it is worth comparing the results of other investigation of retrenchment. As discussed in chapter 4, the alternative to the microdata used in this study would have been macro-data in the sense of socialexpenditure data. Other studies have used such data. Both Castles (2001) and Siegel (2001) find that the Netherlands is the OECD country having retrenched social-security expenditure the most since 1980. This is also the case when Siegel (op. cit.) controls for the number of claimants. In both studies, Denmark is found to be one of the countries having conducted limited retrenchment and actually having a higher level of social expenditure in the mid-1990's than at the beginning of the 1980's. Alber (1998) has conducted a more qualitative analysis of retrenchment of a number of social-security schemes in Austria, Germany, and in the Netherlands over approximately the same time period as chosen here. He draws two conclusions of interest for this study. First, he (op. cit.: 41-48) concludes that the Netherlands has experienced more retrenchment than Germany and especially Austria. In other words, it is not only in comparison with Denmark that the Netherlands has had more retrenchment. Second, Alber ranks the retrenchment of the three Dutch schemes investigated in this study in the same way it has been done here. Thus, the disability-pension scheme was retrenched the most and the old-age pension scheme the least, with the unemploymentbenefit scheme falling in between. In summary, some of the conclusions drawn above can be supported by Alber's research.

Without putting too much emphasis on this 'validation' of the findings, it does indicate that the findings of this study are consistent with other investigations of variation in the extent of retrenchment. The next question is whether the findings are in accordance with the hypotheses developed in chapter 4.

The match between the actual and expected variation in retrenchment

The first hypothesis concerning retrenchment in Denmark and in the Netherlands from 1982 to 1998 was that retrenchment would not be sweeping. An evaluation of this hypothesis depends on the definition of 'sweeping'. Basically, this is a question whether the glass is half empty or half full. A very narrow definition of sweeping would be that it implied the abolition of social-security schemes. When applying this definition, Denmark and the Netherlands have definitely not seen sweeping retrenchment. Using a wider definition of retrenchment, the result is obviously less clear. Yet, when looking at all the schemes, it takes a wide definition of 'sweeping' to argue that retrenchment has generally been sweeping. Benefits have been cut, but generally only about 10-20%, and eligibility has been tightened, yet it has by no means become difficult to enter the schemes. Furthermore, in Denmark, the old-age pension has actually been expanded. Thus, if all the reservations about the definition of sweeping allow any conclusion, it seems that the only scheme that has suffered something like sweeping retrenchment is the Dutch disability-pension schemes. Altogether, the first hypothesis has been supported by the empirical developments.

The hypothesis concerning the two countries was that more retrenchment would have taken place in the Netherlands than in Denmark due to the different systems of party competition. This was also the picture emerging above. When looking at all the social-security schemes, the Dutch schemes have generally been retrenched more than the Danish ones.

Turning to the development over time in Denmark, the hypothesis was that more retrenchment would be implemented from 1993 to 1998 than from 1982 to 1993. This hypothesis was supported as well. Yet, the rightwing governments ruling Denmark from 1982 to 1993 actually implemented a number of significant retrenchments during their very first years in government. Later, they implemented a number of improvements to the schemes, so the final result of the period is not much retrenchment, at least less than what was implemented by the social democratic-led governments since 1993. However, the retrenchments implemented during the first years of right-wing rule were not predicted by the theoretical framework presented in chapter 3.

Looking at the development over time in the Netherlands, the hypothesis was that most retrenchment would be implemented from 1989 to 1994 followed by the period 1994 to 1998, and then the period 1982 to 1989. However, this does not correspond to the pattern found above. More retrenchment was implemented from 1989 to 1994 than from 1994 to 1998, but in contrast to the expectations, the period 1982 to 1989 was the period with the most retrenchment. When looking more closely at the period 1982 to 1989, it becomes clear that the retrenchments took place mainly from 1982 to 1985, whereas few retrenchments took place from 1986 to 1989. In other words, it is the development from 1982 to 1985 than runs counter to the hypothesis derived from the theoretical framework. If this period is ignored, the pattern over time in the Netherlands corresponds to the expected outcome.

Turning to the variation across schemes, the pattern in Denmark matches the hypothesis in the sense that unemployment benefits and early-retirement benefits were retrenched the most and disability pensions and old-age pension the least. In general, they were actually not retrenched at all. Looking at the pattern in the Netherlands, unemployment benefits were, as expected, retrenched more than old-age pensions. However, contrary to what was expected from the theoretical framework developed in chapter 3, the disability-pension scheme was retrenched more than the other schemes and not as expected less than unemployment benefits.

Altogether, the actual variation in retrenchment in Denmark and in the Netherlands from 1982 to 1998 does match the hypotheses developed in chapter 4 considerably. More retrenchment was implemented in the Netherlands than in Denmark, and more in Denmark from 1993 to 1998 than from 1982 to 1993. However, some unexpected retrenchment was implemented in Denmark from 1982 to 1984. In the Netherlands, the development was as expected after 1985. In other words, except for the developments in both countries in the very first years studied, the theoretical framework was quite successful in predicting the variation in the extent of retrenchments across time and between the two cases. Looking at variation across schemes, the framework predicted the variation in Denmark, but not in the Netherlands where disability pensions were retrenched the most. On balance, it seems the theoretical framework presented in chapter 3 predicted the variation in welfare-state retrenchment fairly well. Yet, by no means was the value of r-square 1.

In this way of investigating the explanatory power of a theoretical framework, there is one caveat: It is based on correlation arguments, that is the match between the predicted variation and the actual one. What a correlation argument does not guarantee is that causal propositions underlying the hypotheses are in fact right. Even though the theoretical framework presented in chapter 3 predicted the variation in retrenchment in Denmark and in the Netherlands from 1982 to 1998 fairly well, it is still an open question whether the politics surrounding retrenchment do in fact work the way presented in chapter 3. Are the politics of welfare-state retrenchment the politics of blame avoidance? Do governments pursue a justification strategy of blame avoidance? Does party competition around retrenchment work the way discussed in chapter 3? The only way to answer these questions and thus provide a further investigation of the explanatory power of the theoretical framework is to do case studies of the politics of retrenchment in the two countries. This is the subject of the next two chapters. The chapters may also provide some indication as to why retrenchment has not always taken place as predicted.

6 Dutch Politics and welfare-state retrenchment. How party competition produced consensus

The aim of this chapter is to take a closer look at Dutch politics and welfarestate retrenchment from 1982 to 1998. Yet, to make sense of what has happened from 1982, it is necessary to start out with a short section on Dutch politics and welfare-state retrenchment in the preceding period, 1973 to 1982. Subsequently, there will be sections describing each of the three types of governments that ruled the Netherlands in this period; the CDA-VVD governments from 1982 to 1989, the CDA-PvdA government from 1989 to 1994, and the PvdA-VVD-D66 governments from 1994.

More specifically, the aim is to establish how party strategies around retrenchment developed in the period in relation to other political parties and in relation to the electorate. For each period, there will be an investigation into the government initiatives concerning the welfare state, the societal reactions, how the governments have tried to legitimise their policies, and the reaction of the opposition. The focus will be on social security. Nevertheless, developments in other policy areas will be included to the extent that they are necessary to make sense of what happened in relation to social security. These issues have been studied using both primary and secondary sources.¹

Depillarisation and fumbling response to the oil crises

From a historical perspective, Dutch politics are one of the clearest examples of the politics of accommodation inherent in Lijphart's (1969) concept of 'consociational democracy'. Due to a consensus at the elite level about power sharing, autonomy for the sub-cultures and proportionality, the conflicts stemming from the 'pillarisation' of Dutch society never materialised into an adversarial style of politics that could have threatened democratic stability (Lijphart 1979; Gladdish 1991: 33-49; Andeweg & Irwin 1993: 23-49). The consensual style of politics was also clearly visible in relation to party competition. In the two decades following the Second World War, the

Netherlands was mainly governed by oversized coalitions. Members of these governments belonged to one or more of the three major denominational parties, KVP, CHU, or ARP, and either the Social Democrats (PvdA) or the Liberals (VVD) (Andeweg & Irwin 1993: 119). Thus, power sharing in the Netherlands was very much dominated by denominational centre parties, and Dutch politics in the first part of the post-war period can aptly be characterised as 'governing from the centre' (Gladdish 1991).

In the second half of the 1960's, the pillarisation of Dutch society started to collapse rapidly. The most immediate effect of 'depillarisation' on Dutch party competition was a significant decrease in the vote-share of the denominational parties. The 1967 election was the first election where the three major denominational parties did not gain at least half of the seats in the Dutch parliament.² At the same time, a number of small, new parties entered Dutch politics. The only lasting one was D66 (Gladdish, 1991: 42-49).³ The reaction of the denominational parties to their rapidly declining vote-share was to initiate a merging process. During the elections in 1977, the three parties ran on a common list, and the merger into the CDA was completed in 1980 (Gladdish 1991: 54-58; Verkuil 1992).

The PvdA also saw new opportunities and it launched a 'polarisation strategy', that is a more adversarial style of politics. The party's hope was that it no longer had to govern at the mercy of the denominational parties, especially the KVP, but could become the dominating party in government (cf. also Green-Pedersen & van Kersbergen 2002). This was to become possible through a significant increase in the party's vote-share, at the expense of the declining denominational parties (Tromp 1989; Gladdish 1991: 52-54; Hillebrand & Irwin 1999). The PvdA did seem to have some success with its strategy. It gained votes in the 1971, 1972, and 1973 elections. After the 1973 election it, together with D66, PPR, KVP, and ARP, was able to form a government with its leader, Joop den Uyl, as Prime Minister.4 At the succeeding election in 1977, the PvdA gained a historical high of 33.8% of the votes (Andeweg & Irwin 1993: 105). Yet, this was a Pyrrhic victory. A CDA-VVD government took over. After the elections in 1981, PvdA participated in a government with CDA and D66 for about 9 months, (see below), but otherwise, the party was out of office until 1989.

One of the issues at the centre of Dutch politics from 1973 to 1982 was socio-economic policy. As can be seen from Table 6, the Netherlands was quite negatively affected by the two oil crises. Yet, the governments were unable to find a coherent policy response. Monetary policy was wavering (Jones 1998) and attempts at settlements with the social partners concerning wage restraint failed (Visser & Hemerijck 1997: 93-98). In relation to the welfare state, the period until 1982 was also characterised by wavering and failed attempts. The immediate response of the den Uvl government was an expansive Keynesian policy and a continuation of the expansion of the welfare state. Social-security benefits were linked to the wage development in general in 1974, and the AAW was introduced in 1976 (Cox 1993: 173-175). However, towards the end of the den Uyl government, its Minister of Finance launched an austerity policy consisting of a 1% norm, that is public expenditure should not rise by more than 1% of national, annual income (Rigter et al. 1995: 323-329). This goal was never met (Toirkens 1988: 32-52). The succeeding CDA-VVD government also opted for an austerity policy, but was hardly more successful than its predecessor. This failure was not least due to strong disagreements within the CDA, especially between the two CDA ministers Wim Alberda, Minister of Social Affairs, and Frans Andriessen, Minister of Finance (op. cit.: 53-85; Verkuil 1992: 190-215; Rigter et al. 1995: 335-339). In the 1981 election, the CDA and VVD lost their maiority, and the CDA was forced to govern with the PvdA and D66 (Verkuil 1992: 22-231). This government continued the failed attempts at an austerity policy. The most famous example of this was the government's attempt at retrenching sickness benefits in the beginning of 1982. The Minister of Social Affairs, den Uvl, suggested a retrenchment of sickness benefits including, among other things, the introduction of 5 waiting days. However, after staunch resistance from the trade unions, den Uyl gave up his endeavor, and shortly afterwards the PvdA left the government with an image of being unable to implement tough but necessary measures (Anker & Oppenhuis 1989; Rigter *et al.* 1995: 340).

Altogether, the years preceding the period investigated in this study were turbulent both with regard to party competition and socio-economic policy. In relation to the latter, the result was a fumbling policy insufficient to meet the macro-economic challenges resulting from the two oil crises. 'Depillarisation' caused much unrest in Dutch politics in the 1970's (Tromp 1989), and this is one of the major reasons for the fumbling socio-economic policy. Yet, looking at the situation around 1982, Dutch party competition, as noticed by Lijphart (1989) and Wolinetz (1990b: 423), had not really changed much. Dutch politics were still 'governing from the centre' as the CDA had taken over the pivotal role of its three denominational predecessors. Numerically, the CDA was of course weaker, but the three major Christian Democratic Parties had united and a government without Christian Democratic Parties was still impossible.⁵ The Netherlands was still a pivotal system of party competition now with the CDA as pivot party. The implications of which would become clear in the following years.

The first and second Lubbers governments: No-nonsense policy and an emerging consensus

The election in September 1982, resulting from the PvdA departure from the government, again produced a CDA-VVD majority in parliament and in the beginning of November, Ruud Lubbers from the CDA was able to form a government with the VVD. Under the motto of 'no nonsense', the new government launched an austerity policy. In the government's policy statement (*regeringsverklaring*) later in November, Lubbers outlined three main goals: 1) reduction of the financing deficit, interest rates and inflation; 2) strengthening of the market sector; and 3) job sharing (Keesings Historisch Archief December 3, 1982).

The new government's most immediate means to achieving these goals was wage restraint. Therefore, the government spoke of a 'breathing space' (adempauze), that is a freeze of wages, prices and social benefits, in connection with the coalition agreement (de Volkskrant, November 5 and 13, 1982; NRC Handelsblad, November 13, 1982). Such a breathing space would imply government intervention into collective agreements and put strong pressure on the social partners. The only way for them to avoid government intervention was to reach an agreement on wage restraint and job sharing (Kuipers 1998). Just a few days before the government policy statement in parliament, the social partners in principle agreed upon the 'Wassenaar accord' with exactly this content (op. cit.). As a follow-up to the agreement, the government limited the indexation of social-security benefits to 1%, implying significant retrenchment (cf. chapter 5), and froze public wages. In the following months, the new government implemented several minor retrenchments of social security, especially unemployment benefits and a nominal cut in the salaries of employees in the educational sector (Keesings Historisch Archief, March 23, 1983). Finally, after some hesitation, the first Lubbers government also pegged the Dutch Guilder to the German Mark (Jones 1998).

In the spring of 1983, the new government launched its ideas for a system change *(stelselherziening)* of social security. The discussion about a system change had begun in 1979, but now the government was ready to move. The system change was basically an umbrella for the numerous changes that were carried through in workers' insurance especially in the period until 1987, when they had all become effective (Hoffmans 1989). The majority of these changes were simply retrenchments. The most important ones were the lowering of the level of benefits in all workers' insurance to 70% of former income and the abolishment of the labour-market consideration in the

disability-pension schemes. In addition, the two unemployment-benefit schemes were merged, new rules concerning minimum levels of benefits introduced (*toeslagenwet*), and wherever necessary, benefits were individualised (cf. chapter 5). However, the retrenchments in connection with the system change were not the only retrenchments carried through by the first Lubbers government. First, the freeze of social-security benefits initiated in connection with the Waassenaar accord was continued in the entire period. Second, the first Lubbers government also implemented two nominal cutbacks in workers' insurance and in the wages of public employees. Taking effect in January 1984, a 3% cut in the wages used to calculate the level of benefits was implemented, and this was repeated in July 1984.⁶

In general, the government tried to legitimise and frame its policies along three lines. First, by referring to the dire economic straits that the Netherlands was facing. In his government's policy statement, Lubbers declared 'economic winter' in the Netherlands (de Volkskrant, November 23, 1982) and that due to the economic situation, the goal of redistribution could not be pursued (*op. cit.*, December 17, 1982: 839). The government also tried to justify the retrenchments by linking them to the job-sharing arrangements and thus the combat of unemployment (de Volkskrant, April 30, 1983; NRC Handelsblad, April 9, 1983). As Lubbers said in his government policy statement, 'work is more important than income' (NRC Handelsblad, November 22, 1982).

Second, the government sought to distance itself from its predecessors' fumbling and failed attempts at retrenchment. This was perhaps the core of the 'no nonsense' motto, or as Lubbers declared about his government, 'it is here to govern' (cited from Visser & Hemerijck 1997: 100). This approach was perhaps most visible in relation to the social partners. The first Lubbers government generally attached less importance than earlier governments to consensus with the social partners over changes in social security (Geul 1983; Roebroek & van Koten 1985). Unlike its predecessors, the government also did not yield to public unrest and protests against its policy. The nominal cutbacks in the salaries of employees in the educational sector thus provoked strikes and demonstrations against the government (Keesings Historisch Archief, December 17, 1982; March 25, 1983). The cutbacks in the nominal wages of public employees and the level of benefits in workers' insurance also proved very troublesome. The government started out in April 1983 by suggesting a 2% cut in all public wages and social insurance as of October 1983 (de Volkskrant, April 1983; NRC Handelsblad, April 1983). Referring to the worsened economic situation, the government then changed its plans to a 3.5% cut as of January 1983 (Keesings Historisch

Archief, November 4, 1983). This decision resulted in widespread strikes and demonstrations (Keesings Historisch Archief, November 25, 1983; December 2, 1983). In response, the government softened its policy slightly by reducing the cutbacks to 3%. The first Lubbers government also avoided the internal disagreements that had more or less paralysed the CDA-VVD government from 1977 to 1981.

Third, in relation to the welfare state, the government presented itself as very much a Christian democratic government. This was not least possible due to the placement of CDA politicians in almost every government position dealing with social security. Apart from the Prime Minister, the Minister of Finance, Onno Ruding, the Minister of Social Affairs and Employment, Jan de Koning, his State Secretary dealing especially with social security, Louw de Graaf, and the Minister for Welfare and Public Health, Elco Brinkman, were from the CDA. By presenting itself as very much a Christian democratic government, the first Lubbers government could link itself to the social image of the CDA – or its predecessors. In his government policy statement, Lubbers declared that 'the economic winter asked for an economy with a human face', and that 'the government would work for solidarity between income groups' (Keesings Historisch Archief, December 3, 1982: 790). The most concrete evidence of this was the special benefits given to the 'real social minimas', that is families living from just one income at the social minimum level. The expenditure on these benefits was small, but it had great symbolic value as 'the real social minimas' attracted significant attention (Rigter et al. 1995: 373-374).7 The government also tried to link itself to the Christian democratic emphasis on societal accommodation and responsibility. The CDA itself (1983) spoke of 'from welfare state to welfare society', and Lubbers spoke of

> The transformation from a welfare state threatening to become prohibitive and oppressive to a caring society where people stand up for each other (Keesings Historisch Archief, December 3, 1982: 796).

Summing up, the first Lubbers government tried to present itself as a government that, due to the economic crisis, had to be harsh and could not allow more fumbling, but also as a government aiming at social fairness and societal accommodation. In other words, welfare-state retrenchment was thought justified as an economic necessity calling for societal responsibility, not as an ideological attack on the basic principle of solidarity.

For the PvdA, the new government and its 'no nonsense' approach raised

the dilemma between office and vote seeking. Should the party continue the already somewhat weakened polarisation strategy through a firm opposition policy, or should it be more moderate and hope to be rewarded through participation in the next government? A look into the party's journal, *Socialisme en Democratie*, during those years, reveals a lively debate on these issues (e.g. 1982: 11; 1983: 4 & 5; 1984: 4 & 11; 1985: 3). The most immediate response of the PvdA was a fairly firm opposition policy. The party voted against almost every cutback implemented by the first Lubbers government. The strongest opposition was held against the 'de-connecting' of wages and social-security benefits, that is the freeze of social-security benefits, but the PvdA also opposed most elements of the system change of social security.

The PvdA tried to portray the retrenchment policy of the first Lubbers governments as not just a retrenchment policy, but as an unfair one. The motto of the PvdA during those years was 'fair sharing' (*eerlijk delen*). In parliament, its leader, Joop den Uyl, declared that the government 'worked towards a society where again the right of the strong ones applied and selfinterest was indicative' (Keesings Historisch Archief, November 4, 1983: 693). The PvdA also spoke of 'an atmosphere of dogmatic denounce of the welfare state' (Keesings Historisch Archief, September 30, 1983: 619), and declared that 'the contrast between strong and weak in society was substantially aggravated' (Keesings Historisch Archief, October 7, 1983: 632).

However, the opposition of the PvdA was not as strong as it may seem. Alternative polices suggested by the party were not without retrenchments (Keesings Historisch Archief, October 28, 1983: 679-680). As time went on for the CDA-VVD government, the PvdA increasingly loosened its firm opposition policy. In the autumn of 1984, with elections and thus the possibility of a new government, the party presented its ideas on socio-economic policy. Just as the government, the PvdA suggested lower benefit levels in workers' insurance; 75% of former income compared to the government level of 70%. However, the party would not guarantee that PvdA participation in the next government would imply a raise from 70% to 75%. Thus, as State Secretary for Social Affairs, de Graaf, later noted in an interview (Sociaal Bestek 1987): 'from the side of the PvdA, there was no talk of a 'frontal opposition' against the new system.' Furthermore, the party would not guarantee that a government with PvdA participation would index social-security benefits again (NRC Handelsblad, November 22, 1984; December 5-6, 1984; de Volkskrant, November 22, 1984; December 5-6, 1984). As a newspaper commentator noted, the PvdA needed room for government negotiations on its suggestions (NRC Handelsblad, November 22, 1984). The

PVdA very much wanted to return to power and den Uyl even argued that a PVdA-VVD government could be an option to remove the CDA from government (NRC Handelsblad, November 22-23, 1984; de Volkskrant, November 22-23, 1984).

Summing up, precisely the dilemma between vote- and office seeking forced the PvdA into a mixed response to the 'no-nonsense' government. On the one hand, the party, especially during the first years, constituted a firm opposition by arguing that the retrenchment policies undermined the basic principle of solidarity. Yet, when it came to concrete policy suggestions, the PvdA did not distance itself dramatically from the government as this would have implied political isolation. The party tried to have its cake and eat it too.

The elections in the spring of 1986 turned out to be the last round in the battle about socio-economic policy in the Netherlands: Before the election, the CDA announced that if the CDA and VVD could sustain their majority in parliament, the government would continue. This was unusual in Dutch politics. The motto of the CDA campaign was 'Let Lubbers finish the job', and together with the VVD, the party emphasised that the positive effects of its policies were now visible (van der Eijk & van Praag 1987; van Holsteyn & Irwin 1988). Lubbers also declared that 'the changes in social security had been painful but necessary changes' (cited from van Praag Jr. 1987: 21) and promised peace in relation to social security for the next period (*op. cit.*; de Volkskrant, May 13, 1986).

In the same way as during the years before the elections, the PvdA was caught between office- and vote seeking. On the one hand, still under the motto of 'fair sharing', the party continued to attack the government for an unfair distribution of retrenchments. The PvdA also argued that the CDA had moved closer to the vvD (de Volkskrant, May 13, 1986). However, the party declared that its only absolute demand for government participation related to the cruise missile question (Trouw, May 21, 1986).⁸ Den Uyl also said that the PvdA had given up the polarisation strategy and repeated that he did not rule out a PvdA-vvD government (Trouw, May 3, 1986). In addition, the election material of the party contained few concrete promises in relation to social security. The party did not want to be accused of being irresponsible in its socio-economic policy (Gladdish 1987).

The result of the election was a major victory for the CDA, allowing the government to continue despite losses for the VVD and gains for the PVdA (van der Eijk, Irwin & Niemöller 1986). Apart from the popularity of Prime Minister Lubbers, it seems that the explanation for the CDA victory should be found in the voters' belief that a continuation of the government would

serve the Dutch economy best (Pellikaan 1987; Irwin & van Holsteyn 1989). Apparently, the CDA had been successful in justifying welfare-state retrenchment as a matter of necessary changes to fight macro troubles, and thus avoid the issue being turned into a question of advocating or opposing the welfare state *per se* (see below).

The question then is why the government was successful in framing the issue in this way? As expected, in order not to preclude itself from future government participation, the PvdA could not launch a frontal attack on the government's policy for a long time. In addition, the government could, and did, refer to the social profile of the CDA to avoid being accused of launching an ideological attack on the Dutch welfare state. Yet, the PvdA did constitute an at times firm opposition against the government. What seems to have been a great help for the first Lubbers government is that a general state of crisis dominated the Netherlands when Lubbers took office (cf. de Beus 1983). Survey data (Sociaal en Cultureel Planbureau 1988: 354-355) show that the Dutch population did not expect much from the future, in economic terms. This state of crisis clearly facilitated the first Lubbers government's reasoning about unpleasant but necessary retrenchments. Altogether, the period of the first Lubbers government was the last period with some disagreements among the three major Dutch political parties about socio-economic policy. When the PvdA, in order to be able to obtain government power again, in practice gave up the last elements of its polarisation strategy, a consensus on a no-nonsense policy became visible.

As promised if possible, the CDA and VVD continued to govern together, and the second Lubbers government implemented the last elements of the system change of social security, most importantly the merging of the ww and the wwv and the removal of the labour-market consideration in the disability-pension schemes. It also continued the freeze of most social security benefits. Otherwise, the government kept its promise of peace on the social security front.

The PvdA responded to the success of the Lubbers government at the 1986 elections in two ways. First, it changed its leadership from Joop den Uyl to the more moderate trade-union leader Wim Kok. Second, a process within the party aimed at redefining its overall strategy was initiated (van Praag Jr. 1994; Hillebrand & Irwin 1999; Wolinetz 1993). In principle, the party now gave up the polarisation strategy, which it in practical politics had already more or less been abandoned (cf. de Partij van de Arbeid 1986). A clear example of this was that the party supported the ideas of market-oriented healthcare reforms launched by the Dekker Committee in 1987 (Schut 1995).

The reasons for the more moderate approach of the second Lubbers government towards social security are obvious. As emphasised by the government during the election campaign in 1986, and as repeated by Lubbers in the new government's policy statement (Keesings Historisch Archief, August 21, 1986: 543), the immediate economic crisis of the early 1980's was gone and thus an important part of the government's justification for its retrenchments. In addition, even though the PvdA had in practice abandoned its polarisation strategy, it was still in opposition and it was unrealistic to expect that it would support further retrenchments. A CDA-VVD government that had already gone quite far could go no further in relation to retrenchment of social security. The government did start discussions about a major overhaul of the disability-pension schemes, yet concrete actions had to await the PvdA joining the government (van Wijnbergen 2000).

In the spring of 1989, the second Lubbers government was brought to a fall by the VVD parliamentary group and elections were called. In its election campaign, which had the motto 'further with Lubbers', the CDA campaigned for a continuation of the policies of the past 7 years. This time, however, the party did not declare a preferred coalition partner. The PvdA campaign focussed on showing that the party was ready to govern again, which limited its criticism of the policies of the last 7 years. Actually, the party mindfully argued that the image of being unable to make tough but necessary decisions no longer applied (Wolinetz 1990a). In general, the election campaign was quite peaceful (Keesings Historisch Archief, September 14, 1989), with environmental problems as the main theme (Aarts *et al.* 1992). The election itself did not produce any major changes either. The VVD and PvdA lost slightly, whereas the CDA was unchanged (Wolinetz *op. cit.*).

The third Lubbers government: WAO affair and the fall of the CDA

Prior to the elections, there had already been talks between the CDA and the PvdA about a government. The leadership of the CDA saw several strategic advantages in a CDA-PvdA government, among others, broader support for social-security retrenchments (Metze 1995: 174-176). Hence, it was no surprise that a CDA-PvdA government could be formed later in 1989.

As Lubbers expressed in the new government's policy statement (Keesings Historisch Archief, December 14, 1989), the aim was to continue the socioeconomic policy of the two former Lubbers governments. Yet, as a concession to the PvdA, social-security benefits were indexed again for 1990, 1991 and 1992. In the meantime, a law was passed containing new indexation rules for social-security benefits. This law did not directly imply retrenchment. However, by specifying a number of conditions for not indexing social-security benefits, among others, a rise in the ratio between inactive and active on the labour market, the law did make it easier for the government to justify a full or partial freeze of social-security benefits. With reference to this ratio, benefits were not indexed for 1993 and 1994.

The linkage between this ratio and indexation of social-security benefits indicates that the focus of the government in relation to social security was changing compared to the first two Lubbers governments. The retrenchment by these two governments had mainly been carried through in order to keep down the costs of social security. The third Lubbers government started to focus more directly on the number of claimants and talk of uncontrollability and ungovernability in relation to social security. These problems were seen as part of the 'inactivity crisis' in the Netherlands (Visser & Hemerijck 1997: 136-140). One of the reasons for the inactivity problem was too lenient access to social-security benefits and attention was quickly drawn to the disability-pension schemes. The coalition agreement stated that the number of claimants of disability pension should not be allowed to grow. In the autumn of 1990, Lubbers tried to recreate a state of crisis and prepare the country for radical measures to tackle the problem. He publicly declared that 'the Netherlands was sick' and that he would resign if the number of claimants reached 1 million (Keesings Historisch Archief, September 1991).

The government, especially the PvdA, hoped that the goal in the coalition agreement could be reached with 'soft' reintegration measures. Yet, it soon became clear that this was unrealistic. The government, therefore, started to work on major changes in the disability-pension schemes. It tried to reach a compromise with the social partners on the changes, but as this failed in the summer of 1991, the government launched a plan for a major retrenchment of the scheme (Keesings Historisch Archief, September 1991; Vrij Nederland, July 13, 1996). The government argued that the retrenchments were unpleasant but necessary to end the dumping of people into the disability-pension schemes (de Volkskrant, July 15, 1991). The schemes had gotten 'out of hand' (CDA 1991). Nevertheless, the plan provoked an avalanche of political turmoil known as 'the wAo affair'.

Protest against the plan came from two sides. The Dutch trade unions, both the general FNV and the Protestant CNV, protested strongly against the plan. The leader of the CNV declared war on the government (de Volkskrant, July 13, 1991) and the trade unions arranged major demonstrations in Den Haag. Inside the PvdA, a fierce debate broke out as large parts of the party were against the plan. Support for the party in opinion polls dropped to an all time low (NRC Handelsblad, July 31, 1991). In the end, the leader of the party organisation had to resign, and Wim Kok had to call a special party congress asking for support for his leadership before things quieted down again (Keesings Historisch Archief, September 1991; December 1991).

However, this was not the end of the WAO affair. The government chose to wait awhile before actually putting a bill before parliament. In the spring of 1992, the parliamentary group of the PvdA declared that it would only support the retrenchments if claimants already having been awarded a disability pension would not be affected by the new rules. The parliamentary group of the CDA disagreed with this demand, but in the end, Lubbers and the CDA Minister of Social Affairs, Bert de Vries, accepted it and more or less forced the CDA parliamentary group to do the same (Keesings Historisch Archief, May 1993; Metze, 1995: 11-28, 190-197). Later in 1993, the law was then passed in parliament.

One may ask why the PvdA accepted the retrenchment of the disabilitypension scheme at all, or at least denounced the plan when the political turmoil broke out. Upon a closer look, however, the strategy of the PvdA is not that surprising. If the PvdA had rejected retrenchment of the disability-pension schemes, the government would most probably have been brought to a fall and the CDA would have chosen to govern with the VVD again for a long time. In short, the whole office-seeking strategy of the PvdA would have been wasted (Hillebrand & Irwin 1999). However, also in terms of vote seeking, rejecting the retrenchments would have been politically risky for the PvdA. Its competitors, most prominently the CDA, would have been quick to draw parallels to the failed attempt at retrenching sickness benefits in 1982. In other words, the PvdA would have been quite vulnerable to accusations of still being unable to make tough but necessary decisions and making it impossible to tackle the WAO problem (Vrij Nederland, July 13, 1996). The PvdA would have been back where it had been ten years before.

The retrenchment of the disability-pension schemes was not the only major development on the social security front under the third Lubbers government. In the spring of 1992, the Public Audit Office published a very critical report on the organisation of workers' insurance, and in response, the parliament set up a Parliamentary Inquiry (Keesings Historisch Archief, September 1992). The report from the inquiry, which was chaired by the social democrat Flip Buurmeijer, was published in September 1993. It was very critical to the organisational structure of social security, especially the disability-pension schemes: little if anything had been done to keep down the number of claimants and to fight fraud and misuse. The administration of the disability-pension schemes had been very lenient, literally against the law in some respects, and oversight of the system had been more or less non-existent (Parlementaire enquête uitvoeringsorganen sociale verzekeringen 1993). This report provided strong arguments for changes in the organisational structure of Dutch social security. The government then initiated the process of organisational changes in workers' insurance. Among other things, it privatised the first weeks of sickness in the sickness-benefit scheme.

In the spring of 1994, elections were called again in the Netherlands. The PvdA, which had been almost in constant decline in opinion polls after returning to government (Irwin 1995b), focussed its campaign very much on its popular leader. Its motto was 'choose Kok'. The party also tried to repair its social image after the WAO affair (Benschop 1994). However, it did not dissociate itself from the policy of the third Lubbers government (op. cit.) and it presented its least left-wing oriented election programme since the Second World War (Pennings 1995). For the CDA, the 1994 election developed into something of a nightmare. Prime Minister Lubbers announced that he would leave politics and the CDA had chosen Brinkman as his successor. Unfortunately, the party was internally divided; Brinkman made several political mistakes; and Lubbers did not keep his promise of not interfering in the election campaign. In the end, Lubbers actually denounced his successor and declared that he would vote for another CDA candidate (Metze 1995: 199-248). In addition to all this, the new leadership of the party around Brinkman made a major blunder in January 1994 in relation to social security. A fairly austere approach had been chosen in the election programme and the author of the economic section declared that the party would freeze the AOW for four years. Brinkman did not distance himself from this statement and freezing the AOW came to stand as a campaign issue of the CDA (Metze 1995: 207-225; Kleinnijenhuis & de Ridder 1998). In response, old-age voters gathered in stadiums to protest (NRC Handelsblad, April 13, 1994) and the CDA dropped significantly in opinion polls (Irwin 1995b). As shown by Kleinnijenhuis & de Ridder (1998: 426-427), social security, defined as poor pensions for the elderly, became an issue in the election campaign.

The elections proved disastrous for the CDA. The party dropped from 35.3% of the votes to 22.2%. The PvdA also suffered as it dropped from 31.9% to 24%. However, it had managed to regain some of its strength compared to some of the opinion polls in the years before and it became the largest party in parliament. The winners, in terms of seats were VVD, D66 and two parties for the elderly, the latter winning 7 seats not least due to the AOW blunder of the CDA (Wolinetz 1995).

Purple governments: centrist policy without the CDA

The result of the 1994 election made the forming of a new government very complicated as both a CDA-PVdA and a CDA-VVD government would have to include the D66 to obtain a majority in parliament. In addition, the CDA was paralysed after the defeat. The outcome was a 'purple government', that is a government consisting of PVdA, VVD, and D66 (Wolinetz 1995).

In relation to welfare-state retrenchment, this government did not imply much change compared to the three Lubbers governments. The coalition agreement stressed the need to keep the number of claimants of social security down, as well as the need for sound public finances. The first purple government implemented several retrenchments: social-security benefits were frozen for 1995, eligibility for unemployment benefits was tightened, the pension supplement for old-age pensioners having a partner younger than 65 was abolished, and child allowances were cut back substantially. In addition, the organisational changes in workers' insurance were continued. The financing of the WAO was also partly changed and the AAW abolished. Finally, sickness benefits were almost completely privatised and a new social-assistance law introduced.

In general, the purple government tried to legitimise these changes by referring to the political goal of a more active society, that is higher labourmarket participation. Jobs, jobs, and more jobs became its motto. Sound public finances and fewer people on social security achieved through retrenchments and institutional changes were argued to be necessary to obtain this goal (Keesings Historisch Archief, September 1994). The opposition policy of the CDA towards the purple government was somewhat mixed. The party was in shock after the 1994 election and had no experience with the role as opposition party. Furthermore, the party changed leadership two times before the 1998 election (Irwin & van Holstevn 1999). The fact can be added to this that the purple government very much continued the policy of CDA-dominated governments, which made it difficult for the party to launch a frontal attack on the purple government. Nevertheless, the party did try to strengthen its social profile by opposing the cuts in the old-age pension and child allowances (Keesings Historisch Archeif, September 1994: 605-606).

The election campaign in 1998 proved very peaceful. The government had indicated that it wanted to continue to govern together, thus taking any potential excitement out of the election (Anker 1998; Aarts & Semetko 1999; Irwin & Holsteyn 1999). The CDA election programme emphasised improvements of social security and family policy, and the party moved to the left in relation to socio-economic policy (CDA 1998; de Vries 1999). However, the party still found it difficult to organise a firm opposition (van der Brug 1999). The result of the elections was gains for the government, yet only for the PvdA and VVD, and further losses for the CDA. The purple government and its socio-economic policy could continue (Irwin 1999).

The purple governments constitute a break from the pivotal position of the CDA in Dutch politics and are the first government since the introduction of universal suffrage in 1918 without Christian democratic participation (Irwin 1995a). However, they are in two ways also very much the result of the pivotal role of the CDA in the Netherlands. First, the need of both the PVdA and VVD to accommodate the position of the CDA has drawn these two parties, especially the PvdA, towards the centre and thus close enough to accept co-governance. As argued by Pennings (1999), all Dutch parties have become more or less centre parties, thus making a government without the CDA possible. Second, for both the PvdA and the VVD, a motive behind the forming of the government was probably also a strategic interest in a government without the CDA. This would undermine the pivotal role of the CDA and strengthen the strategic position of both the PvdA and VVD. Altogether, the purple governments are more than anything 'governing from the centre', and evidently. Dutch party competition has not been turned into a bloc system. Therefore, it is no surprise that the socio-economic policy of the purple governments has very much been a continuation of the policy of the Lubbers governments (cf. Hoogerwerf 1999).

The Dutch case - a general view

The formation of the second purple government provides a natural point in time to conclude the investigation of Dutch politics and welfare-state retrenchment. Before turning to the Danish case, it seems advantageous to ask what support can be found in the Dutch case for the theoretical propositions put forward in chapter 3. This question can be answered by answering a number of more narrow questions relating to the different hypotheses derived from the framework.

The first question is whether the Dutch case supports the idea of the politics of retrenchment as the politics of blame avoidance. It seems so. Welfarestate retrenchments in the Netherlands have been met with demonstrations, public protests, and the PvdA was punished severely for taking part in the wAO affair. The fate of the CDA together with entrance into parliament after the AOW blunder of two elderly parties is a textbook example of the implications of the 'new politics of the welfare state'. However, the Dutch case also shows how the first two Lubbers governments and the purple governments have been electorally quite successful conducting an austerity policy including welfare-state retrenchment. Electoral punishment is not an automatic reaction to retrenchment from the electorate.

The second question is whether the political parties try to avoid the potential blame for welfare-state retrenchment by applying a justification strategy of blame avoidance. The Dutch case supports this idea. At least it is evident that Dutch governments have constantly tried to justify retrenchments by referring to the economic need for such measures, and have said little if anything that could be perceived as an ideological attack on the welfare state. In the beginning of the period, the focus was mostly on the need to keep the costs of social security down. Later, retrenchments were justified by arguing that the number of claimants of social security had become an uncontrollable burden leading to an inactive society. The Dutch case also demonstrates how opposition parties, if left wing as the PvdA, argue that retrenchments are part of an attack on the basic principle of solidarity.

There is also evidence that Dutch governments were successful with their justification strategy. Based on agenda-setting research, Kleinnijenhuis & de Ridder (1998: 426-427, cf. also Kleinnijenhuis & Rietberg 1995) argue that 'rightist' issues such as economic management dominated Dutch politics from the beginning of the 1980's. The 1994 election, focussing on social security defined as poor pensions for the elderly, was a surprising break from the otherwise dominant issues in Dutch politics. The break was produced by the AOW blunder of the CDA. As Andeweg & Irwin conclude: 'Obviously, not all measures were popular and there has often been an attitude of 'why me?' and 'you first', but there has also been a general acceptance of the gravity of the situation.'

The third question is whether the success of Dutch governments in defining retrenchment as a matter of economic necessity can be explained by Dutch party competition. In part, the answer to this question is positive. As expected, the pivotal nature of Dutch party competition produced a convergence of the Dutch political parties on socio-economic policy. Placement of the Dutch political parties on a left-right scale based on their election programmes (Pennings 1999) clearly shows how they have converged on a centrist position. Furthermore, this conclusion is only strengthened by the fact that after 1994, the CDA, which embodied the centrist character of Dutch politics, has no longer been part of the government. However, the first Lubbers government was successful at justifying retrenchment as a matter of economic necessity at a time when the PvdA still constituted at least some opposition. The 'social image' of the CDA partly explains this. Yet, as explained above, probably more important was the situation of a state of crisis in the Dutch population due to the economic crisis. In this indirect sense, economics has played a role. The state of crisis in the Netherlands under the first Lubbers government also explains why the hypotheses derived in chapter 4, concerning variation over time in the Netherlands, were only partly confirmed. The state of crisis opened a 'window of opportunity' (Keeler 1993), allowing the first Lubbers government to implement much more retrenchment than expected on the basis of the theoretical framework presented in chapter 3. However, the fact that Dutch governments were able to continue the austerity policy after remedying the immediate economic crisis can only be explained by Dutch party competition.

Turning to variation across social-security schemes, the question is whether the Dutch case yields support for the argument in chapter 3, that such variation can be explained by the schemes' connection to the labour market shaping both government incentives to retrench and governments' capabilities of justifying retrenchment. Starting with the AOW, the relatively limited retrenchment seems explainable by the limited connection to the labour market. When the attention of the Dutch governments shifted from just cost-control to keeping the number of claimants down, the AOW was not discussed. The number of AOW pensioners is simply not a problem of inactivity in the same sense as the number of claimants of disability pension or unemployment benefits. Further, justifying retrenchment of the AOW was highly difficult. As Kleinnijenhuis & de Ridder (1998: 427) argue:

> These pensions (AOW), however, far from being perceived as ordinary social- security benefits for the work shy, were rather seen as personal savings for which decent people had worked hard throughout their lives.

As expressed by one of the politicians interviewed: 'There are two things you must not do in Dutch politics. One is to touch the AOW'. The punishment of the CDA for its AOW blunder only substantiates this statement.

The theoretical framework presented in chapter 3 also predicted that unemployment benefits would be retrenched more than disability pensions, a hypothesis that was not confirmed. The question now is whether the closer look at Dutch politics in relation to welfare-state retrenchment gives some indication in explaining the extent of retrenchment in the disability-pension schemes. The extreme character of the Dutch disability pensions does provide some indication. Many welfare states have suffered a hidden unemployment problem, in the sense that economic troubles lead to more claimants in a number of social-security schemes other than just unemployment benefits. In the Netherlands, this problem has been very much concentrated in the disability-pension schemes. The number of claimants of disability pension relative to the labour force is much higher in the Netherlands than in other countries, including Denmark (van der Veen & Trommel 1999: 293).⁹ The extreme character of the Dutch disability-pension scheme implies that they are in fact much stronger connected to the labour market than one should expect from a disability-pension scheme. This provided Dutch governments with incentives to retrench these schemes dramatically, and it also provided them with very good arguments as to why unusual measures were necessary. Lubbers' famous declaration that 'the Netherlands is sick' exemplifies this aspect. The schemes were simply an obvious policy failure.

Summing up, a closer look at the Dutch case does offer at least some evidence that the relative success of the theoretical framework presented in chapter 3 in predicting variation in retrenchment is not purely accidental. In general, it seems that the hypotheses developed in this study matched the actual variation in retrenchment for the reasons outlined in chapter 3. Blame avoidance, justification strategies, party competition, and connection to the labour market are important aspects if the aim is to understand Dutch politics and retrenchment. In addition, this chapter also provided some indications as to why the theoretical framework in some instances was not successful in predicting variation in retrenchment. The state of crisis in the early 1980's and the unusual character of the Dutch disability-pension schemes are important additional factors for a full understanding of the subject.

7 Danish politics and welfare-state retrenchment: The difficulties of a right-wing government and the possibilities of a left-wing government

This chapter aims to draw a Danish parallel to the Dutch case study of the previous chapter. The chapter begins with a short section on Danish politics and the welfare state in the years preceding 1982, especially the period 1973 to 1982. A second section explores the period of right-wing rule from 1982 to 1993. The third section addresses the period of social democratic-led governments from 1993 to 1998. Finally, some general conclusions are given about the Danish case.¹

Landslide election and fumbling socio-economic policy

Danish politics have historically been dominated by a left wing and a rightwing bloc. The former has largely been identical to the Social Democratic Party (Socialdemokratiet). The latter consists of the Conservative Party (Det Konservative Folkeparti) and the Liberals (Venstre), an agrarian party gradually transformed into a liberal party. The Social Liberals (Det Radikale Venstre) held the balance of power and hence decided which bloc should govern the country. For the first three post-war decades, primarily the Social Democrats were in power. At times, the Social Democrats ruled in majority governments including the Social Liberals, and at other times they formed single-party minority governments (Pedersen 1987; Damgaard 1992; Christensen 2000). The only major change to this pattern before 1973 was the establishment of the non-communist, moderate left-wing party, the Socialist People's Party (Socialistisk Folkeparti, SF), and its entrance into parliament in 1960. During the two periods 1966-1968 and 1971-1973, the Social Democrats were able to rely on the support from SF. The Social Liberals then chose to support the right-wing bloc (op. cit.).

The 1973 election changed this situation as a number of new parties gained seats in parliament, among which the largest one was the right-wing Progress Party (*Fremskridtspartiet*) gaining around 16% of the votes. Among the other newcomers were two centre parties, the Centre Democrats (*Centrumdemokaterne*, CD) and the Christian People's Party (*Kristeligt Folkeparti*). In addition, the Communist Party (*Danmarks Kommunistiske*)

Parti) and the Justice Party (Retsforbundet) regained representation (Pedersen 1988). The 1973 earthquake election did not change the bloc nature of Danish party competition, yet it complicated Danish politics. Both the effective number of parties (Christensen 2000) and the number of relevant parties (Bille 1989) increased significantly, and the party system after 1973 was thus more fractionalised and more polarised. For both blocs, forming a working majority now demanded inclusion of more parties, some of which were extremist (Pedersen 1988; Bille 1989; Christensen 2000). One result was that minority governments without stable support became the prevalent government form instead of either majority governments or minority governments with stable support (Damgaard 1997). After the earthquake election, the Liberals formed a very weak minority government lasting only for about a year (Elklit 1999). The subsequent election resulted in a social democratic minority government and, with one exception, social democratic minority governments ruled Denmark until 1982. The social democratic liberal government from 1978 to 1979 was the exception and was a break from the bloc nature of Danish party competition. This government was, however, short-lived and not very successful (Damgaard 1989).

Parallel to the Netherlands, Denmark was severely struck by the first oil crisis (cf. table 3). Rising inflation was the most immediate effect of the oil crisis to which the liberal government responded with deflationary measures (Nannestad 1991: 142-147). Towards the end of 1974, it became clear that the Danish economy was moving into a recession. The response of both the liberal government and its social democratic successor was an expansive fiscal policy (op. cit.: 148-168). Thus, the expansive reform of social security known as 'the social-security reform' (socialreformen) initiated before the first oil crisis (Petersen 1998), could be terminated by introducing a new social-assistance scheme (bistandsloven). The expansive fiscal policy benefited the growth of the economy, which was 6.5% in 1976. Yet, unemployment did not come down and the negative effect of the policy was a sky rocketing current account deficit (cf. table 3). As a response, the social democratic and the social democratic liberal governments tried to implement a 'demand twist policy'. The essence of this policy was to replace import-heavy private consumption with employment-creating public consumption. A strategy to fight unemployment was also to improve exit possibilities from the labour market. The social democratic liberal government thus introduced the early-retirement benefit scheme (efterløn) in 1979. Yet, the 'demand twist' policy was not a success and the second oil crisis sent the Danish economy into the grip of an economic crisis (op. cit.: 170-174). As the Minister of Finance stated, the Danish economy moved towards 'the brink of the abyss' (Nannestad & Green-Pedersen forthcoming). The social democratic governments responded with a wavering fiscal policy and repeated devaluations of the Danish Krone.

Summing up, just as in the Netherlands, the period 1973 to 1982 was turbulent with regard to politics and macro-economic policy. The 1973 earthquake election did not change the bloc-nature of Danish party competition, yet it did complicate majority building in parliament significantly. This partly explains why Danish governments responded fumblingly to the macro-economic difficulties (Green-Pedersen 2001a). An additional reason was the difficulties of the Social Democrats with regard to the question of income policy. For the Social Democrats, gaining trade unions' acceptance of income policy had always been extremely difficult, but in the 1970's it proved impossible. The trade unions demanded economic democracy based on central wage-earner funds in return for income policy acceptance, a demand supported by no party other than the Social Democrats (Esping-Andersen 1985a; Nannestad 1991: 175-181, Green-Pedersen & van Kersbergen 2002).

As its predecessors, the social democratic government following the 1981 election had difficulties in working out a coherent plan for action to combat the macro-economic difficulties. In the summer of 1982, it tried to gain political support for new measures; most importantly a tax on the interest gains from private pensions. This initiative failed and the government stepped down. By that time, the Social Liberals had lost faith in the Social Democrats and chose to support the right-wing bloc. Hence, the leader of the Conservative Party, Poul Schlüter, was able to form a minority government in September 1982 known as 'the four-leaf-clover government', consisting of his own party, the Liberals, CD, and the Christian's People's Party (Damgaard 1989).

Right-wing governments and the difficulties of welfare-state retrenchment

The new government's first action was to declare the end of devaluations, thus effectively pegging the Danish Krone to the German Mark. It also launched a 'surprise check' on the Danish economy (Avisårbogen 1982: 103) allegedly revealing that the economic situation was worse than expected. As a consequence, the government launched a number of austerity measures to bring down inflation, reduce the public deficit, and improve foreign competitiveness. The most significant measures were first a suspension of the price indexation of wages (*dyrtidsregulering*). Second, was an introduction of tax on the interest gains of private pensions; exactly the measure that had been the stumbling bloc of the former social democratic government. Third, was a number of cuts in public expenditure including social security. The most conspicuous were the introduction of a waiting day in sickness benefits, a lowering of the benefit level in sickness, unemployment, and early-retirement benefits from 90 to 80% of former wage, and a number of cuts in social assistance (Folketinget, *Folketingstidende* FF 1982-1983: 6-60).

As a minority government, negotiations with other parties to pass proposals in parliament were unavoidable. The Social Liberals and the Progress Party, which effectively constituted the governments' parliamentary-base, supported the main elements of the proposals hence passed in parliament (Jyllands-Posten, October 6, 1982; Politiken, October 6, 1982). Yet, as a concession to the Social Liberals, the proposed cuts in social security were changed. Benefit levels in sickness-, unemployment-, and early-retirement benefits were not curtailed from 90 to 80% of former wage, but instead more or less frozen for $2\frac{1}{2}$ years with basically the same effect (Jyllands-Posten, October 12, 14 and 16, 1982).

Compared to the first Lubbers government in the Netherlands, the government justified its policies along identical lines. It referred to Denmark's dire economic situation at that time and the concomitant need for strong measures. Its policy measures were presented as a 'crisis solution' (Jyllands-Posten, October 5, 1982), and in his speech at the opening of parliament, Prime Minister Schlüter declared that '1983 will be exceptionally demanding on everyone in Danish society' (Folketinget, Folketingstidende FF 1982-1983: 14). The parliamentary speaker of the Liberals also declared that: 'it is actually a thankless task to obtain government power at a point where the economic situation has been driven so far out...' (op. cit.: 128). The new government also tried to distance itself from the preceding years of 'fumbling policy' and to argue that it was the mistakes of its (social democratic) predecessors that made the various measures necessary. The parliamentary speaker of the Conservatives spoke of 'a change of economic course' (Folketinget, Folketingstidende FF 1982-1983: 122), and the government labelled its policy a 'restoration policy' (Avisårbogen 1983: 127). The 'surprise check' was meant to demonstrate to the public that the social democratic governments had left the country in an even worse economic situation than first expected. In addition, the Schlüter government launched a new approach to the social partners (Damgaard 1989). For example, the government did not negotiate with the social partners when it largely abolished automatic-wage indexation (Jyllands-Posten, October 6, 1982). The trade unions responded by organising demonstrations and a number of strikes (Jyllands-Posten, October 9 and 14, 1982; Politiken, October 9, 14-16, and 26, 1982).

The new government also tried to present itself as a socially responsible government. The Prime Minister declared in the opening speech that

The government will stress that people who obviously cannot take care of themselves will not be affected. Not least, the government will show consideration towards the elderly (Folketinget, *Folketingstidende* FF 1982-1983: 13).

In accordance with this statement, the social pensions, old-age and disability pensions, were not frozen. Finally, it tried to argue that it in fact was trying to save the Danish welfare state. As claimed by the parliamentary speaker of the Conservatives:

> Someone already said ... that the cutbacks in the social-security budgets will destroy the welfare society, but in fact the opposite is the case. If we do not clear away the problems, which everyone admits exist in our social-security system, we will not be able to afford this system in the future... (Folketinget, *Folketingstidende* FF 1982-1983: 126).

Thus, just as the Dutch Lubbers government, the Danish Schlüter government tried to present itself as a government that, due to the economic crisis, had to be harsh and could not allow more fumbling, but would also be a government aiming at social fairness.

Generally, the Social Democrats fiercely opposed the new government's austerity policy. They showed little willingness to compromise and voted against the austerity measures, except the tax on the interest gains of private pensions. One of the leading Social Democrats said that the policy 'looked like a declaration of war' (Jyllands-Posten, October 6, 1982), and the Social Democrats, in collaboration with the trade unions, portrayed the policy as anti-social and a clamp down against the weakest in society (cf. Jyllands-Posten, October 6 and 8, 1982; Politiken, October 8, 1982). During the parliamentary readings of the freeze of a number of social-security schemes, the speaker from the Social Democrats declared that: 'among all the disagreeable encroachments and cutbacks against wage-earner families and ordinary people, this bill is the toughest and most outrageous' (Folketinget, *Folketingstidende* B 1982-1983: 92). During one of the demonstrations

against the government, a union leader also declared that the cutbacks in social security 'had bombed Danish wage-earners back to the time before the social-security reforms of the 1930's' (Politiken, October 26, 1982). The alternative policy suggestions of the Social Democrats were labelled 'the solidaristic way' and strongly emphasised the need for 'social restoration' (Socialdemokratiet i Danmark 1983).

In the autumn of 1983, the government received support from the Social Liberals and the Progress Party for another economic package. The contents of this package were tax increases, but also improvements on the social security front. Maternity leave was improved and a temporary child-allowance for all children younger than 10 was introduced. In the summer of 1983, the new and more generous disability-pension scheme had already been passed in parliament.

The failure to obtain parliamentary support for its 1984 budget brought the government down in the autumn of 1983. The reason was that the Progress Party, as a matter of principle, voted against the budget and the Social Democrats then saw a chance to bring down the government (Christiansen 1994). Yet, at that time, an election was not really a problem for the government as it had had strong support in opinion polls almost since it took office (Andersen 1995: 5).

The election campaign in 1984 was in many ways a recurrence of the fight between the government and the Social Democrats over defining the issue as either one of the painful but necessary cutbacks, or as one of a clampdown against the weakest in society. The mottos of the social democratic campaign were 'stop conservatism', and stop 'the right-wing wave'. The party re-emphasised that its alternative to conservatism was 'the solidaristic way', implying 'social restoration' (Socialdemokratiet i Danmark 1984). The parties in government, on the other hand, emphasised the positive results of their socio-economic policy and the Prime Minister promised no major cuts in social security in 1984 (Avisårbogen 1983: 164-170; 1984: 1-5; Borre 1984).

The election turned out to be a victory for the government as its share of the votes increased from 36.4 to 42.8%, mainly at the expense of the Progress Party. Nevertheless, the election implied an important improvement in the government's parliamentary situation. Proposals could now be passed with the support of only the Social Liberals (Borre 1984). The reason for the government's victory should be found in its economic policy and the voters' belief that the policy was necessary to combat Denmark's dire economic situation (Andersen 1991: 163-164; 1995: 5). Thus, it seems that the government had actually been successful in justifying the cutbacks as a matter of economic necessity.

As a consequence, we must explore how the government, despite the fierce opposition from the Social Democrats, apparently managed to justify its policy so successfully. The answer should probably be found in the effects of the economic crisis on public opinion. Survey data (Petersen *et al.* 1996) show that the economic crisis had created a 'crisis feeling' among the electorate, implying a willingness to accept otherwise unpopular measures. In other words, the economic crisis had made the electorate unusually susceptible to the government's arguments about economic necessity and in this way opened a window of opportunity (Keeler 1993) for welfare-state retrenchments.

In the Spring of 1984, the government continued its austerity policy with an agreement with the Social Liberals about a continuation of the suspension of the price indexation of wages and an extension of the more or less freeze of a number of social-security benefits until October 1986 (Jyllands-Posten, April 26, 1984). The Social Democrats once again protested strongly (Politiken, May 2-3, 1984). In the autumn of 1984, the government aimed at a retrenchment of unemployment benefits. As part of the budget agreement with the Social Liberals for 1985, the right to endless job offers was to be abolished, implying that the unemployed would lose their right to unemployment benefits after approximately five years of unemployment. The aim of this retrenchment was partly budgetary savings, but the government also argued that the unemployed the adequate job-seeking incentives (Finansministeriet 1984).

If the Social Democrats and the trade unions had strongly opposed the former retrenchments, they vehemently attacked this proposal. Another battle about social security broke out. The unions ran an advertising campaign in the major Danish newspapers against the proposal, and there was even talk of a general strike (Jyllands-Posten, October 27 and 31, 1984). This fierce debate made the government, and especially the Social Liberals, hesitate and modify the proposal. The rules about extended benefits were introduced in the bill (Jyllands-Posten, October 18; November 10-11, 1984; Politiken, October 13 and 19; November 10, 1984). This, however, by no means dampened the political debate. When the issue was debated in the labour market committee of parliament, the Social Democrats raised a long list of questions and continued to attack the government (Politiken, May 23, 1985). The government and the Social Liberals then decided to postpone the full implementation of the law for several years (Politiken, May 21, 1985).

The entire skirmish was very much a battle of issue-definition and justification. The government and the Social Liberals fought hard to define the issue as a matter of improving educational offers for the claimants and avoiding the client state. As the speaker of the Social Liberals put it: '...we are some in this room who believe that it is a good idea to train long-term unemployed. This is what this piece of legislation is about.' (Folketinget, *Folketingstidende* FF 1984-1985: 11335-11336, cf. also Jyllands-Posten, October 15, 1984; Politiken, October 23, 1984). In contrast, the left-wing parties backed by the trade unions tried to define the issue as a matter of anti-social cutbacks. The speaker of the Social Democrats called this 'an extremely malicious, vile, and miserable piece of legislation against the weakest on the labour market.' (Folketinget, *Folketingstidende* FF 1984-1985: 4426). A trade-union leader also invented the well-known image in Danish politics of 'people sliding into social mass-graves' (Jyllands-Posten, October 13, 1984).

In many ways, this partly failed retrenchment of unemployment was the turning point for the right-wing governments. A number of social-security improvements took place up to the following election in 1987. In the spring of 1985, the government reached broad political agreement, that is including social democratic support, on a tax reform. As part of this reform, a universal child-allowance was reintroduced in the form of the very generous child-family allowance. A number of other improvements and reversals of cutbacks also took place: The waiting day in sickness benefits was abolished; sickness benefits, unemployment benefits, and early-retirement benefits were indexed again; the effects of the new rules concerning the duration of unemployment benefits were postponed; social assistance became more generous; and the old-age pension was improved twice.²

The reason for the change should be found in the issue of justification and voters' attitudes. As Tables 4 and 5 display, the Danish economy improved significantly through 1984 and 1985, except for the current account (cf. also Nannestad & Green-Pedersen forthcoming). With the improvement of the macro-economic situation, the government's justification for its retrenchment measures disappeared. It became clear that the Social Democrats' vehement attacks on the austerity policy had in fact had an effect on the electorate. As shown by Andersen (1988: 149-154), the government had acquired an anti-social image in the sense that a majority of the voters found that the cutbacks had gone too far and had been unfairly distributed. The support for the government and its austerity policy had been very much contingent on the economic crisis (cf. also Andersen 1991). Once this was gone, the government found itself very much on the defensive in relation to the welfare state. This became very clear in the autumn of 1985, when the parties in government lost local elections. The Conservatives even had sur-

veys carried out conveying the message of the anti-social image (Andersen 1988: 153).

As already indicated, the Social Democrats actually intensified their strong opposition policy after the 1984 election. The party now started to deliberate more openly about a government either including SF or based on support from the party (Avisårbogen 1985: 66, 142). The reason for this should be found in the question of vote- and office seeking. Before the 1984 election, the Social Democrats probably hoped that the four-leaf-clover government could not survive, since it needed support from both the Social Liberals and the Progress Party. This could have forced the Social Liberals to support the Social Democrats again, a move that would had been complicated if the Social Democrats had tied themselves too closely to SF. As a consequence, the Social Democrats had to moderate their opposition policy slightly before 1984 by not tying themselves too closely to SF. After the 1984 election, it became perfectly clear that a return to power within the foreseeable future would only be possible if the Social Democrats won a majority with sF. Thus, the Social Democrats sharpened their opposition policv even further.

The 1987 election campaign was very much a recurrence of the clash between the two blocs over socio-economic policy (Bille 1992: 8). The Social Democrats ran an election campaign under the motto of 'Denmark for the entire population', thus indicating that the right-wing policies had privileged certain groups in society. The party also continued to emphasise that on return to power, it would implement a socially fair economic policy (Socialdemokratiet 1987). As the party's leader, Anker Jørgensen, put it:

> It is going to be a fight over whether we are going to have a welfare state or a society where everyone has to take care of oneself (Avisårbogen 1987: 74).

Finally, the Social Democrats re-emphasised their willingness to govern either with or based on the support of SF (Avisårbogen 1987: 73-80). This was actually the first time that the Social Democrats and SF discussed a government before an election (Bille 1992: 8). The government, on the other hand, campaigned for a continuation of its economic policy and tried to persuade the electorate that left-wing rule would imply the waste of macro-economic improvements since 1982. It also accused the Social Democrats of raising a bogy with regard to the welfare state and claimed that it had actually improved a number of social-security schemes (*op. cit.*; Bille 1998: 10-12).

The outcome of the election was a government defeat, losing 4.3% of the

votes and thus the possibility of ruling solely with the support of the Social Liberals (Borre 1988). However, with additional support from the Progress Party, the government could continue. As argued by Borre (1987), the election result was basically a return to normal Danish politics. The government support in the 1984 election had very much been the result of the economic crisis. As this had disappeared, so had the unusual support among the electorate for right-wing policies including retrenchment measures.

The first task of the new government was to gain parliamentary support for the 1988 budget. This was a difficult task due to the principal reservations of the Progress Party towards the budget and an unwillingness of the Social Liberals to negotiate with the Progress Party (Christiansen 1994; Bille 1998: 18-19). The government was, therefore, more or less forced into negotiations with the Social Democrats. The result was a compromise implying improvements of a number of social-security schemes. The new social democratic leader, Auken, coined these improvements 'the social democratic fingerprints.'

Less than a year after the latest election, a new election was called in May 1988 on the question of Denmark's foreign policy, and especially its NATO membership (Petersen 1989). The election itself did not change much. Yet, lengthy negotiations changed the government composition to include the Social Liberals instead of CD and the Christian People's Party (Jespersen 1989). This government became known as the KVR government.

One of the first actions of the new government was to negotiate an agreement with the Progress Party on agricultural policy. Thereby, the government signalled a willingness to make use of the non-socialist majority (Damgaard & Svensson 1989: 742-743; Bille 1998: 36), and avoid being forced into costly agreements with the Social Democrats such as the budget agreement for 1988. The government passed the major part of the 1989 budget with support from the non-socialist majority (Jyllands-Posten, December 9-10, 1988; Politiken, December 10, 1988), except for proposed retrenchments of unemployment benefits. Apparently, some support from the non-socialist majority could be obtained (Jyllands-Posten, November 26-27, 1988), but in the end, the government chose to make an agreement with the Social Democrats implying the abolishment of almost all the proposed retrenchments. The motive was seemingly the fear of a major battle with the Social Democrats and the trade unions over the issue (*op. cit.*; Jyllands-Posten, December 10, 1988).

The year 1989 was characterised by the launching of great plans for action on socio-economic policy from both the government and the Social Democrats. The focus in both plans was on tax reform. In addition, the government wanted a reform of unemployment benefits, including some retrenchments, but with the main focus on a change in the financing of the scheme (Jyllands-Posten, May 25-27, 1989; Politiken, May 25-27, 1989). An implementation of the plan with the non-socialist majority was not ruled out, yet the government clearly aimed at reaching agreement with the Social Democrats (Bille 1998: 61-62). Negotiations went on into the autumn of 1989, but eventually broke down in October. Finally, the government made an agreement with the Progress Party about the 1990 budget.³ Little, however, was left of the government's 'great plan' including the retrenchment measures (Bille 1998: 69-72).

In the autumn of 1990, the government once more tried to reach an agreement with the Social Democrats on socio-economic policy, this time with a focus solely on tax reform. With the failure to reach an agreement, the Prime Minister called an election to obtain public support for the government's proposal, which included tax relief (Bille 1998: 89-91).

Altogether, the KVR government period was one of political stalemate with regard to social security and socio-economic policy in general. The government based its rule on the support of the non-socialist majority and passed most of its budget agreements with this majority. Nevertheless, when it came to political, controversial issues such as tax reform and welfare-state retrenchments in particular, the government wanted the support of the Social Democrats. They, however, had no incentive to compromise on, for instance, retrenchments.

The 1990 election campaign was not interesting, as the electorate was unimpressed by the promised tax reductions (Borre 1991; Nielsen 1992). The Social Democrats changed their tactics somewhat compared to the prior elections. They declared a preference for a broad-coalition government with one or several right-wing parties. Yet, they were still willing to rule based on support from sF (Avisårbogen 1990: 97; Nielsen 1992). The Social Democrats also tried to present themselves as a responsible party in terms of macro-economic policy (Borre 1991). Still, there was no sign that the Social Democrats would accept welfare-state retrenchments (Avisårbogen 1990: 94-100). The government parties campaigned for a continuation of right-wing rule, and both the Liberals and the Conservatives in reality denounced the social democratic suggestion of a broad government (Avisårbogen 1990: 97; Nielsen 1992).

The outcome of the election was a major victory for the Social Democrats, increasing their share of the votes from 29.8% to 37.4%. However, a large part of these votes were taken from sF. The political balance in the Danish parliament was unchanged as the non-socialist bloc continued to hold a ma-

jority of the seats. Thus, the right-wing government could continue. The Social Liberals had, however, lost 3 out of their 10 seats and chose to withdraw from government (Borre 1991), which was then renamed the 'KV government'.

In relation to the welfare state, the focus of the KV government was also on reconstructing and retrenching unemployment benefits. In line with the preceding period, the government tried to reach an agreement with the Social Democrats. In the spring of 1991, the two parties negotiated about a change of the financing of the scheme in the direction of increased employer and employee contributions. The idea was to make the social partners focus on keeping down unemployment, for instance, through wage restraint (Jyllands-Posten, January 16, 1991; Politiken, January 16, 1991). Ultimately, an agreement could not be reached (Jyllands-Posten, May 18, 1991; Politiken, May 18, 1991, cf. also chapter 6). The focus of the government on achieving agreement with the Social Democrats on a reform of unemployment benefits did not, however, imply a general unwillingness of the government to use the non-socialist majority in parliament. In the spring of 1991, this majority passed the first change of the organisational structure of the disability pension, implying incentives for the municipalities to keep down the number of awarded disability pensions (Folketinget, Folketingstidende FF 1990-1991: 2. Session, 7199-7207).

In the autumn of 1991, the government tried again for a more comprehensive reform of both unemployment benefits and early-retirement benefits including significant retrenchments (Folketinget, Folketingstidende A 1991-1992: 334-352, 362-378). Once more the government aimed at an agreement with the Social Democrats, yet not precluding that it would try to use the non-socialist majority (Politiken, October 2, 1991). The latter possibility, however, quickly turned out to be non-existent as CD, who were trying to capture a middle position in Danish politics, denounced all major retrenchments (Politiken, October 10, 1991; Bille 1998: 114). Eventually, the government and the Social Democrats were able to reach an agreement over the 1992 budget abolishing the proposed retrenchments of unemployment benefits and early-retirement benefits (Jyllands-Posten, December 6, 1991; Politiken, December 6, 1991). Instead, the parties agreed to set up a committee, the 'Zeuthen committee', with representatives from the social partners and experts to investigate the possibilities of a reform of unemployment benefits (Jyllands-Posten, January 23, 1992).

The year 1992 was dominated by a number of other political events pushing social-security reforms to the background. In April, the Social Democrats dramatically changed leadership from Svend Auken to Poul Nyrup Rasmussen, and in June 1992, the electorate voted 'no' to the Maastricht Treaty. Finally, in the autumn, the focus in Danish politics shifted to the 'Tamil case', a scandal over the administration of asylum seekers compromising several prominent members of the Conservatives, including the Prime Minister. The conclusions of the committee, which had been set up to investigate the case, were very critical towards all the conservative politicians causing the government to step down. The three small centre parties then changed sides. Consequently, the Social Democrats could form a majority government with these parties under the leadership of Nyrup Rasmussen. This marked the end of more than 10 years of right-wing rule in Denmark (Bille 1998: 120-152).

Summing up on the period of right-wing rule in Denmark, it illustrates the weakness of a right-wing government in relation to welfare-state retrenchment in many ways. When disregarding the period 1982 to 1984, when an immediate economic crisis opened a window of opportunity for retrenchment measures, the right-wing government's were never able to justify retrenchments as being an economic necessity. They found themselves quite vulnerable to attacks from the left on the question of social fairness. Hence, open confrontation with the Social Democrats over retrenchments was too risky. Retrenchments could only be pursued if a consensus could be established with the Social Democrats. A number of times, the governments tried unsuccessfully to establish such a consensus, especially on a reform of unemployment benefits. The right-wing governments had to rely instead on a combination of improved social-security benefits for groups such as pensioners and families with children, and on more indirect ways of improving public budgets such as increased taxes and pushing fiscal problems on to local governments (Green-Pedersen 1999).

A consensus on welfare-state retrenchment never emerged since the Social Democrats had no incentive to abandon the electorally, very rewarding welfare-state issue. Through nearly the entire period, the only realistic office-seeking strategy of the Social Democrats was winning a majority with sF. After the 1990 election when the Social Liberals withdrew from government and CD tried to capture the centre position, the Social Democrats had some incentive to please the small centre parties as a change of sides then became realistic. As a consequence, the Social Democrats modified their opposition policy, mainly through agreements with the government over the 1992 and 1993 budgets. However, pleasing the small centre parties did not necessitate a more fundamental change of course, implying acceptance of retrenchment measures. Such a change was to come later.

The new government launched its socio-economic policy under the motto of 'new course towards better times' (Statsministeriet 1993). It had two main elements; a tax reform and a labour market reform. The general aim was to kick-start the Danish economy, which had been in recession since around 1988 (Nannestad & Green-Pedersen forthcoming). Therefore, the tax reform, which generally lowered personal income taxes and instead introduced a wide range of green taxes, was designed to be expansive during the first years, but revenue was neutral in the long run.⁴ The labour-market reform, which partly followed the recommendations of the 'Zeuthen committee', was an attempt to increase the focus on active labour-market policies. The most conspicuous parts of this reform were probably the introduction of three leave-schemes, sabbatical, educational, and child-minding leave and the extension of the so-called transitional allowance to cover the 50-55 year olds as well (Loftager & Madsen 1997).

The government used its majority to pass the proposals without major changes in the spring of 1993. Both the Liberals and the Conservatives voted against the reforms and attacked the new government, even though the main elements in especially the tax reform were close to what the last Schlüter government had wanted (Jyllands-Posten, June 17-18 and 25, 1993; Politiken, June 19 and 24-25, 1993). In general, the opposition strategy of the two major right-wing parties, especially that of the Liberals which was becoming the larger of the two in opinion polls, was to emphasise their right-wing profile and to be more open towards a cooperation with the Progress Party. The reason for this move was the government participation of the small centre parties. This implied that the Liberals and the Conservatives could only regain power if they won a majority with the Progress Party, which according to opinion polls was a real option (Bille 1998: 156-184).

In September 1994, elections were called again. The campaign had no specific theme other than a battle between two alternative governments; on the one hand, the social democratic-led government and, on the other hand, a liberal-conservative government supported by the Progress Party (Borre & Andersen 1997: 86-87). The election resulted in a government loss of majority because the Christian People's Party did not gain representation and CD and the Social Democrats lost significantly. However, despite strong gains for the Liberals, the government alternative was far from obtaining a majority, and the government could continue as a minority government without the Christian People's Party (Bille 1998: 188-194).

For the first social democratic-led government, the period prior to the

1994 election had been very much dominated by the fact that it had to face voters less than two years after coming into power. In other words, it had to deliver positive results quickly. This was undoubtedly the driving force behind the tax reform in 1993 (Nannestad & Green-Pedersen forthcoming). The government also very much emphasised its ambition for 'breaking the curve', that is bringing down unemployment, which had risen steadily since 1987 (Loftager & Madsen 1997: 135). After the 1994 election, the social democratic-led government had time for more controversial reforms such as retrenchment measures.

That it was in fact willing to engage in retrenchment became clear in the autumn of 1995. In connection with the budget negotiations for 1996, the government launched a second round of the labour-market reform containing retrenchments of unemployment benefits. In the proposal put before parliament in October 1995, the government suggested cuts in the benefits for young unemployed persons and a reduction in the duration of benefits to 5 years. In addition, it was suggested that entrance to the transitional allowance would be closed immediately. The aim of the retrenchments was not so much to save cash, but more to support the government's active labour-market policy. The retrenchments should provide the unemployed with greater job-seeking incentives and avoid long-term passivity (Folketinget, *Folketingstidende* A 1995-1996: 140-167).

In general, the second social democratic-led government based its support on both political blocs. However, as regards retrenchment of unemployment benefits, it was clear from the beginning that they had to be passed with support from the right-wing parties (Jyllands-Posten, October 5, 1995). As part of the negotiations with the Liberals and the Conservatives, the government quickly proved willing to tighten eligibility criteria as well (Jyllands-Posten, November 16, 1995), thus enabling an agreement with the Conservatives (Jyllands-Posten, November 30, 1995; Politiken, November 30, 1995). Apart from obtaining parliamentary support for the proposals, the government hence managed to separate the two major right-wing parties. The Liberals' motives for leaving the negotiations were mainly tactical and the party, therefore, chose to support the retrenchments in parliament (Jyllands-Posten, December 1, 1995). The social democratic-led government had then passed the first major retrenchment of social security in Denmark since 1984.

It is interesting to compare the discussions surrounding these retrenchments with the situation in the 1980's, when suggestions of retrenchments of unemployment benefits caused vehement protests from the trade unions. In 1995, the unions were not enthusiastic about the changes and some criticism of the government was voiced (Politiken, November 1, 1995). However, this time there were no demonstrations and seemingly, the unions had basically accepted the retrenchments (Politiken, October 3, 1995). Also in terms of justification, the situation surrounding this retrenchment was very different from the 1980's with the fierce debate about 'social mass-graves'. Unlike the right-wing governments in the 1980's, the government was now able to successfully link its proposals to its active labour-market policy and its general attempt to combat unemployment. The shortening of the duration of benefits was labelled 'an advance of the activation period', and the changes for the young unemployed were presented as an intensified effort to combat youth unemployment (Folketinget, Folketingstidende A 1995-1996: 152). During the final parliamentary debate about the bill (Folketinget, Folketingstidende FF 1995-1996: 2244-2321), only the leftwing parties tried unsuccessfully to challenge this justification by raising the issue of social fairness. The government and the right-wing parties continued to discuss the positive impact of these changes on unemployment and stressed the implied educational opportunities for the unemployed.

Tables 4 and 5 demonstrate that the Danish economy had, at that time, definitely moved out of the recession and the contours of a 'Danish miracle' were becoming visible (cf. Schwartz 2001a). In the period up to the subsequent election, a number of measures were passed aiming at curbing private consumption, mainly through increased indirect taxation (Bille 1998: 225-278). In relation to social security, a new social-assistance scheme was passed with broad political support in the spring of 1997. The scheme enhanced the 'active line' in social assistance (Plovsing 1998: 80) and implied further changes in the organisational structure of the disability pension, thus providing the municipalities with further incentives to limit the number of awarded disability pensions (Folketinget, *Folketingstidende* FF 1996-1997: 8301). As elections approached, it was clear that further welfare-state retrenchments had to wait until after the 1998 election.

Which political bloc would win government power was a much more open question in the 1998 election. The reason was that both CD and the Christian People's Party had been forced by their electorate to support the right-wing bloc again. The Christian People's Party had been voted out of parliament at the previous election, and CD had left the government by the end of 1996 to avoid sharing a similar fate. The focus in the beginning of the campaign was very much on new political issues such as refugees and immigrants, which did not favor the Social Democrats. The party then made a very successful effort in turning the campaign into a more traditional battle about social justice and redistribution. This change of focus was partly achieved by exploiting the question of the early-retirement scheme. The right-wing parties had argued that it should no longer be possible to enter the scheme at the age of 60, but first at the age of 62. In response, the Prime Minister issued a guarantee that a social democratic-led government would not retrench the scheme. The Social Democrats eventually turned the awaited losses into a small gain and with a very slim margin, the government managed to hold onto power (Bille 1998: 280-283).

The new government soon faced new challenges. It was clear that something had to be done about sky rocketing housing prices and the current account, which had gone into deficit again. In June, the government, therefore, intervened with a tax reform supported by the left-wing bloc that most importantly reduced the value of the right to deduct interest payments from taxable income (Bille 1998: 287-291). This caused a significant decline for the Social Democrats in opinion polls (Andersen 1999b).

Against this background, one might have expected the government to delay retrenchment measures. Yet, in the autumn of 1998, the government reached an agreement on the 1999 budget with most of the right-wing bloc, including the Liberals and the Conservatives, implying several welfare-state retrenchments (Finansministeriet 1998; Jyllands-Posten, November 26, 1998). The first was another retrenchment of unemployment benefits following the line from 1995. A committee of civil servants had produced a number of suggestions (Arbeidsministeriet 1998) that had then been negotiated with the social partners. They quickly reached agreement on the retrenchments that were then endorsed by the government and the right-wing parties as part of the budget agreement (Jyllands-Posten, September 30, 1998; October 1, 1998; Politiken, September 30, 1998; October 1, 1998). Fractions of the trade-union movement protested against the retrenchments, but protests soon died out (Jyllands-Posten, October 8-9, 1998; Politiken, October 3, 7, 9, and 10, 1998). The government was once more able to define the retrenchments as part of its active labour-market policy. A second retrenchment was a supplementary change in the financing of the disability pension, implying further incentives for the Danish municipalities to limit the number of awarded disability pensions. A third retrenchment implied a substantial cut in housing allowances. Finally, the budget agreement involved a major retrenchment of the early-retirement benefit scheme, which according to the government would become unsustainable in the future once the labour-market effect of the aging population materialised. However, the government justified its policy along two somewhat different lines. First, it reluctantly admitted that the changes were in fact retrenchments. For instance, it argued that the change of the pension age (cf. chapter

5) was in fact an improvement (Jyllands-Posten, November 27, 1998; Politiken, November 28, 1998). Second, it argued that by reaching an agreement with the right-wing bloc, it had in fact safeguarded the scheme by preventing the right-wing bloc from completely abolishing it in the future.

This reform was met by strong protests from segments of the trade unions, and the Social Democrats dropped to a low in opinion polls (Jyllands-Posten, November 28-29, 1998; Politiken, November 27-28 and 30, 1998). The government responded with concessions to the trade unions (Jyllands-Posten, December 8, 1998; Politiken, December 2 and 8, 1998) and the protests died out (Jyllands-Posten, December 7, 1998; Politiken, December 10, 1998). Yet, the Social Democrats were still very low in opinion polls. Even a public admission from the Prime Minister that he had not kept his promise from the election campaign did not improve social democratic opinion polls (Jyllands-Posten, December 14, 1998; Politiken, December 14 and 20, 1998). Most of the changes were not passed in parliament before the beginning of 1999, and the retrenchment continued to cause problems for the Social Democrats as the trade unions wanted more concessions. Towards the end of the entire controversy, the government became more offensive in its justification of the retrenchments. It continued to argue that in fact it had safeguarded the scheme but also stressed that the retrenchments were necessary to secure higher rates of labour-force participation from the 6o-65 year olds (Folketinget, Folketingstidende FF 1998-1999: 3873-3876).

Altogether, this period of social democratic rule in Denmark illustrates the possibilities of Social Democratic Parties in bloc systems exploiting a 'Nixon goes to China' logic. The period until 1994 was dominated by the government's short-time horizon due to the approaching election. Since then, social democratic-led governments have passed unemployment benefit and early-retirement benefit retrenchments, which were politically impossible for the right-wing governments due to the social democratic opposition. Once the Social Democrats showed willingness to pursue such retrenchment measures, a political consensus with the major right-wing parties was easily established. This opened up new possibilities of justification. For instance, limitation of the duration of unemployment benefits, which in the 1980's had been defined as an attempt to dump people into social massgraves, was now defined as active labour-market policy and thus part of the struggle against long-term inactivity.

From this perspective, why the retrenchment of the early-retirement scheme was tremendously problematic for the Danish Social Democrats, comparable to the problems of the PvdA in 1991, obviously calls for an explanation. The problem was not that the issue was defined as one of social fairness, but rather that the electorate had certainly not forgotten the promise of not retrenching the scheme declared by the Prime Minister during the election campaign. The electorate simply felt betrayed, resulting in a major drop in opinion polls for the Social Democrats (Andersen 1999b: 266-268). Even if Social Democratic Parties can exploit a 'Nixon goes to China' logic, consistency and trustworthiness are still important features in the eyes of the electorate.

The Danish case - a general view

As in the Dutch case study, it will be worthwhile concluding this chapter by asking a number of questions relating to different hypotheses derived from the framework in chapter 3. This should provide a basis for answering the more general question of whether the cases support the theoretical propositions put forward in chapter 3.

First, it seems relevant to ask whether the Danish case supports the idea of looking at retrenchment from the blame-avoidance perspective. In general, the answer is positive. Danish governments have been met with demonstrations, strikes, and strong protests to retrenchment proposals. Therefore, adopting a cautious strategy and demonstrating a willingness to modify retrenchment proposals were imperative. Yet, the Danish case suggests that governments are not automatically punished for retrenchments at the polls. The best example is the success of the first Schlüter government.

The second question relates to the role of justification strategies. The above analysis clearly indicates that governments try to justify retrenchments along the lines suggested in chapter 3. No Danish government ever agitated for retrenchments on the grounds of being against the basic idea of social solidarity. Not even the Schlüter governments in any way presented themselves as neo-liberal governments having welfare-state retrenchments as a goal *per se*. As did the social democratic-led governments, the Schlüter governments maintained the necessity of welfare-state retrenchments to safeguard the welfare state. Yet, the social democratic opposition strongly and successfully argued that hidden ideological motives were underlying the retrenchments.

The third question concerns whether the possibilities of Danish governments framing the welfare-state retrenchment issue are shaped by the strategies of the political parties. The answer is in part yes. Even when facing fierce social democratic opposition, the first Schlüter government was able to justify its retrenchment measures as an economic necessity due to considerable crisis-awareness among the electorate. However, for the rest of the period examined, the strategies of the political parties have been decisive. Once the immediate economic crisis disappeared, the social democratic-opposition strategy paid off, and the right-wing governments had to recognise their vulnerability with regard to the fairness issues. Hence, several improvements to social security were passed. For the rest of the period until 1993, the governments refrained from open confrontation with the Social Democrats over welfare-state retrenchments. In contrast, the social democratic-led governments have easily been able to achieve a consensus with the major right-wing parties on retrenchments.⁵

Turning to variation across social-security schemes, connection to the labour market has been an important factor in explaining why the old-age pension and the disability pensions have fared the best. Under the Schlüter governments, when cost-saving was the strongest motive for retrenchments, justifying retrenchments of the two schemes was difficult as exemplified by the justification from Schlüter in 1982 for not freezing the two schemes. Both are labelled 'social pensions', implying that they are benefits given to weak and deserving people who cannot help their own situation. The improvements to both schemes around 1987-1988 were also clearly justified as a matter of improving the conditions for very well deserving groups (cf. Folketinget, Folketingstidende FF 1986-1987: 12878-12886). The 1983 reform of the disability pension, which implied a significant rise in the number of pensioners, effectively connected the scheme much closer to the labour market. The scheme partially became an exit option from the labour market. When labour-market considerations under the social democratic-led governments then became the driving force for retrenchments, the disability-pension scheme came into focus along side with the early-retirement scheme and the unemployment-benefit scheme, which were prime targets for retrenchments aiming at improving the functioning of the labour market and increasing labour-force participation. As shown above, the retrenchments of especially unemployment benefits were also justified as an attempt to move people away from passive benefits.

In sum, a closer look at Danish politics does largely support the theoretical framework put forward in chapter 3. Apart from the first Schlüter government, Danish governments' willingness to implement welfare-state retrenchment does indeed seem to depend on their capabilities of achieving a political consensus allowing a justification of retrenchments without being seriously challenged. At the level of social-security schemes, connection to the labour market also seems to have been a crucial factor.

8 The evidence on balance and some quibbles

This chapter aims at two things. First, at briefly summarising the results of both parts of the empirical investigation. This will be done by discussing each of the six hypotheses developed in chapter 4. Second, a number of possible quibbles and alternative explanations will be discussed. Chapter 2 presented a number of theoretical propositions about variation in welfare-state retrenchment. The general aim of the research design was to be able to rule out such alternative explanations. However, this was as always only possible to some extent, leaving a number of plausible alternative explanations that deserve discussion.

The empirical support for the framework on balance

The first hypothesis was that there would be no sweeping retrenchment. Chapter 5 revealed support for this hypothesis with the qualification that defining 'sweeping' is difficult indeed. The underlying argument was the idea of the politics of retrenchment as one of blame avoidance. The Danish as well as the Dutch case supported this idea. In both countries, retrenchment proposals were met with demonstrations and protests. Several of the governments also experienced electoral punishment for retrenchment. However, both cases also demonstrated that governments are not necessarily punished for retrenchment.

The second of the six hypotheses suggested the implementation of more retrenchment in the Netherlands than in Denmark, based on the different systems of party competition. This hypothesis was confirmed in chapter 5 and chapter 7 showed that a consensus on retrenchment policy did in fact not emerge in Denmark until after the Social Democrats regained power in 1993. As long as they were in opposition, they had no incentive to give up their ownership of the welfare-state issue by engaging in welfare-state retrenchment. The Dutch case demonstrated how the PvdA was 'forced' to abandon its ownership of the welfare-state issue through the 1980's to be-

come an acceptable government partner for the CDA. Thus, it does seem that the different systems of party competition can explain the variation between the two cases. However, it goes without saying that the framework cannot explain all the details in the party competition surrounding retrenchment. In the Dutch case, the framework would have, for instance, predicted the PvdA to choose a centrist course more rapidly than the party in fact did, and it is also surprising that the CDA gave away part of its pivotal power when it declared the VVD its preferred government partner before the 1986 election.

The third hypothesis suggested that more retrenchment would be implemented in Denmark from 1993 to 1998 than from 1982 to 1993, due to the different party-colors of the governments. The pattern of retrenchment and the case study in chapter 7 corroborated this hypothesis. Nevertheless, as argued in chapter 5, significant retrenchments took place from 1982 to 1984. The reason was the one identified in chapter 7: The immediate economic crisis within the period had created a 'crisis feeling' among the public. This opened a 'window of opportunity' for welfare-state retrenchment, yet one that quickly closed again.

The fourth hypothesis implied that the Netherlands would experience more retrenchment from 1989 to 1994 than from 1994 to 1998, and more from 1994 to 1998 than from 1982 to 1989 due to the different party compositions of the governments. The actual pattern of retrenchment was somewhat different. The period 1982 to 1989 was the one experiencing the most, not the least, retrenchment. A closer look at the data, however, revealed that the surprising retrenchments were almost entirely concentrated in the period 1982 to 1985. When disregarding this period, that is the time of the first Lubbers government, the variation in retrenchment over time was as expected. Also in the Netherlands, the immediate economic crisis around 1982 created a crisis feeling among the electorate, opening a window of opportunity for retrenchment. Chapter 6 also revealed that the difference in degrees of retrenchment between 1986-1989 and 1989-1994 had to do with politics. The CDA was well aware that including the PvdA in the government would make retrenchment politically less risky. Therefore, plans to retrench the disability-pension schemes were postponed until after inclusion in the government of the PvdA. The final period 1994 to 1998, was predicted to fall in between the other two in terms of retrenchment because even though the PvdA formed part of the government, the CDA was now in opposition. This would make the 'purple government' politically more vulnerable in relation to retrenchment than a CDA-PvdA government. Chapter 6 did not establish full support for this argument. In opposition, the CDA did move to the left and tried to strengthen its social image. However, the impact of this strategy on the government remains unclear. The rather bad experiences of the PvdA with the WAO affair constituted an equally important factor for the somewhat more cautious course of the 'purple government' towards social security.

The fifth hypothesis concerned variation across schemes in the Netherlands. Unemployment benefits were expected to experience more retrenchment than disability pensions and old-age pensions. This only partly corresponded to the picture emerging in chapter 5. The old-age pension scheme was retrenched less than unemployment benefits, but the disability-pension schemes were retrenched more than unemployment benefits, not less. Nevertheless, chapter 6 showed that the schemes' connection to the labour market has been crucial in the Netherlands. The reason for the surprising retrenchment of the disability-pension schemes was that the very lenient administration of the rules concerning eligibility had turned them into de facto early-retirement schemes and thus connected them closely to the labour market.

The final hypothesis concerned variation across schemes in Denmark. Unemployment benefits and early-retirement benefits were expected to be subject to a larger retrenchment impact than disability pensions or old-age pensions. Chapter 5 found the pattern to be in accordance with this prediction. Chapter 7 further provided evidence for the importance of the connection to the labour market. Unemployment benefits and early-retirement benefits became prime targets for the retrenchments in the 1990's, which were driven by labour market considerations. Without being comparable to the Dutch scheme, the Danish disability-pension scheme also became more closely connected to the labour market after the 1983 reform, and thus also became a target for retrenchment in the 1990's.

On balance, the findings provide considerable support for the theoretical propositions presented in chapter 3. At the country level, the theoretical framework offers an explanation why more retrenchment was implemented in the Netherlands than in Denmark. In addition, if one 'controls for' economic crisis, the framework is capable of predicting the variation across time in the two countries. If this factor is controlled for, the Danish retrenchment pattern matches the hypothesis developed at the end of chapter 4 even better, and the pattern in the Netherlands corresponds to the expected one. However, the smaller extent of Dutch retrenchment from 1994 to 1998 then from 1989 to 1994, is probably not as much a function of the fear of the CDA in opposition as it is a function of the need for the PvdA to recuperate after the wAO affair. The framework was also quite successful at pre-

dicting variation across social-security schemes. The framework predicted a clear difference between schemes with little connection to the labour market and schemes closely connected to the labour market.

The conclusion that there is considerable empirical support for a theoretical framework is by itself not very interesting. After all, most theoretical arguments are capable of explaining some variation and few if any are capable of explaining every variation. A more relevant question in relation to the theoretical framework presented in this study is whether the framework is capable of explaining more than competing theoretical arguments. Even a theoretical argument that explains only little variation is a contribution to scientific knowledge if alternative arguments explain less variation. Along the same lines, a theoretical framework explaining considerable variation is hardly a step forward compared to a framework that explains every variation. Alternative explanations of the identified variation should therefore be discussed.

Alternative explanations

An endless number of alternative explanations will always exist and, therefore, selectively is necessary. Based on chapters 2 and 4, a number of obvious alternative explanations exist and these will be discussed in the following. Regarding the variation between the two countries, the role of the different 'political economies' and the role of minority vs. majority governments will be discussed. Concerning the variation across social-security schemes, the importance of the financing of the schemes, the organised interest attached to the schemes and the degree of universalism will be taken up.

Alternative explanations at the country level

As mentioned in chapter 4, the political economies of Denmark and the Netherlands differ. Denmark is an example of a social democratic political economy and the Netherlands is an example of a Christian democratic one, a difference that was easily identified by looking at female labour-force participation rates in the two countries. In chapter 2, the argument was further presented that Christian democratic political economies faced a specific 'welfare without work' or 'inactivity' problem. To this end, one would expect the Netherlands to have experienced more retrenchment than Denmark.

A discussion of this claim requires some further deliberations on the 'welfare without work problem', since it is unclear to what extent social-security retrenchments would solve the problem. In Continental Europe, there are two groups of 'inactive'. One is a large number of people of working age receiving social-security benefits and another comprises women of working age outside of the labour force. As regards the first group, the Netherlands certainly has a large number of people of working age receiving social-security benefits. But so has Denmark. The broad unemployment figures presented in chapter 4 did not show any major difference between the two countries. At least when compared to Denmark, the high number of people of working age receiving social-security benefits is not a particularly Dutch problem, apart from their being 'disabled' and being more concentrated in the age group 55-64 (cf. Scharpf & Schmidt 2000b: table A13).¹ The figures presented in chapter 4 proved the second group to be much larger in the Netherlands than in Denmark. However, it is not explicit how levels of female labour-force participation can be raised through social-security retrenchments as defined in this study. As suggested by Pierson (2001a), Continental European social-security schemes are in need of 'updating', or reforms of the type labelled 'restructuring reforms' in chapter 4. For instance, rules not favoring part-time work or married women working must be changed. However, it is difficult to imagine how, for instance, cuts in benefits would encourage female labour-force participation.

Actually, one may argue that low levels of female-male labour-force participation should result in less retrenchment; one of the effects of the aging population is a shrinking labour force. Apart from improving birth rates, there are basically two ways of solving this problem. One is to reduce the number of social-security claimants, and another is to increase female labour-force participation. For Nordic countries such as Denmark, the latter is hardly a possibility. The only solution is to reduce the number of people receiving social-security benefits, which was the main reason for the major retrenchment of the Danish early-retirement benefit scheme in 1998. In the Netherlands, the situation is in a way more positive. Female labourforce participation is rising, from 39.4% in 1982 to 62.2% in 1997 (Scharpf & Schmidt 2000b: table A.12), which in part solves the problem of a shrinking labour force. As a consequence, this reason for retrenching social-security schemes appears less credible in the Netherlands.

Another version of the 'welfare without work' problem of Continental Europe focusses on the employment unfriendliness of financing social security through social contributions instead of general taxation, as it is done in Denmark. This way of financing social security increases non-wage labour costs, which is particularly damaging for low-skilled workers. They cannot compensate for the higher non-wage costs by lowering wages because their wages cannot fall below the level of social-security benefits (Scharpf 1997; 2000c; Manow & Seils 2000). However, retrenching social-security schemes is not the only way to solve this problem. Changing the system of financing to favor low-paid workers seems more attractive for governments wanting to avoid blame and is exactly what Dutch governments have done (Hemerijck, Visser & Unger 2000). Thus in 1997, the tax-wedge on low earnings in the Netherlands was lower than in other Continental European political economies, and actually lower than in Denmark (Manow & Seils 2000: table 3).

In summary, the welfare without work problem in the Netherlands does not seem a plausible alternative explanation since it is unclear whether social-security retrenchments represent a response to this problem.² Together with the argument that the variation between the two countries cannot be explained by different degrees of macro-economic troubles, this could be seen as a refusal of any role of 'economics' in the retrenchment process. However, economics is not unimportant for retrenchment. First, the two case studies clearly illustrated how governments can implement otherwise politically impossible retrenchment measures once macro-economic difficulties turn into an immediate economic crisis. Second, chapter 3 claimed that the push factors towards retrenchment were economic. It is for economic reasons that governments are willing to retrench at all. However, this does not imply that retrenchment is simply a function of economics.

The second alternative explanation of the variation between the two countries is the existence of majority governments in the Netherlands vs. minority governments in Denmark. Based on what Strøm (1990b) presents as 'conventional wisdom' about minority governments, a plausible argument suggests that implementation of welfare-state retrenchment is considerably easier for a majority government. As opposed to minority governments, it is not necessary for majority governments to convince opposition parties to support potentially unpopular policies. In relation to the two cases studied here, little welfare-state retrenchment arguably took place in Denmark because the minority governments could not obtain parliamentary support for such measures. The question is whether empirical support can be provided for this argument.

An investigation of macro-economic policy in Denmark after 1973 (Green-Pedersen 2001a) does not support the conventional wisdom about minority governments being weak in terms of governing capacity. If one focusses solely on retrenchments, the social democratic minority governments after 1994 have also implemented several significant retrenchments. Consequently, an argument about weak minority governments must relate mainly to the period of right-wing governments. In chapter 7, the right-wing governments were claimed not to implement welfare-state retrenchments in order to avoid a confrontation with the Social Democrats on the issue. The argument about minority governments is that the right-wing governments would have liked to implement retrenchments, despite protests from the Social Democrats, but simply could not obtain the necessary parliamentary support.

Due to the opposition policy of the Social Democrats, the only way for the right-wing governments to obtain parliamentary support for welfare-state retrenchment was to gather support from the entire bloc of Non-Socialist Parties. This bloc of parties kept right-wing governments in office for more than 10 years. As revealed in chapter 7, the majority was somewhat unreliable because the Progress Party was weakened by internal disagreements, and the Social Liberals were not enthusiastic about striking deals with the Progress Party. This seems to corroborate the argument about minority governments wanting to implement retrenchments even in constellation with a strong social democratic opposition, yet being unable to gather parliamentary support.

The possibilities of passing legislation without the support of the Social Democrats varied considerably over the period of right-wing rule; so did the extent of retrenchment actually implemented. Based on the argument about minority governments, one should expect the patterns of variation to be related. The right-wing governments should have taken advantage of the situations where support from the entire non-socialist bloc to pass retrenchments was possible. The parliamentary situation of the right-wing governments was clearly the strongest from 1984 to 1987. This government was the only one in the period of right-wing rule that needed only one supporting party in parliament, namely the Social Liberals, and was hence only a 'formal minority government' (Strøm 1990b: 94-96). The KVR government from 1988 to 1990 was also quite strong because the Social Liberals were part of the government and because the Progress Party, despite strong internal conflicts, chose a compromising course. It gave up its principal reservation against supporting the budget. The other three governments were all weaker. If the governments from 1982 to 1984 and from 1987 to 1988 wanted to avoid compromising with the Social Democrats, they had to gather support from both the Social Liberals and from a not very compromising Progress Party. The KV government from 1990 to 1993 was weak because CD and, to some extent, also the Social Liberals made a left move and tried to distance themselves from the government.

However, the retrenchments that were actually implemented followed a somewhat different pattern. First, the period with the largest extent of retrenchment was from 1982 to 1984, when the parliamentary situation of the government was weak. Second, during the period 1984 to 1987, when the government's parliamentary situation was strong, there was a change of course towards social security and implementation of several improvements. Third, in the period 1988-1990, characterised by a strong parliamentary situation, no retrenchments were implemented. The government passed budgets with the support of the entire non-socialist bloc. However, when it came to retrenchment measures, the government wanted the support of the Social Democrats. Apparently, the only period supporting the argument about weak right-wing minority governments is from 1987 to 1988. During this period, the government was more or less forced to compromise with the Social Democrats. The result was an increase in most social-security benefits. Yet, it is important to note that the government had already given up its retrenchment policy before its parliamentary situation worsened after the 1987 election.

Altogether, the pattern of retrenchments under the right-wing governments can generally not be explained by their parliamentary situation. When their parliamentary situation was strong, they did not use it to implement retrenchments, and when it was weak they were actually capable of implementing retrenchments. Nevertheless, claiming that the parliamentary situation of the right-wing governments has been irrelevant would be wrong. As argued elsewhere (Green-Pedersen 1999), the parliamentary situation did in certain cases, the 1988 budget agreement is the best example, influence the right-wing governments' welfare-state policies. The argument here simply claims that the Danish right-wing governments being minority governments is not the most important reason for the small extent of retrenchments implemented. It was rather the opposition policy of the Social Democrats that, except for the period 1982-1984, made it electorally too risky.

The two most obvious alternative explanations for the variation between the two countries can thus not be supported upon closer scrutiny.³ Attention can then be turned to an alternative explanation of the variation across social-security schemes.

Alternative explanations of variation across social-security schemes

As laid out in chapter 2, a number of arguments about variation across social-security schemes focus on the financing of the schemes. One argument (Alber 1998) was that tax-financed schemes would be retrenched the most whereas another argument was that financing through employer contribution would make schemes vulnerable to retrenchment (Anderson 1998). However, the empirical material in this study does not show any clear connection between mode of financing and retrenchment. In Denmark, there was considerable variation across schemes even though all schemes were predominantly tax-financed. The fact that the Dutch old-age pension, to which employers do not contribute, suffered the least retrenchment compared to unemployment benefits and the disability pensions supports an argument claiming that schemes financed through social contributions from employers suffer the most retrenchment. However, the fact that the disability-pension schemes in the Netherlands have been retrenched more than unemployment benefits cannot be explained by this argument. As illustrated in chapter 5, employer contributions to the disability-pension schemes were completely abolished in 1990.4 Nevertheless, the major retrenchment was implemented in 1993. Altogether, there is little evidence in favor of arguments about the effects of different ways of financing social-security schemes.

The next factor deserving discussion is the different organised interests attached to the different schemes. How this argument fairs depends on which organised interests are in focus. The two schemes subject to the largest retrenchment impact in Denmark, unemployment benefits and early-retirement benefits were the exact two schemes involving trade unions in the administration. The same goes for the Netherlands. The only Dutch scheme studied that was not administered by the social partners, namely old-age pensions, is the scheme that fared the best. In other words, the involvement of social partners, especially trade unions, did not prove an effective shield against retrenchments. This is, however, not because trade unions have not fought against retrenchments. Chapter 6 showed that Dutch trade unions combated every retrenchment proposal. The Danish trade unions also vigorously combated every attempt at retrenchment from the right-wing governments. Their position towards the retrenchments implemented by their traditional ally, the Social Democrats, was more mixed. They tried to avoid too much open conflict, yet in several cases were forced into it by rank and file members.5

Social partners, especially trade unions, are however not the only organised interests in relation to social security. As claimed by Pierson (1994: 164-166), client groups such as organisations for the elderly have increasingly taken over the role of trade unions as defenders of the welfare state. This situation has arisen in Denmark and the Netherlands in connection with the schemes that are not directly supported by the trade unions. In Denmark, the organisation for the elderly 'Ældre Sagen' has developed into a large and well-funded pressure group. In relation to disability pensions, a client organisation called 'De Samvirkende Invalide Organisationer' also exists, which is, however, much less powerful in terms of members and resources. In the Netherlands, a number of organisations for the elderly exist. These organisations were most powerful when transforming into real political parties, two of which won seats in the 1994 election. Yet, not least due to internal disagreements, both parties lost representation in the 1998 election.

The question is whether the success of the old-age pension schemes and the Danish disability-pension scheme are the result of the existence of such organisations. Their actual influence is difficult to determine. They tend to exert their influence through the media and informal contacts and little, if any research in this field exists. A look at the success rate of the old-age pension schemes over the period does, however, not indicate that these organisations have been the decisive factor. In Denmark, 'Ældre Sagen' was formed in 1986 and even though the organisation made it into the Guinness Book of Records because of its rapid growth in members, its political strength is predominantly a phenomenon of the 1990's (Nielsen, V. 1996). However, the Danish old-age pension fared very well in the 1980's. In the Netherlands, the organisations for the elderly seriously entered the political stage by transforming into political parties, which gained seats in parliament in 1994. However, the Dutch old-age pension fared better than the other social-security schemes in the 1980's.

The third argument deserving discussion is the one laid out in chapter 2, that the more universal schemes are less vulnerable to retrenchment (Korpi 1980; Rothstein 2000). In other words, schemes benefiting large segments of the population are claimed to experience less retrenchment than schemes providing means-tested benefits for small segments of the population. As for the schemes studied here, none of them can be said to provide means-tested benefits to small segments of the population. However, the social-security schemes studied do vary in the size of the segments for which they provide benefits. Old-age pensions have almost the entire population as potential claimants. Hence, the fact that old-age pensions in both countries have fared the best supports the universalism argument. However, the argument is not at all successful in predicting variation across the other schemes. As for the Dutch case, the disability-pension schemes can be considered the second most inclusive schemes. The very lenient eligibility rules have turned the schemes into de facto early-retirement schemes for most of the population. This is reflected in the extraordinarily high number of claimants. Therefore, one should expect these schemes to have fared better, not worse, than unemployment benefits. As for the Danish case, one should have expected the disability-pension scheme to have fared the worst. This scheme is the one scheme studied here that comes the closest to the description of a means-tested scheme for a small segment of the population. Yet, it fared second to the old-age pension.

Altogether, the alternative theory of variation across social-security schemes finding the most empirical support is the argument about universalism. Such an argument can explain why old-age pension schemes have fared relatively well. It can, however, not explain the rest of the variation across social-security schemes.

Balance

Summing up on the entire discussion of alternative explanations, this discussion has indirectly supported the theoretical propositions put forward in chapter 3. No other theoretical argument has been found to explain the same level or more of the variation in retrenchment. Other arguments predicting more retrenchment in the Netherlands than in Denmark do exist. However, upon a closer look, none of them found much support. At the level of social-security schemes, the degree of universalism argument was the most supported alternative, also predicting old-age pensions to have suffered the least retrenchment. However, the theoretical framework of this study also offered an explanation as to why the disability-pension scheme in Denmark fared better than the unemployment benefit and early-retirement benefit schemes. In this way, the framework can be said to find slightly more empirical support than the universalism argument.

The conclusion that the theoretical framework presented in chapter 3 is the most successful in explaining the variation in retrenchment does not imply that other factors cannot contribute to the explanation of this variation. Obviously, if one wants to increase r², this could be done by including other factors. As argued above, the immediate economic crisis in both countries in the first half of the 1980's clearly represent a factor that would help explaining variation over time; a variation not fully accounted for by the framework presented in chapter 3. In relation to the Danish case, the parliamentary situation of the right-wing governments constitutes a parallel factor, yet not the most important one. At the level of social-security schemes, it is more difficult to see which factor should be included to increase r². None of the alternative theoretical arguments discussed were capable of explaining the variation, which could not be explained by the argument about labourmarket connection.

9 Party politics matter – summary and implications

This chapter starts with a brief summary of the main findings of the study. The rest of the chapter aims at discussing a number of implications of these findings at two levels. First, the implications for the scholarly debate about welfare-state retrenchment will be discussed. This includes a discussion of the prospects of generalising the insights of this study beyond the cases studied here. Second, the chapter will address the broader question about the political background for the economic 'miracles' in the two countries and the implications that this has for the debate about a country's ability to adjust their models of welfare capitalism to a changed economic environment, and the understanding of the dilemmas of European Social Democracy.

The main findings

The main finding of this study is evidently the importance of party politics for the development of modern welfare states. This study claims that a focus on Dutch and Danish party competition is a must if one wants to know why the Netherlands has generally carried through a larger scale of retrenchment than Denmark. The same goes for the variation over time in the two countries. One must consider how the Dutch pivot system of party competition produced a party consensus around retrenchment. This consensus allowed various Dutch coalition governments to justify retrenchment measures in the eyes of the electorate. One must also consider how, except for the years of economic crisis, the Danish bloc-system of party competition implied a political stalemate in relation to retrenchment during the right-wing bloc rule. However, once the Social Democrats regained power, a party consensus around retrenchment emerged.

If an understanding of the reasons for differences in the extent of retrenchment of the various social-security schemes is desired, the schemes' connection to the labour market must be considered. It affects governments' capabilities of justifying retrenchment measures in the eyes of the electorate as well as shapes government incentives for retrenchment. This factor explains why the old-age pension schemes in both countries fared the best in this period, and why the Danish disability-pension scheme fared better than both unemployment benefits and early-retirement benefits.

The implications for the retrenchment debate

These findings have implications for the retrenchment debate in three different, but of course related ways.

The first contribution is the theoretical argument about the importance of party politics for understanding variation in the scale of retrenchment. This should be seen in contrast to the strong focus within the retrenchment literature on economic and especially institutional factors. The claim that politics matter for the development of welfare states is of course hardly new. As stressed in chapter 2, 'politics matter' was the main conclusion from the extensive literature on the growth of the welfare state. Yet, the way in which politics are argued to matter for welfare-state development in this study clearly differentiates from the traditional 'politics matter' claims. The latter claim implies that retrenchment should be explained by strong right-wing parties versus weak left-wing parties (cf. Borchert 1995; Korpi & Palme 2001; Hicks 2000: chap 7). The conclusion of this study tends in the opposite direction; but politics still matter.

Other scholars have in two different ways stressed the importance of politics for welfare-state retrenchment as well. On the one hand, both Cox (2001) and Schmidt (2002) stress the importance of political discourse and argumentation for the process of reforming welfare states. Ross (2000a) and Kitschelt (2001) on the other hand, have drawn attention to the importance of questions of issue-ownership and party competition. In a way, this study tries to combine elements from these different arguments into a theoretical framework. The study hypothesises that to explain variation in welfare-state retrenchment, two things must be considered: first, government strategies to justify retrenchment measures. This is where the theoretical framework connects to ideas about political discourse. Second, how such possibilities for justifying retrenchment crucially depend on party politics. This is where arguments about issue-ownership and party competition are relevant.

The second contribution of this study to the retrenchment debate is the attempt at explaining variation both between countries and across social-security schemes. As demonstrated in chapter 2, the scholarly debates about variation at these two different levels of analysis are rarely connected. This is problematic. On the one hand, governments do not retrench the welfare state, they initiate retrenchment of unemployment benefits, old-age pensions, etc. Thus, political dynamics relating to specific policy areas must be considered. On the other hand, focussing solely on such policy dynamics is problematic as well, because factors such as party politics working at the country level are easily overlooked. By focussing on how governments' possibilities of justifying retrenchment are shaped by factors at the country level and at the level of social-security schemes, this study has attempted to bridge the gap between a focus on either the country level or the level of social-security schemes.

The third contribution of this study to the retrenchment debate is empirical. As argued by both Alber (1998) and Pierson (2001a), in-depth empirical studies of the scale of retrenchment and the political processes surrounding retrenchment are much wanted within the retrenchment literature. This study, for instance, demonstrates empirically the importance of party competition, including 'Nixon goes to China' logics.

When discussing the implications for the retrenchment debate, a brief comparison with Pierson's (1994; 1996) perspective on the politics of retrenchment also seems wanted since it has very much been the starting point for the entire scholarly debate (cf. Green-Pedersen & Haverland 2002). This study has followed Pierson's claim that the politics of retrenchment are the politics of blame avoidance. However, the implications drawn from this claim are somewhat different. Pierson (op. cit.) argues that since the politics of retrenchment are the politics of blame avoidance, governments try to exploit institutionally created possibilities of pursuing his three suggested blame-avoidance strategies. In this study, governments are contended to have more direct ways of overcoming the electoral dangers of retrenchment. If governments are able to reframe the issue of retrenchment into, for instance, one of economic necessity, they are not confined to institutionally created possibilities of implementing retrenchment. Pierson thus underestimates the importance of political dynamics related to party politics and political argumentation, and overestimates the importance of institutional constraints and capabilities.¹

However, this does not imply that Pierson's three blame-avoidance strategies are irrelevant for studying retrenchment. In both Denmark and the Netherlands, fine examples of Pierson's strategies can be found. In the Netherlands, the compensation strategy is clearly exemplified by the special benefits given to the 'real social minimas'. The current claimants of disability pensions being exempt from most of the effects of the major retrenchment of the Dutch disability pensions in 1993 is an example of the division strategy. In Denmark, the organisational changes in the disability-pension scheme are a fine example of the obfuscation strategy. The government achieved a significant retrenchment of the scheme for which it did not seem responsible because local governments award disability pensions. Another good example of an obfuscation strategy is the increased means testing in the Danish old-age pension, the effect of which will not become fully visible until old-age pensioners are better off.

Yet, the question is whether the fact that such strategies have been employed can explain variation in retrenchment. An explanation along these lines would require a systematic difference between the two countries in the possibilities of pursuing such blame-avoidance strategies. Dutch governments must have had some possibilities that their Danish counterparts did not. Such differences have not been identified. The Netherlands has actually experienced retrenchments without employment of blame-avoidance strategies. For instance, nominal cuts in benefits in several social-security schemes were implemented twice in 1984. With regard to variation across schemes, one could argue a simple programmatic structure hindering, for instance, the implementation of obfuscated retrenchments to be the reason for the success of the old-age pension schemes. Yet, if one looks at some of the retrenchments implemented in other schemes, they would also have been possible in old-age pensions. For instance, freezing the Danish old-age pension in 1982 parallel to other schemes would have been no problem. Similarly, cutting back benefit levels in the Dutch old-age pension parallel to other schemes would also have been possible.

Examples can be found where unusual opportunities of pursuing these strategies make it possible for governments to implement otherwise politically risky retrenchments. The best example from this study is the retrenchment of the Danish disability-pension scheme. The right-wing governments initiated this process in 1991 at a time when retrenchments with visible effects were politically too risky. Yet in general, Pierson's three blame-avoidance strategies are rather descriptions of *how* governments implement retrenchments than explanations of *why* and *when* it is done. It is hard to imagine a situation where none of Pierson's three strategies of blame avoidance could be used. In this way, Pierson's strategies may in some cases be complementary to the justification strategy suggested in this study. How the Dutch governments provided special benefits to the 'real social minimas' constitutes an example. This compensation strategy made it easier for Dutch governments to claim that the retrenchments were socially fair and not an attack on the principle of solidarity. However, it is difficult to ascer-

tain that certain countries or social-security schemes should be systematically more open to the use of Pierson's strategies than others.

The quibble with any study of just a few cases is the prospect of generalising the results to other cases. To some extent, this is simply a question of applying the theoretical arguments of this study to more cases. However, the question is to which other cases the framework should be applicable.

At the level of social-security schemes, the argument of this study can readily be extended to other transfer payments. However, when it comes to services, extending the argument is less straightforward. Services such as healthcare and care for the elderly have limited connection to the labour market and one should, therefore, expect them to suffer limited retrenchment. However, when studying services, other factors, which are irrelevant in relation to transfers, may become important. For instance, in the Scandinavian welfare states, which have the most extensive services (Huber & Stephens 2000), most services are also the responsibility of local governments. This may provide governments with some very tempting possibilities for indirect retrenchments by pushing on the actual implementation of retrenchments to local governments. This was very much what the Danish governments did in the 1980's when services were retrenched much more than transfers (Green-Pedersen 1999). Such factors may also have played a role for the 'anti-service' strategy of the Swedish and Finish governments during the economic recessions in the 1990's (Timonen 2001, cf. also Clavton & Pontusson 1998).

A further question of generalisation relates to other types of welfare reforms than what have been defined as retrenchment in this study. In other words, could the theoretical framework be used to study restructuring reforms? As argued in chapter 4, a number of restructuring reforms may not be of the same interest to the electorate as the retrenchments studied here. Therefore, the politics around such restructuring reforms may be more dominated by specifically organised interests. Yet, some restructuring reforms can attract broad political interest including the electorate, and ideas contained in the theoretical framework of this study can then be of relevance. For example, market reforms such as contracting out of social services were a major issue in both Denmark and Sweden in the 1990's. However, Sweden has gone further than Denmark in terms of such market reforms and this can be explained by different strategies of the social democratic parties in the two countries, which has led to different framing of the issue (Green-Pedersen 2002b).

The final question of generalisation relates to the country level. Extending the arguments to more countries probably necessitates the inclusion of more

systems of party competition, as not all countries can be considered either bloc or pivot systems. Kitschelt (2001) outlines four models of party competition in his framework for studying retrenchment and party politics. Apart from looking at more countries, the reason why Kitschelt operates with more types of party competition than this study is the inclusion in his framework of factors such as the existence of other political cleavages and intraparty dynamics. Kitschelt thus distinguishes between bloc systems of party competition as the British one and the systems in Denmark and Sweden. In the latter countries, the existence of left-libertarian and right-authoritarian parties affects the strategies of the other parties. It is hard to disagree with Kitschelt that these differences exist. However, when discussing the inclusion of more factors in a theoretical framework, one always faces a trade-off between lucidity and explanatory power. Hopefully, this study has shown that one can understand the party dynamics around retrenchment in countries such as Denmark by analysing them as bloc systems such as the British one. Thus, the argument about party dynamics in bloc systems should also be applicable to a number of Scandinavian and Anglo-Saxon cases. The argument about pivot systems of party competition as the Dutch can be extended to Belgium in particular.²

However, if the framework should be applied to cases such as Germany and Austria, including a third type of party system seems necessary, as suggested by Kitschelt (op. cit.). This type refers to cases with a strong Christian Democratic Centre Party and a strong Social Democratic Party, but with only a small Liberal Party. Here, the main line of conflict is over socio-cultural issues, not economic ones. Kitschelt argues that such a system should experience the least retrenchment since there is no major party favouring a market-oriented agenda, and because the welfare state is part of a patronage network. From the perspective of this study, two hypotheses about retrenchment in such systems may be advanced. First, they resemble bloc systems with the important qualification that they are bloc systems with a social democratic and a Christian democratic bloc. As the social democratic bloc can be expected to have a stronger degree of ownership of the welfare-state issue than the Christian democratic bloc, something like the 'Nixon goes to China' dynamic in 'normal' bloc systems may exist. The recent, major retrenchment of the German pension scheme enacted by the Social Democratic /Green Coalition may be an example of this (cf. Haverland 2001). Second, in such systems 'grand coalitions' are not uncommon. As suggested by Kitschelt (2001), such 'grand coalitions' will be in a strong position to justify retrenchment.

When discussing generalisation of the arguments of this study, it is also

worth considering to what extent the arguments of this study are influenced by the choice of Denmark and the Netherlands as cases for investigation. This relates especially to the emphasis of this study on government attempts at justifying retrenchment. This can be seen in contrast to Pierson's blameavoidance strategies, which were more focussed on hiding retrenchment from the electorate and which came out of studying retrenchment processes in the United States and Britain. A possible argument in this context would be that the kind of blame-avoidance strategy governments can apply depends on the type of welfare state they aim at retrenching. Ross (2000c), for instance, links the possibilities of framing the issue of retrenchment to Esping-Andersen's (1990) three worlds of welfare capitalism. Rothstein's (2000) argument about universalist welfare states generating their own public support (cf. chap. 2) can also be used as an argument for the need for public acceptance of retrenchment in universalist welfare states.

Being a borderline case between the universal and corporatist welfarestate regimes, the Dutch welfare state may, however, present somewhat of a puzzle with regard to such arguments. The need to justify retrenchments has been the same as in Denmark. This might suggest that the politics of retrenchment in universalist and corporatist welfare states are not so different. This suggestion can be supported by the findings of survey research, that the attitudes towards the welfare state are fairly similar in the two types of welfare regimes but different from the attitudes in the liberal welfare states (Svallfors 1998; Taylor-Gooby 2001). Instead of linking the politics of retrenchment to the different types of welfare states, it may then be that the need to justify retrenchment stems from both countries being consensual democracies in Lijphart's sense (1999). In consensual democracies, governments can be expected to seek broad political support for controversial reforms, allowing them to justify the reforms. Yet, these are hypotheses needing much further research.

The politics of miracles and the dilemmas of European Social Democracy

As claimed in chapter 1, retrenching social-security schemes is part of a larger process of adjusting the political economies of the rich OECD countries to a changed economic environment. Within the last 20 years, all the rich OECD countries have had to modify their model of welfare capitalism, including social security (cf. Kitschelt *et al.* 1999; Regini 2000; Scharpf & Schmidt 2000a). Yet, these adjustments of macro-economic policy, wage policy, social security, and taxation have put the problem-solving capacities

of the political systems to a severe test, and many countries have found it impossible to implement such adjustments. However, Denmark and the Netherlands are seen as two of the successful adjustment cases (Hemerijck & Schludi 2000), and scholars discuss the Danish and Dutch miracles (Visser & Hemerijck 1997; Schwartz 2001a). The question is how to account for the seemingly high adjustment capacities in the two countries.

Following the new institutional wave within political science (Hall & Taylor 1996; Peters 1998), one way to answer this question would be institutional (cf. Scharpf 2000b). However, providing an institutional explanation for the developments in the two countries is difficult. As outlined in chapters 6 and 7, the two countries showed very limited adjustment capacities in the 1970's and at the beginning of the 1980's, and they could be counted among the fiasco stories in Western Europe in terms of socio-economic policy. With the same basic, political institutional set-up, they were, however, much more successful in the 1990's. Thus, factors other than institutional ones must have been at play.

In this book, the argument has been that a focus on party politics is necessary to understand retrenchment politics. This argument can be extended to socio-economic policy more generally (cf. Green-Pedersen 2001a; b). To understand the development over time in the two countries with regard to socio-economic policy, one needs to look at the development of the party systems in the two countries. As outlined in chapters 6 and 7, the party systems in both countries were in a state of flux in the 1970's. In the Netherlands, this situation was the result of depillarisation reducing electoral support for the Christian Democratic Parties and leading the PvdA to launch the polarisation strategy. In Denmark, the earthquake election resulted in a more fractionalised and polarised party system, and the Social Democrats found themselves in a difficult situation with regard to the trade unions. These party-political factors made political stability around socio-economic policy impossible and the result in both countries was a fumbling socioeconomic policy with disastrous results. However, in both countries, the party-systems have stabilised and party competition has produced a partypolitical consensus around socio-economic policy. In the Netherlands, the consensus emerged in the mid-1980's due to the pivotal role of the CDA. In Denmark, it did not emerge until the Social Democrats regained government power in 1993. This consensus has lead to a stable socio-economic policy including controversial welfare-state retrenchments with apparent successful results.

In search for explanations for the development in the Netherlands, attention has been drawn to such factors as Dutch consensus culture (Becker

2001) and policy learning (Visser & Hemerijck 1997). From a consensusculture perspective, the development over time is, however, problematic. In neither of the two countries did a political consensus about adaptations come about simply because new challenges appeared. The success stories of Denmark and the Netherlands are not the result of small countries forced to agree internally to meet the challenges of a more hostile economic environment. As argued above, the political consensus that eventually has emerged in both countries is the result of the strategic interaction of the political parties. With regard to policy learning, arguing that policy markers in both Denmark and the Netherlands have learned from their mistakes with regard to socio-economic policy seems plausible. However, such an argument cannot stand alone as explanation for the development in the two countries. Why did policy learning seemingly occur in the Netherlands and perhaps also in Denmark, but not in many other countries? The developments over time are also difficult to explain from such a policy-learning perspective. Why did policy learning apparently happen later in Denmark than in the Netherlands? Yet, the argument about party politics might be complementary to the arguments about policy learning. It may be exactly the political consensus created by party competition that has made policy learning possible.

As indicated above, a specific focus on the Social Democratic Parties in the two countries is also necessary to understand their 'miraculous' development. The support from Social Democratic Parties has been crucial in order to secure the party-political consensus around controversial reforms. At the same time, the changed economic environment of the mature welfare states put the Social Democratic Parties under specific pressure. This undermined traditional Keynesian policies, which had served as the basis for Social Democratic strategies in the post-war period. This became evident in both countries with the failed socio-economic policy in the 1970's, which came to be seen as the fault of the Social Democratic Parties. Today, Social Democratic Parties in both countries have entered a 'third way' course (Green-Pedersen, van Kersbergen & Hemerijck 2001), and this has been crucial for the political consensus behind socio-economic policy in the two countries. This study explains the sequences of changes within the two countries. These sequences have been shaped by the strategic situation of the parties in terms of regaining office as outlined in chapters 6 and 7 (cf. also Green-Pedersen & Kersbergen forthcoming).

Altogether, party politics matter. Analysing the strategic interaction of political parties is a must for anyone aiming to understand why and how countries such as Denmark and the Netherlands have been able to respond successfully to the challenges their models of welfare capitalism. This is also the main message of this study and political science in general. Studies of public policy rarely focus on political parties and when they do, they focus on the 'does politics matter' question. However, as suggested by this study, there may be other ways to look at party effects on public policy. The way parties compete and interact may have strong effects on public policy.

Appendix

This appendix first provides some further comments on the operational definition of retrenchment. It then explains how the budgetary figures have been calculated. Finally, it provides two examples of such calculations.

First, not all of the changes implemented in the social-security schemes studied are retrenchments. There are several examples of improvements of the schemes and these have been included and studied in the same way as retrenchments. Not including improvements would have lead to very misleading conclusions about differences in extent of retrenchment.

Second, a retrenchment can be made up of more than one single change in a social-security scheme. A number of changes may be tied together, all of which are not necessarily retrenchments. Therefore, the overall impact of changes carried through as one has been used as the baseline. This implies that a retrenchment, which is part of an overall expansion of a social-security scheme has not been analysed as a retrenchment. Consequently, changes in a social-security scheme altering the distribution of benefits between groups and of which the overall budgetary impact is zero have also not been considered retrenchment, notwithstanding the fact that such changes may have imposed considerable losses on some groups of claimants. Such changes are more appropriately viewed as a restructuring reform with greater targeting.

Third, budgetary implications in relation to changes in one social-security scheme may affect another social-security scheme, and this must be taken into account. Significant cutbacks in one social-security scheme are not likely to be of much interest to the electorate if they are simply compensated by improvements in another scheme. Therefore, when calculating the figures, the effects on other schemes have been taken into account.

A related problem is to delimit social-security schemes from the tax system. Almost all of the social-security benefits examined in this study are taxable income, so the effects of retrenchment will partly be offset by the tax system.¹ Yet, such effects have generally been disregarded for three reasons. First, due to the complexity of the tax systems in the two countries, a calculation of net-effects is almost impossible. Second, the disturbing effects that this may have for the conclusions concerning retrenchment seem limited, as almost all the benefits are taxable income. Third, the budgetary implications have been used as a way of measuring change in a social-security scheme, but not in order to examine the impact on government finances or the economy. Nor does the study aim at measuring the change in living conditions of the claimants. However, sometimes changes in social-security schemes are so closely linked to changes in taxation that disregarding the latter would lead to very counterintuitive conclusions. In those cases, such effects have been included. For instance, the taxation of the Danish national pension was changed in 1993. This implied a large increase in benefits, which was mostly offset by increased taxation. In this case, disregarding the tax system would have implied misleading conclusions about improvements.

Fourth, many changes do not have immediate consequences, but are implemented gradually over many years. This is one of the reasons why macrolevel approaches are problematic. As for the micro-approach used in this study, which years to use as the basis for evaluating changes is the question. Delaying the consequences of changes is one possible retrenchment strategy. In order to take this strategy into account, the changes as fully implemented have been studied. When considering the actual budgetary implications, the focus has been on the first year in which the changes are fully implemented (cf. also below).² The expected spending consequences have been evaluated by analysing their budgetary consequences had they been fully implemented the year they were passed in parliament. This also helps in keeping inflation and the unemployment rate at a constant level.

Fifth, minor adjustments of social-security schemes are frequent but not necessarily of much interest. To avoid having to report and analyse a countless number of small adjustments, a 1% bottom line has been applied, thus disregarding changes with likely budgetary consequences of less than 1%. A caveat here is that one possible retrenchment strategy is to implement a large number of such small adjustments and in this way achieve significant retrenchment. Therefore, it has been checked that there has been no implementation of a number of such small changes in one direction, improvements or retrenchments. This has not been found to be the case in relation to any of the selected schemes.

How to calculate budgetary consequences

Estimations of the *likely* budgetary consequences are calculated as follows. When changes are fairly uncomplicated and the necessary data available, estimations have been made by the author himself. The data used for these calculations have mainly been statistics documenting how the schemes work. In some situations, research into the functioning of the schemes has been included as well. When it was not possible for the author himself to make the estimations, estimations from the parliamentary inquiries were applied. The use of these figures raises several questions that must be addressed. A significant objection is that figures from the government have often proved wrong and unreliable. This may be the case for two separate reasons. First, the figures may prove wrong simply because there is great uncertainty involved in estimating the effects of certain changes, that is reliability problems. Second, the figures may prove wrong because they were never intended to be right in the first place. They may simply be part of the government's strategy in relation to retrenchment. This second point is the most important one since its implication is that the government figures are systematically misleading, or that their validity is questionable.

To some extent, there is a problem with validity. However, it should not be overestimated. It is not obvious whether governments should be interested in over- or underestimating the budgetary consequences of retrenchments. On the one hand, an underestimation may be part of a strategy to ease the political outcry in connection with retrenchment. For example, the government may want to underestimate the number of people affected by a certain retrenchment. On the other hand, retrenchment is often part of a budgetary process where the government wants to show a balancing budget or a limited deficit. Along this line, the government could be interested in overestimating the effects of a retrenchment. Furthermore, budget estimations are part of the parliamentary reading of a bill, and this puts certain limits on the possible manipulation of the figures. Thus, it is unlikely that the government will intentionally submit outright false figures. If this were to become public, it would cause severe trouble for the minister and perhaps cost him or her their job. Hence, in situations where the calculations are fairly straightforward, it seems unproblematic to use government estimations. Complications arise when the estimations require 'prudent judgments'. In such situations, there is room for government manipulation, even though the direction of such manipulation is not quite clear.

Summing up, there may be problems in both reliability and validity when applying government budget estimations. This is why they have been used only as a second solution where calculations are impossible. Furthermore, whenever possible, the figures have been checked against actual expenditure figures (see below). Finally, during the parliamentary readings and debates in parliamentary committees, the figures are to some extent scrutinised. This may happen through questions from MP's or approaches from interest groups, and may force the government to re-evaluate its figures, or to make public the assumptions on which the figures are based. Whenever parliamentary documents show that such processes have taken place, the results have been taken into account.

Estimations of the *actual* spending consequences have been calculated in two ways. Whenever there is data making it possible to analyse very precisely the consequences of a certain change, these figures have been applied. Whenever this strategy is not possible, aggregate expenditure figures have been used. In the first year in which the changes have been fully implemented, spending has been compared to the spending in the year in which the changes were passed in parliament. The former figures have been corrected for the development of factors such as the number of unemployed, the level of inflation, demographic changes, etc. Using the aggregate expenditure figures raises problems identical to the ones implied by a macro-approach. Thus, there are a number of situations where it was impossible to estimate the actual spending consequences. First, when the changes have not yet been fully or even partly implemented. Second, when the changes aim at reducing the number of claimants. The reason is that it is impossible to separate the effects of, for instance, changes in unemployment from changes in eligibility rules for unemployment benefits. Third, small changes in the schemes can be very difficult to trace in aggregate spending figures, especially if they are implemented gradually over a number of years. Therefore, unless specific statistics exist, there has been no attempt at measuring the actual budgetary consequences of changes with an estimated impact of 2% or less.

In the following, two examples of the calculations of the two spending measures will be given.

The first example is from the Danish old-age pension: L 119 (1986-1987) eased the income testing of a number of schemes that provided benefits for the elderly (home help, personal care, etc.). In relation to the old-age pension, the law eased the income testing of the pension supplement.³ This change was to be implemented gradually from 1991 to 1995. Estimations from the parliamentary readings of the proposal show increased expenditure in 1995, in 1986 prices, of DKK 810 million (Folketinget, *Folketingstidende* B 1986-1987: 2430). However, this figure covers both increased expenditure in relation to the old-age pension and to the disability pension. Based on figures for the payment of the pension supplement in January 1987 (Danmarks Statistik, *Statistiske efterretninger, Social Sikring og Retsvæsen* 1988: 8, 11), it can be estimated that 72% of the people who received the pension supplement were old-age pensioners. Thus, an estimation of the extra expenditure on the old-age pension is DKK 607 million in 1987 prices.⁴ This equals 2.1% of the total costs in 1987.

The actual rise in expenditure can be estimated in the following way. First of all, it must be taken into account that L 168 (1987-1988 1. Session) hastened the implementation and further eased the income testing. Thus, changes were already fully implemented in 1993. It is possible to calculate the number of pensioners who received the full and those who received a reduced pension supplement in 1987 and 1993 (Danmarks Statistik, Statistiske efterretninger. Social Sikring og Retsvæsen 1988: 8, 11; 1993: 14, 18). The number of pensioners who received the full supplement rose from 48% in 1987 to 69% in 1993, whereas the number who received the reduced supplement decreased from 18% to 12%. It has then been calculated what the extra expenditure on the pension supplement would have been in 1987, if the changes had already been fully implemented in that year. When applying the average between, on the one hand, the supplement for single pensioners and pensioners married to non-pensioners, and, on the other hand, the supplement for pensioners married to other pensioners (DKK 7.032), and assuming that pensioners who have their supplement reduced have it reduced by 50%, the extra costs in 1987 are estimated at DKK 858 million, which equals 3.0% of the total expenditure in 1987. The expected extra expenditure was only DKK 607 million. However, L 168 not only hastened the easing of the income testing, it also eased the income testing further. The expected extra expenditure from this was DKK 213 million. When subtracting the DKK 213 million from the DKK 858 million, the actual rise in expenditure is DKK 645 million, which equals 2.3% of the total expenditure in 1987. This figure comes close to the expected 2.1%.

The second example is taken from the Dutch disability-pension scheme. In 1994, it was decided to freeze benefits in the scheme for 1995. The expected budgetary consequences equal the rate of inflation (see Green-Pedersen 2000: 213-214), which was 2.8% in 1994. The actual spending in 1995 was NLG 7.372 billion. The number of claimants dropped from 909,000 in 1994 to 873,000 in 1995. Corrected for this drop, the expenditure in 1995 equals NLG 18.088 billion, deflated with the rate of inflation in 1994 of 2.8%, this equals NLG 17.595 billion. As total expenditure in 1994 was NLG 18.199 billion, this implies a decrease in expenditure of 3.3%. This is fairly close to the expected savings of 2.8%, which, consequently, seems a reliable estimation.

Summary

This book is an investigation of retrenchment in Denmark and in the Netherlands during the period 1982 to 1998, focussing on retrenchment of old-age pensions, unemployment benefits and disability pensions/early- retirement benefits. The general aim of the book is to contribute to the scholarly debate about welfare-state retrenchment in a number of ways. The main aim is to add to the knowledge of the factors causing variation in retrenchment between countries and across social-security schemes. Here, the argument of the book is that politics is the main factor causing variation. In this way, the book differs from most other writings on retrenchment that follow the new institutional wave within political science in general, highlighting the role of institutional factors. An additional aim of the book is to add to the empirical knowledge about retrenchment. As argued by Alber (1996: 3), '... systematic studies of retrenchment processes in a comparative perspective are still thoroughly missing.' This book aims at filling a small part of that vacuum.

However, this book should not only interest scholars engaged in the debate about welfare-state retrenchment. Welfare-state retrenchment is part of the broader effort of Western governments to adjust their models of welfare capitalism to a new economic environment. Welfare-state retrenchments are probably the most controversial part of this effort, and this book therefore contributes to the understanding of different country's capacity to adjust their models of welfare capitalism. Further, Denmark and the Netherlands have come to be seen as two of the success stories with regard to this adjustment process. Scholars are thus debating both a Dutch and a Danish miracle (cf. Visser & Hemerijck 1997; Schwartz 2001; Green-Pedersen 2001). The book draws attention to the role that party politics has played in the adjustment processes within the two countries. This includes both the development of the party systems in the two countries and the situation of the Social Democratic Parties. The discussion of the latter factor also contributes to the wider debate about the dilemmas of European Social Democracy.

Before presenting a brief overview of the book, it is worth spelling out the main arguments.

The arguments in brief

In its briefest form, the theoretical argument of this book is that politics matter for welfare-state retrenchment. But what does that mean, politics matter? This claim consists of two parts. First, the argument is that governments' possibilities of implementing retrenchment measures are crucially dependent on their capabilities of justifying the measures in the eyes of the electorate. If voters consider retrenchment measures unfair or driven by hidden ideological motives, they are likely to punish governments at the polls. In this way, as Pierson (1994) argues, the politics of retrenchment are the politics of blame avoidance. Instead, governments must convince the electorate that they are retrenching the welfare state to improve its financial viability or to remedy some of the policy failures that may follow from it. The question then is which factors determine governments' capabilities of justifying retrenchment measures?

Two linked factors relating to party politics produce variation between countries because they shape governments' capabilities of justifying retrenchments. First, the electorate has certain standard views of political parties. Parties of the left are expected to focus on social justice and to support the welfare state, whereas parties of the right are expected to concentrate on keeping down taxation and other issues such as economic management. Christian-Democratic Center Parties fall in between. In addition, they have a reputation for political compromise and social accommodation that may facilitate the justification of retrenchment measures. These standard views of political parties influence the electorate's judgment of the political parties' arguments concerning retrenchment. They are much more likely to accept the left-wing parties' attempt at justifying retrenchment than they are to accept arguments from right-wing parties. In the latter case, they tend to believe that there are hidden ideological motives. Second, the way political parties compete affects governments' possibilities of justifying retrenchment measures. What governments need in order to be successful with their justification strategy is a party consensus in the sense that no other major party attacks their strategies of justification. Whether or not such a consensus emerges depends on the system of party competition and the party-color of the government. In bloc systems of party competition, a consensus emerges only if the left-wing bloc holds office. Bloc systems are systems where a left wing and a right-wing bloc compete over government power by seeking as many votes as possible. The reason for this dynamic in bloc systems is that due to voters' standard expectations of political parties explained above, the right-wing bloc has no votes to gain by attacking a leftwing government for retrenchment. Pivot systems of party competition are systems in which a center party, often a Christian Democratic one, is pivotal as it can determine whether it wants to govern with the major left or right-wing party. Such a system produces a party consensus on retrenchment when the center party opts for retrenchment because the left-wing party then has to accommodate the center party if it wants to gain office. The factor argued to cause variation across social-security schemes is the degree of connection to the labour market of different social-security schemes. This factor first affects governments' options for justifying retrenchments. For instance, retrenching unemployment benefits can be justified by arguing that generous unemployment benefits encourage passivity. Further, the economic incentives to retrench schemes with close connection to the labour market are greater.

Generally, the developments in Denmark and in the Netherlands during the period 1982 to 1998 support the arguments. The book thus offers an explanation why, despite a number of similarities between the two countries. more retrenchment has been implemented in the Netherlands than in Denmark. They both have very extensive and popular welfare states with fairly similar institutional characteristics; they have faced basically the same macro-economic challenges in this period, and have guite similar macropolitical institutions. The difference in systems of party competition, bloc system in Denmark vs. pivot system in the Netherlands, explains the variation between the two countries. The argument also offers an explanation why more retrenchment has been implemented in Denmark after 1993 than during the period 1982 to 1993: Denmark has been governed by social democratic-led governments since 1993. Finally, the theoretical argument also provides an explanation as to why old-age pension schemes have experienced the least retrenchment in both countries; when governments in both countries started focussing on fighting inactivity, old-age pension schemes were out of focus because of their more limited connection to the labour market.

The structure of the book

Chapter 2 is devoted to giving a review of the literature on welfare-state development. The main focus is on the literature concerning welfare-state retrenchment. However, to make sense of this latter debate, a short introduction to the debate about the growth of the welfare state is also provided. Concerning the literature on welfare-state retrenchment, the focus will be on arguments about variation across social-security schemes and between countries.

Chapter 3 sets up a theoretical framework for governments' choices about retrenchment. The main argument within this framework is the one presented above. That is, several factors cause variation in retrenchment because they affect governments' possibilities of justifying retrenchment in the eyes of the electorate. In addition, the chapter also argues that office- and voteseeking governments are prompted towards welfare-state retrenchment by economic factors.

Chapter 4 has two main aims. The first aim is to justify the choice of cases, that is the choice of countries, social-security schemes and time period. Second, the chapter outlines the theoretical and operational definition of retrenchment used in this book. Here it is worth emphasising that the book builds on a fairly narrow theoretical definition of retrenchment as another word for cutting-back or scaling-down social-security benefits.⁴ The chapter ends by deriving 6 hypotheses about the scale of retrenchment to be expected in the two countries.

Chapter 5 uses the definition and operationalisation of retrenchment presented in chapter 5 to evaluate changes in old-age pensions, unemployment benefits, and disability pensions/early retirement benefits in Denmark and in the Netherlands from 1982 to 1998.² The chapter then summarises the variation in retrenchment identified and discusses to what extent it matches the hypotheses derived in chapter 4.

Chapters 6 and 7 provide in-depth case studies of the politics of welfarestate retrenchment in the Netherlands and in Denmark, focussing mainly on the period 1982 to 1998. The aim of these case studies is to explore to what extent the causal mechanisms surrounding retrenchment actually are the ones suggested in chapter 3. What is provided in chapter 5 is basically correlation evidence for the theoretical argument; that is the correlation between the predicted and the actual welfare-state retrenchment. Yet, the question remains whether the variation has actually come about for the reasons suggested in chapter 3.

Chapter 8 first summarises the results of the two different types of empiri-

cal evidence for the theoretical argument; that is both the correlation evidence and the in-depth case studies. The chapter then continues with a discussion of a number of alternative explanations for the variation in retrenchment identified in chapter 5. The point is whether the theoretical argument of this book can explain more of the variation in retrenchment than other theoretical arguments.

Finally, chapter 9 summarises the entire book and tries to draw some lessons from it at two levels. First, the lessons for the retrenchment debate will be discussed. Then the chapter moves on to discussing the broader issue of the two country's apparent success in adjusting their models of welfare capitalism to a changed economic environment.

Notes

Notes Chapter 1

- 1 More information about the operational definition and examples of its use can be found in appendix 1.
- 2 These evaluations of the different schemes are based on figures measuring expected and actual budgetary consequences. The calculations behind the figures are reported in Green-Pedersen 2000 and are available at www.ps.au.dk/greenp or via email at cgp@ps.au.dk.

- 1 For a comprehensive review, see van Kersbergen (1995: chap. 2).
- 2 That Christian Democratic Parties have played an important role in the expansion of welfare states within Continental Europe is not unrecognised by the power-resources theory (e.g. Esping-Andersen 1990: 38-41). However, Social Democratic Parties are still considered 'the true proponents' of the welfare state (cf. van Kersbergen 1995: 23-26).
- 3 The two debates have generally not been connected. Thus, studies focussing on variation across social-security schemes have generally neglected variation among countries and vice versa.
- 4 An additional type of economic argument would be arguments about globalisation. Such arguments have mainly been put forward by economists (for an overview, see Swank 2002). Generally, political scientists have not found much effect from globalisation on the welfare state (Rhodes 1996; Garrett 1998; Pierson 2001b; Castles 2001).
- 5 As discussed above, this argument can also be applied to variation across social- security schemes.

- I The 'popular entrenchment' of the welfare state is well documented by survey research. Ferrera (1993), Papadakis & Bean (1993), Svallfors (1998), and Taylor-Gooby (2001) provide comparative evidence. For research on Denmark and the Netherlands, see chapter 4.
- 2 This should not be misunderstood as an argument that retrenchment is a direct effect of 'globalisation'. The changed economic environment of mature welfare states has to do with both international and domestic forces and the exact role of the different factors is a debated issue (cf. Garrett 1998; Pierson 1998, 2001b; Scharpf 2000c; Schwartz 2001b). Furthermore, changes in the economic environment should not be exaggerated. There is little evidence that a generous welfare state is generally incompatible with economic growth, high employment, etc. (Scharpf 2000c). Yet, the changed economic environment does seem to imply that governments have had to consider the welfare state's implications for the economy much more carefully.
- 3 The notion of a centre party is often unclear. In this study, a 'centre party' refers to a party located in the centre position on the left-right scale. In theory, a centre party can thus be the party furthest to the left or right in a party system (cf. Hazan 1997: chap. 2).
- 4 Both Kitschelt (2001) and Laver & Hunt (1992) discuss four systems of party competition, although not the same four systems. In this context, focussing only on bloc vs. pivot systems has been chosen because they can be seen as the two basic models. Other models of party competition will be discussed in chapter 9.
- 5 A bloc may consist of just one party. This is of minor importance for the following analysis.
- 6 As shown by Keman (*op. cit.*), pivot parties are often Christian Democratic Parties.

- 1 This description refers to the Social Liberals and after 1973 to the Centre Democrats, and the Christian People's Party.
- 2 The CDA is the result of a merger completed in 1980 between three Christian Democratic Parties; KVP, ARP, and CHU.
- 3 In both countries, parties further to the left and to the right of the abovementioned parties have been represented in parliament.

- 4 The purple government (PvdA, VVD, and D66) governing from 1994 to 2002 was a major innovation in Dutch politics and was a break from the pivotal position of the CDA in Dutch politics. Therefore, these governments and their policies will be discussed in detail in chapter 6.
- 5 Due to a lack of figures for both countries, several indicators are reported only for the period 1982-1998.
- 6 This measure is included because there is a significant element of 'hidden unemployment' in many social-security schemes. The measure is based on the OECD definition of broad unemployment as people of working age receiving social-security benefits or having subsidised employment (OECD 1998: 33). The figures for the Netherlands have kindly been provided by Paul de Beer, Sociaal en Cultureel Planbureau, cf. also Sociaal en Cultureel Planbureau, Sociaal en Cultureel Rapport (1998). The Dutch figures include people receiving unemployment benefits, social assistance, disability pension, early-retirement benefits (VUT), or having subsidised employment as a percentage of the broad labour force, that is employed people plus broad unemployment. The Dutch figures cover the age group 15-64. The figures for Denmark show people receiving unemployment benefits, social assistance and rehabilitation, disability pension, early-retirement benefits and transitional allowance, leave allowances and people taking part in active labour-market measures as a percentage of the broad labour force. Unfortunately, applicable figures for active labour-market measures are not available before the labour market reform in 1993. Thus, the figures for Denmark before 1994 underestimate broad unemployment slightly. The figures for the years 1987-1998 are from Danmarks Statistik, *Statistisk tiårsoversigt* (1999; 2000). The figures for the years 1984-1986 have been provided by Danmarks Statistik. Unfortunately comparable figures for the years 1982-1983 are not available, mainly due to the way statistics on social assistance were organised. The figures for Denmark cover the age group 18-66.
- 7 In indices constructed by Schmidt (1993) and Colomer (1996), Denmark and the Netherlands thus have identical scores. In the index constructed by Huber, Ragin & Stephens (1993; 1997), Denmark scores 0 while the Netherlands scores 1. This difference is due to Dutch bicameralism.
- 8 In a re-examination of his analysis, (1999: 73-94), Esping-Andersen finds that both Denmark and the Netherlands cluster as universalist (social democratic) welfare states.
- 9 The difference in social expenditure has to do with the service side of the welfare state, see below.

- 10 As will be discussed in chapter 6, the organisation and to some extent the financing of social security in the Netherlands were drastically changed during the second half of the 1990's. The description below covers the situation before these changes.
- 11 Only public social-security schemes will be dealt with. Private or occupational social-security schemes are beyond the scope of this study. As argued by Pierson (2001a), the reason is that including private or occupational welfare turns the concept of 'the welfare state' into a multi-dimensional phenomenon making comparative investigations extraordinarily difficult.
- 12 The Netherlands has no public superannuation or second-tier earningsrelated pension scheme. In Denmark, one, *ATP*, was introduced in 1964. Yet, contributions and benefits are so modest that the scheme can be ignored (Myles & Pierson 2001).
- 13 Green-Pedersen (2002a) contains a review of the 'dependent variable' debate and pursues the argument about the theoretical nature of the problem further.
- 14 Chapter 5 contains a discussion of the meaning of 'sweeping'.

- I The following necessarily excludes many details about the schemes and the changes in them. Anyone interested in these details should consult Green-Pedersen 2000 and the specialised literature cited.
- 2 Due to a lack of space, changes with expected budgetary consequences of less than 1% are not reported in the tables.
- 3 The calculations behind the figures are reported in Green-Pedersen 2000, which can be obtained at www.ps.au.dk/greenp or by writing an email to cgp@ps.au.dk.
- 4 The following descriptions of the social-security schemes are written in the past tense to indicate that this was the structure of the schemes in 1982. The use of the past tense does not necessarily imply that the rules have changed.
- 5 Apart from the law (*lov om folkepension*), the following description is based on Vesterø-Jensen (1985) and Jørgensen (various years [b]).
- 6 Where nothing else is indicated, all figures are from: Danmarks Statistik, *Statistiske efterretninger*, *Social sikring og Retsvæsen* (various years).
- 7 Two additional minor retrenchments have taken place. Income testing for the basic amount for pensioners aged 67-69 was passed in 1982.

Since the income testing only related to considerable earnings from work, the budgetary implications were, however, very small; equal to 0.6% of the total expenditure in 1982. In 1993, the income-test was extended to all pensioners. Once more, the budgetary effects were very limited; equal to 0.4% of the total expenditure.

- 8 These changes will be discussed in connection with the disability-pension scheme and the early-retirement scheme.
- 9 This will happen for two reasons. The number of people with private pensions is rising, and, starting in 1991, the prevalence of occupational pensions has increased dramatically (Arbejdsministeriet/Finansministeriet 1995: 57-69; Nielsen, F. 1996).
- 10 The following draws on Landelijk Instituut Sociale Verzekeringen (1998), and Voorlichtingscentrum Sociale Verzekering (various years).
- 11 Benefits were actually frozen from 1982 to 1989. In the years not reported in Table 11, the effects were negligible due to the very low level of inflation. The positive budgetary effects for two years are partly the result of finding a consistent way of measuring the effects (see Green-Pedersen 2000: 213-216).
- 12 This change was necessary to fulfil the third EU directive on equal treatment of men and women.
- 13 Apart from the law (*lov om arbejdsløshedsforsikring*), the following draws on Ploug *et al.* (1992), Brüniche-Olsen (various years), and Hansen & Jørgensen (various years).
- 14 Early-retirement benefits, which were also administered by the funds, and unemployment benefits were financed together, so member and employer contributions were contributions to both schemes (see below).
- 15 The following draws on Landelijk Instituut Sociale Verzekeringen (1998) and Voorlichtingscentrum Sociale Verzekering (various years).
- 16 Benefits were actually frozen through 1989, but due to the level of inflation, the budgetary consequences were limited.
- 17 Apart from the law, the following draws on Winter (1980) and Jørgensen (various years [a]).
- 18 In the spring of 2001, a new Disability-pension Act was passed. This law changed the criteria for awarding benefits by introducing a new work-capacity criterion. The idea is that a significant number of disability pensioners have unexploited work capacity, and that they should rather be in partly subsidised jobs than receiving passive benefits. The law thus expects fewer claimants. At the same time, only one type of benefits will exist, which for many claimants will be a considerable improvement. Thus, the government's long run budgetary expectation is an expansion of 7%. However, the estimations are highly uncertain.

- 19 Apart from the law, the following draws on Hansen & Jørgensen (various years).
- 20 After the freeze ended, benefits were indexed following parliamentary decisions each year.
- 21 The following draws on Aarts & de Jong (1990; 1996a; 1996b) and Voorlichtingscentrum Sociale Verzekering (various years).
- 22 This was a motion put forward in parliament by Frits Bolkestein, the leader of the VVD.
- 23 As part of this change, the AAW was abolished, and instead, special schemes were set up for the groups not covered by the WAO scheme.
- 24 The future effects of enhancing the importance of means testing within the scheme will modify this result somewhat.
- 25 Here, and in the following, substantive conclusions will not be based on differences in extent of retrenchment smaller than 5%.
- 26 The restructuring reforms were initiated under the right-wing governments, yet intensified by the social democratic-led governments after 1993.

- I Apart from the source quoted in the text, the investigation draws on: 1) a survey of two major newspapers at a number of central moments. The centre-left 'de Volkskrant' and the liberal 'NRC Handelsblad'; 2) Keesings Historisch Archief (various years and issues); 3) five semi-structured, anonymous interviews with leading politicians; 4) parliamentary debates and other parliamentary documents; 5) various party documents, such as election programmes, Green Papers, etc.; 6) miscellaneous documents, that is coalition agreements, published speeches, etc. In addition, whatever relevant secondary literature was found has been included, especially Metze (1995), Rigter *et al.* (1995), Visser & Hemerijck (1997), and Hemerijck, Visser & Unger (2000).
- 2 'Parliament' refers to the second chamber (Tweede Kamer).
- 3 This party had democratic reforms of Dutch politics as its main issue. In relation to socio-economic issues, the party is a centre party, yet generally to the left of the CDA (Andeweg & Irwin 1993: 50-78).
- 4 The PPR was a splinter party from the KVP. The KVP and ARP only supported the government half-heartedly. Members of their parliamentary groups publicly declared that they did not support the government (Gladdish 1991: 52-54).

- 5 The decline of the denominational parties was also less important as they had most often opted for oversized coalitions (cf. Andeweg & Irwin 1993: 119).
- 6 These cutbacks were, however, removed when the level of benefits was reduced to 70%.
- 7 The government spent around nlg 200-400 million per year (cf. for instance Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal 1982-1983: 17976; 1983-1984: 18506; 1984-1985; 19026).
- 8 The PvdA demanded a re-negotiation of the agreement with the U.S. concerning the deployment of 48 cruise missiles in the Netherlands.
- 9 However, as shown in chapter 4, broad unemployment is not much different in the two countries.

- I Apart from the sources quoted in the text, the investigation into the following draws on: 1) A survey of two major newspapers at a number of central moments; the social-democratic oriented 'Politiken' and the right-wing 'Jyllands-Posten'; 2) five semi-structured, anonymous interviews with leading politicians and political advisers; 4) parliamentary debates and other parliamentary documents; 5) various party documents and governmental publications such as election programmes, Green Papers, etc.; 6) 'Avisårbogen', an annual of political events based on newspaper articles. In addition, whatever relevant secondary literature was found, especially Bille (1998), has been used.
- 2 The shift of strategy is also detectable in socio-economic policy more generally (cf. Green-Pedersen 2001a).
- 3 Thus, the party supported a budget for the first time (Christiansen 1994).
- 4 An element in the tax reform was the conversion of all benefits in social assistance and the old-age pension into taxable income, the latter including the increased importance of means testing within the scheme.
- 5 The Liberal Conservative government that took office after the election in November 2002 has shown no intention of welfare-state retrenchment and has actually expanded the welfare state.

- I Also compared to other Continental European countries, the large number of 'disabled' in the Netherlands does not imply that inactivity, as a result of people receiving social-security benefits, is generally higher (cf. Hemerijck 1999: table 1).
- 2 It is possible to argue that the Netherlands needed to retrench more because the country needed fiscal room for following the Scandinavian way of solving the employment problem, namely by creating jobs in public welfare services. However, the Netherlands has not expanded public welfare services (Visser & Hemerijck 1997).
- 3 In chapter 4, differences between Denmark and the Netherlands were also identified with regards to the programmatic structure of their welfare states. However, the theoretical arguments presented in chapter 2 would predict these differences, e.g. financing through social contributions and involvement of social partners in the administration of benefits, to lead to less retrenchment in the Netherlands than in Denmark, not to more as has been found in this study.
- 4 The recent, partial privatisation of the scheme has of course reintroduced employer financing, albeit in a different form.
- 5 This reaction of the trade unions further substantiates why it is politically easier for Social Democratic Parties to carry through retrenchment measures.

- I In his most recent publication (Pierson 2001a), Pierson has paid more attention to politics.
- 2 The language cleavage in Belgium may be so strong that basing an analysis solely on the socio-economic divide may make little sense. Hemerijck & Visser (2000) argue that this cleavage has overshadowed other problems.

Notes Appendix

I Parts of the Danish disability pension are not taxable. In principle, the Dutch old-age pension is taxable income; yet, special rules imply that

old-age pensioners pay limited income tax and social contributions. The Danish old-age pension is taxable income. However, special tax-rules implied that single pensioners with no other income paid no taxes. This rule was changed in 1993.

- 2 A problem that can only be taken into account in a few cases is that the effects of certain retrenchments may change once the context changes, for instance, the demographic structure.
- 3 The Danish old-age pension is described in chapter 5.
- 4 DKK 583 million in 1986 prices.

Notes Summary

- I More information about the operational definition and examples of the use of it can be found in appendix I.
- 2 These evaluations of the different schemes are based on figures measuring expected and actual budgetary consequences. The calculations behind the figures are reported in Green-Pedersen 2000 available at www.ps.au.dk/greenp or via email cgp@ps.au.dk.

References

- Aarts, Kees & Holli A. Semetko (1999). 'Representation and Responsibility: The 1998 Dutch Election in Perspective', *Acta Politica*, 34, 2-3, pp. 111-129
- Aarts, Kees et al. (1992). 'Politieke problemen en strijdpunten', pp. 65-122 in Joop J. M. van Holsteyn & Galen A. Irwin (eds.), *De Nederlandse kiezer* 1989, Amsterdam: Steinmetzarcheif/swidoc/skon
- Aarts, Leo J. M. & Philip R. de Jong (1990). *Economic Aspects of Disability Behaviour*, Erasmus University Rotterdam
- Aarts, Leo J. M. & Philip R. de Jong (1996a). 'The Dutch disability program and how it grew', pp. 21-46 in Leo J. Aarts, Richard V. Burckhauser & Phillip R. de Jong (eds.), *Curing the Dutch Disease. An International Perspective on Disability Policy Reform*, Aldershot: Averbury
- Aarts, Leo J. M. & Philip R. de Jong (1996b). 'Evaluating the 1987 and 1993 social welfare reforms: From disappointment to potential success', pp. 47-70 in Leo J. Aarts, Richard V. Burckhauser & Phillip R. de Jong (eds.), *Curing the Dutch Disease. An International Perspective on Disability Policy Reform*, Aldershot: Avebury
- Alber, Jens (1996). *Selectivity, Universalism, and the Politics of Welfare Retrenchment in Germany and the United States,* paper for the 92nd Annual Meeting of the American Political Science Association, August 1996, San Francisco
- Alber, Jens (1998). Recent Developments in Continental European Welfare States: Do Austria, Germany and the Netherlands prove to be birds of a feather? Paper for the 14th World Congress of Sociology, July 1998, Montreal
- Andersen, Jørgen G. (1988). 'Vælgernes holdning til den offentlige udgiftspolitik', pp. 145-1990 in Karl Henrik Bentzon (ed.), *Fra vækst til omstilling*, København: Nyt fra Samfundsvidenskaberne
- Andersen, Jørgen G. (1991). 'Responsible Welfare State Support in Denmark', pp. 151-179 in Tim Knudsen (ed.), *Welfare Administration in Denmark*, København: Finansministeriet

- Andersen, Jørgen G. (1995). *Hvorfor vinder regeringen ikke på den økonomiske fremgang?* MS. Aarhus: Department of Political Science, University of Aarhus
- Andersen, Jørgen G. (1999a). 'Holdninger til Velfærdsstaten', pp. 183-192 in Johannes Andersen et al., *Vælgere med omtanke*, Århus: Systime
- Andersen, Jørgen G. (1999b). 'Situationen efter valget', pp. 261-272 in Johannes Andersen et al., *Vælgere med omtanke*, Århus: Systime
- Anderson, Karen M. (1998). The Welfare State in the Global Economy: The Politics of Social Insurance Retrenchment in Sweden 1990-1998, Ph.D.-dissertation, Seattle: University of Washington
- Anderson, Karen M. (2001). 'The Politics of Retrenchment in a Social Democratic Welfare State. Reform of Swedish Pensions and Unemployment Insurance', *Comparative Political Studies*, 34, 9, pp. 1063-1091
- Andeweg, Rudy B. & Galen A. Irwin (1993). Dutch Government and Politics, London: Macmillan
- Anker, Hans (1998). 'De PvdA campagne van 1998', *Socialisme en Democratie*, 7-8, pp. 299-311
- Anker, Hans & Erik Oppenhuis (1989). 'De Partij van de Arbeid en de ziektewet', *Acta Politica*, 24, 2, pp. 278-290
- Arbejdsministeriet (1998). *Videreførelse af den aktive arbejdsmarkedspolitik*, København: Arbejdsministeriet
- Arbejdsministeriet/Finansministeriet (1995). *Pensionssystemet og fremtidens forsørgerbyrde*, København: Finansministeriet
- Arnold, Douglas R. (1990). *The Logic of Congressional Action*, New Haven: Yale University Press
- Avisårbogen (various years), Odense: Odense University Press
- Baldwin, Peter (1990). *The Politics of Social Solidarity*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Bannink, Duco (1999). 'Het Nederlandse stelsel van sociale zekerheid. Van achterblijver naar koploper naar vroege hervormer', pp. 51-81 in Willem Trommel & Romke van der Veen (eds.), *De herverdeelde samenleving*, Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press
- Baumgartner, Frank R. & Bryan D. Jones (1993). *Agendas and Instabilities in American Politics*, Chicago: University of Chicago Press
- Becker, Uwe (2001). "Miracle' by Consensus, Consensualism and Dominance in the Dutch Employment Development', *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, 22, 4, pp. 453-483
- Benschop, Dick (1994). 'Kok en de PvdA-campagne. De electoral strategie van de PvdA', *Socialisme en Democratie*, 10, pp. 474-478

- Bijlsma, T. & F. Koopmans (1991). 'Solidariteit en social zekerheid, de publieke opinie', *Beleid en Maatschappij*, 18, 4, pp. 175-208
- Bille, Lars (1989). 'Denmark: The Oscillating Party System', West European Politics, 12, 4, pp. 42-58
- Bille, Lars (1992). 'Den parlamentariske udvikling 1987-1990', pp. 7-22 in Lars Bille, Hans Jørgen Nielsen & Steen Sauerberg, *De uregerlige vælgere – valgkamp, medier og vælgere ved folketingsvalget 1990*, København: Columbus
- Bille, Lars (1998). Dansk partipolitik 1987-1998, København: DJØFs Forlag
- Birchfield, Vicki & Markus M. L. Crepaz (1998). 'The Impact of Constitutional Structures and Collective and Competitive Veto Points on Income Inequality in Industrialized Democracies', *European Journal of Political Research*, 34, 2, pp. 175-200
- Bonoli, Giuliano (1997). 'Pension Politics in France: Patterns of Co-operation and Conflict in Two Recent Reforms', *West European Politics*, 20, 4, pp. 111-124
- Bonoli, Giuliano (2001). 'Political Institutions, Veto Points, and the Process of Welfare State Adaptation', pp. 238-264 in Paul Pierson (ed.), *The New Politics of the Welfare State*, Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Bonoli, Giuliano, Vic George & Peter Taylor-Gooby (2000). *European Welfare Futures*, Cambridge: Polity Press
- Bonoli, Giuliano & Bruno Palier (1998). 'Changing the Politics of Social Programmes: Innovative Change in British and French Welfare Reforms', *Journal of European Social Policy*, 8, 4, pp. 317-330
- Borchert, Jens (1995). Die Konservative Transformation des Wohlfahrtsstaates. Grossbritanien, Kanada, Die US und Deutschland im Vergleich, Frankfurt: Campus Verlag
- Borre, Ole (1984). 'The Danish Parliamentary Election of 10 January 1984', *Electoral Studies*, 3, 2, pp. 190-195
- Borre, Ole (1987). 'Some Results from the Danish 1987 Election', *Scandinavian Political Studies*, 10, 4, pp. 345-355
- Borre, Ole (1988). 'The Danish General Election of 1987', *Electoral Studies*, 7, 1, pp. 75-78
- Borre, Ole (1991). 'The Danish General Election of 1990', *Electoral Studies*, 10, 2, pp. 133-138
- Borre, Ole & Jørgen G. Andersen (1997). Voting and Political Attitudes in Denmark, Århus: Aarhus University Press
- Brüniche-Olsen, Paul (various years). *Arbejdsmarkedspolitik*, København: Handelshøjskolens Forlag

- Budge, Ian & Dennis Farlie (1983). 'Party Competition Selective Emphasis or Direct Confrontation? An Alternative View with Data', pp. 267-305 in Hans Daalder & Peter Mair (eds.), *West European Party Systems*. *Continuity & Change*, London: Sage Publications
- Cameron, David (1978). 'The Expansion of the Public Economy. A Comparative Analysis', *American Political Science Review*, 72, 4, pp. 1243-1261
- Castles, Francis G. (1978). *The Social Democratic Image of Society*, London: Routledge
- Castles, Francis G. (1994). 'On Religion and Public Policy: Does Catholicism make a Difference?', *European Journal of Political Research*, 25, 1, pp. 19-40
- Castles, Francis G. (2001). 'On the Political Economy of Recent Public Sector Development', *Journal of European Social Policy*, 11, 3, pp.195-211
- Castles, Francis G. & Robert D. McKinlay (1979). 'Does Politics Matter. An Analysis of the Public Welfare Commitment in Advanced Democratic States', *European Journal of Political Research*, 7, 2, pp. 169-186
- Castles, Francis G. & Robert D. McKinlay (1997). 'Reflections: Does Politics Matter? Increasing complexities and renewed challenges', *European Journal of Political Research*, 31, 1, pp. 102-107
- CDA (1991). Waarom het anders moet. Ontwikkeling en besluitvorming rond de WAO, Den Haag: CDA
- CDA (1998). Samenleven doe je niet alleen, Den Haag: CDA
- Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek (various years). *Statistisch Jaarboek*, Den Haag: Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek
- Christensen, Jacob (2000). 'Tilpasning eller krise? Det danske partisystem 1953-1998', pp. 24-61 in Peter Kurrild-Klitgaard, Lars Bille & Tom Bryder (eds.), Valg, vælgere og velfærdsstat. Festskrift til Hans Jørgen Nielsen, København: Politiske Studier
- Christiansen, Flemming (2000). 'Førtidspensionen: Økonomiske incitamenter og tilkendelser', *Samfundsøkonomen*, nr. 2 – 2000, pp. 19-25
- Christiansen, Søren L. (1994). 'Holdninger til Finansloven', *Politica*, 26, 1, pp. 32-45
- Clasen, Jochen (2000). 'Motives, Means and Opportunities: Reforming Unemployment Compensation in the 1990's', *West European Politics*, 23, 2, pp. 89-112
- Clayton, Richard & Jonas Pontusson (1998). 'Welfare State Retrenchment Revisited: Entitlement Cuts, Public Sector Restructuring, and Egalitarian Trends in Advanced Capitalist Societies', *World Politics*, 51, 1, pp. 67-98

- Colomer, Josep M. (1996). 'Introduction', pp. 1-17 in Josep M. Colomer (ed.), *Political Institutions in Europe*, London: Routledge
- Cox, Robert H. (1993). *The Development of the Dutch Welfare State. From Workers' Insurance to Universal Entitlement*, Pittsburgh: Pittsburgh University Press
- Cox, Robert H. (1998). 'From Safety Net to Trampoline: Labour Market Activation in the Netherlands and Denmark', *Governance*, 11, 4, pp. 397-414
- Cox, Robert H. (2001). 'The Social Construction of an Imperative. Why Welfare Reform happened in Denmark and the Netherlands, but not in Germany', World Politics, 53, 3, pp. 463-498
- Crepaz, Markus M. L. (1998). 'Inclusion versus Exclusion. Political Institutions and Welfare Expenditures', *Comparative Politics*, 31, 1, pp. 61-80
- Crepaz, Markus M. L. & Vicki Birchfield (2000). 'Global Economics, Local Politics: Lijphart's Theory of Consensus Democracy and the Politics of Inclusion', pp. 197-224 in Markus Crepaz, Thomas Koelble & David Wilsford (eds.), *Democracy and Institutions – The Life Work of Arend Lijphart*, Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press
- Damgaard, Erik (1989). 'Crisis Politics in Denmark 1974-1987', pp. 70-88 in Erik Damgaard, Peter Gerlich & Jeremy Richardson (eds.), *The Politics* of *Economic Crisis*, Aldershot: Gower Publishing Company
- Damgaard, Erik (1992). 'Denmark. Experiments in Parliamentary Government', pp. 19-49 in Erik Damgaard (ed.), *Parliamentary Change in the Nordic Countries*, Oslo: Scandinavian University Press
- Damgaard, Erik (1997). 'Dänemark. Das Leben und Sterben von Koalitionsregierungen', pp. 289-326 in Wolfgang C. Müller & Kaare Strøm (eds.), *Koalitionsregierungen in Westeuropa*, Wien: Signum Verlag
- Damgaard, Erik & Palle Svensson (1989). 'Who Governs? Parties and Policies in Denmark', *European Journal of Political Research*, 17, 6, pp. 731-745
- Danmarks Statistik (1982). *Statistiske efterretninger: afdeling A*, København: Danmarks Statistik
- Danmarks Statistik (various years). *Skatter og Afgifter: Oversigt*, København: Danmarks Statistik
- Danmarks Statistik (various years). *Statistisk tiårsoversigt*, København: Danmarks Statistik
- Danmarks Statistik (various years and issues). *Statistiske efterretninger: Social Sikring og Retsvæsen*, København: Danmarks Statistik

- de Beus, Jos W. (1983). 'De contractie van sociale zekerheid als politiek strijdpunt', *Beleid en Maatschappij*, 8, 1-2, pp. 39-51
- de Partij van de Arbeid (1986). *Investeren in de toekomst. Pvd A-initiatieven* 1987-1990, Amsterdam

de Volkskrant

- de Vries, Miranda W. M. (1999). 'Party Platforms, Content Analysis, and Coalition Formation', *Acta Politica*, 34, 2-3, pp. 236-253
- DeViney, Stanley (1983). 'Characteristics of the State and the Expansion of Public Social Expenditures', *Comparative Social Research*, 6, pp. 151-173
- Direktoratet for Arbejdsløshedsforsikringen (various years and issues). *Dagpengesats-undersøgelser*, København: Direktoratet for Arbejdsløshedsforsikringen
- Downs, Anthony (1957). *An Economic Theory of Democracy*, New York: Harper and Row
- Elklit, Jørgen (1999). 'Party Behaviour and the Formation of Minority Coalition Governments: Danish Experiences from the 1970's and 1980's', pp. 63-88 in Wolfgang C. Müller & Kaare Strøm (eds.), *Policy, Office, and Votes*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Esping-Andersen, Gøsta (1985a). 'Government Responses to Budget Scarcity: Denmark', *Policy Studies Journal*, 13, 3, pp. 533-546
- Esping-Andersen, Gøsta (1985b). *Politics Against Markets*, Princeton: Princeton University Press
- Esping-Andersen, Gøsta (1985c). 'Power and Distributional Regimes', *Politics and Society*, 14, 2, pp. 223-256
- Esping-Andersen, Gøsta (1990). *Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism*, Cambridge: Polity
- Esping-Andersen, Gøsta (1996a). 'Positive-Sum Solutions in a World of Trade-Offs?', pp. 256-267 in Gøsta Esping-Andersen (ed.), *Welfare States in Transition*, London: SAGE
- Esping-Andersen, Gøsta (1996b). 'Welfare States without Work: The Impasse of Labour Shedding and Famialism in Continental European Social Policy', pp. 66-87 in Gøsta Esping-Andersen (ed.), *Welfare States in Transition*, London: SAGE
- Esping-Andersen, Gøsta (1999). Social Foundations of Postindustrial Economies, Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Esping-Andersen, Gøsta & Kees van Kersbergen (1992). 'Contemporary Research on Social Democracy', *Annual Review of Sociology*, 18, pp. 187-208

- Etherington, David (1998). 'From Welfare to Work in Denmark', *Policy and Politics*, 26, 2, pp. 147-161
- Ferrera, Maurizio (1993). EC Citizens and Social Protection, Brussels: EC Commission, Division 5
- Finansministeriet (1984). Ændring af arbejdstilbudsordningen, København: Finansministeriet
- Finansministeriet (1998). *Aftale om Finansloven for 1999*, København: Finansministeriet
- Flora, Peter & Jens Alber (1984). 'Modernization, Democratization, and the Development of Welfare States in Western Europe', pp. 17-34 in Peter Flora & Arnold Heidenheimer (eds.), *The Development of Welfare States in Europe and America*, New Brunswick: Transaction Publishers
- Folketinget (various years). Folketingstidende, København: Folketinget
- Frendreis, John P. (1983). 'Explanation of Variation and Detection of Covariance. The Purpose and Logic of Comparative Analysis', *Comparative Political Studies*, 16, 2, pp. 255-272
- Garrett, Geoffrey (1998). Partisan Politics in the Global Economy, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Geul, Arend (1983). 'De navigatoren van Den Haag', *Beleid en Maatschappij*, 10, 4, pp. 105-113
- Gladdish, Ken (1987). 'The Centre Holds: the 1986 Netherlands Election', *West European Politics*, 10, 1, pp. 115-119
- Gladdish, Ken (1991). Governing from the Centre. Politics and Policy-Making in the Netherlands, London: Hurst
- Goodin, Robert E. & Anneloes Smitsman (2000). 'Placing Welfare States: The Netherlands as a Crucial Test Case', *Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis*, 2, 2, pp. 39-64
- Gough, Ian (1979). *The Political Economy of the Welfare State*, London: Macmillan
- Green-Pedersen, Christoffer (1999). 'The Danish Welfare State under Bourgeois Reign. The Dilemma of Popular Entrenchment and Economic Constraints', *Scandinavian Political Studies*, 22, 3, pp. 243-260
- Green-Pedersen, Christoffer (2000). How Politics Still Matters. Retrenchment of old-age pensions, unemployment benefits, and disability pensions/early retirement benefits in Denmark and in the Netherlands from 1982 to 1998, Ph.D.-dissertation, Århus: Department of Political Science, University of Aarhus. Available at www.ps.au.dk/greenp
- Green-Pedersen, Christoffer (2001a). 'Minority Governments and Party

Politics: The Political and Institutional Background to the 'Danish Miracle", *Journal of Public Policy*, 21, 1, pp. 63-80

- Green-Pedersen, Christoffer (2001b). Small States with Big Success. Party Politics and Governing the Economy in Denmark and the Netherlands 1973-2000, paper for delivery at the Annual Meeting of the American Political Science Association, August 30-September 2, 2001, San Francisco
- Green-Pedersen, Christoffer (2002a). The Dependent Variable Problem within the Study of Welfare-State Retrenchment. Defining the Problem and Looking for Solutions. Working Paper, 26/2002, Centre for Comparative Welfare Studies, University of Aalborg. Available at www.socsci. auc.dk/welfare/Workingpapers/Workingpapers.htm
- Green-Pedersen, Christoffer (2002b). 'New Public Management Reforms of the Danish and Swedish Welfare States. The Role of Different Social Democratic Party Strategies'. *Governance*, 15, 2, pp. 271-294
- Green-Pedersen, Christoffer & Markus Haverland (2002). 'The New Politics and Scholarship of the Welfare State. A Review Essay'. *Journal of European Social Policy*, 12, 1, pp. 43-51
- Green-Pedersen, Christoffer & Kees van Kersbergen (2002). 'The Politics of the 'Third Way'. The Transformation of Social Democracy in Denmark and the Netherlands'. *Party Politics*, 8,5, pp. 507-524
- Green-Pedersen, Christoffer, Kees van Kersbergen & Anton Hemerijck (2001). 'Neo-liberalism, the 'Third Way' or What? Recent Social Democratic Welfare Policies in Denmark and the Netherlands', *Journal of European Public Policy*, 8, 2, pp. 307-325
- Hall, Peter A. & Rosemary C.R. Taylor (1996). 'Political Science and the Three New Institutionalisms', *Political Studies*, 44, 4, pp. 936-957
- Hansen, Erik D. et al. (1994). *Dansk Økonomisk Politik*, København: Handelshøjskolens Forlag
- Hansen, Per & Leif H. Jørgensen (various years). Arbejdsløshedsforsikring, efterløn og kontanthjælp. Social Publikationer 1, København: Forlaget IDAG
- Haverland, Markus (2001). 'Another Dutch miracle? Explaining Dutch and German pension trajectories', *Journal of European Social Policy*, 11, 4, pp. 308-323
- Hazan, Reuven Y. (1997). Centre Parties. Polarization and Competition in European Parliamentary Democracies, London: Pinter
- Heclo, Hugh (1974). *Modern Social Policies in Britain and Sweden*, New Haven: Yale University Press
- Hemerijck, Anton (1999). Prospects for Inclusive Social Citizenship in an

Age of Structural Inactivity, MPIfG Working Paper 99/1. Cologne: Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies

- Hemerijck, Anton & Martin Schludi (2000). 'Sequences of Policy Failures and Effective Policy Responses', pp. 125-228 in Fritz W. Scharpf & Vivien A. Schmidt (eds.), *Welfare and Work in the Open Economy. Vol. 1. From Vulnerability to Competitiveness*, Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Hemerijck, Anton & Jelle Visser (2000). 'Change and Immobility: Three Decades and Policy Adjustment in the Netherlands and Belgium', *West European Politics*, 23, 2, pp. 229-256
- Hemerijck, Anton, Jelle Visser & Birgitte Unger (2000). 'How Small Countries Negotiate Change – Twenty-five years of Policy Adjustment in Austria, the Netherlands and Belgium', pp. 175-263 in Fritz W. Scharpf & Vivien A. Schmidt (eds.), Welfare and Work in the Open Economy. Vol. II. Diverse Responses to Common Challenges in Twelve Countries, Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Hicks, Alex (2000). *Social Democracy and Welfare Capitalism*, Ithaca: Cornell University Press
- Hicks, Alex & Joya Misra (1993). 'Two Perspectives on the Welfare State. Political Resources and the Growth of Welfare in Affluent Capitalist Democracies', *American Journal of Sociology*, 99, 3, pp. 668-710
- Hicks, Alex, Joya Misra & Tang Nah Ng (1995). 'The Programmatic Emergence of the Social Security State', *American Sociological Review*, 60, 2, pp. 329-349
- Hicks, Alex & Duane Swank (1992). 'Political Institutions and Welfare Spending in Industrialized Democracies, 1960-1982', *American Political Science Review*, 86, 3, pp. 658-674
- Hillebrand, Ron & Galen A. Irwin (1999). 'Changing Strategies: The Dilemma of the Dutch Labour Party', pp. 112-140 in Wolfgang C. Müller & Kaare Strøm (eds.), *Policy, Office, and Votes*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Hoffmans, Anja (1989). *Veranderingen in de social zekerheid*, Zwolle: W.E.J. Tjeenk Willink
- Hoogerwerf, Andries (1999). 'Policy Successes and Failures of the First Purple Coalition', *Acta Politica*, 34, 2-3, pp. 158-178
- Huber, Evelyne, Charles Ragin & John D. Stephens (1993). 'Social Democracy, Christian Democracy, Constitutional Structure, and the Welfare State', *American Journal of Sociology*, 99, 3, pp. 711-749
- Huber, Evelyne, Charles Ragin & John D. Stephens (1997). Comparative Welfare States Data Set, Northwestern University and University of North Carolina

- Huber, Evelyne & John D. Stephens (1993). 'Political Parties and Public Pensions. A Quantitative Analysis', *Acta Sociologica*, 36, 4, pp. 309-325
- Huber, Evelyne & John D. Stephens (2000). 'Partisan Governance, Women's Employment and the Social Democratic Service State', *American Sociological Review*, 65, 3, pp. 323-342
- Huber, Evelyne & John D. Stephens (2001a). Development and Crisis of the Welfare States: Parties and Policies in Global Markets, Chicago: University of Chicago Press
- Huber, Evelyne & John D. Stephens (2001b). 'Welfare State and Production Regimes in the Era of Retrenchment', pp. 107-145 in Paul Pierson (ed.), *The New Politics of the Welfare State*, Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Immergut, Ellen (1992). *Health Politics. Interest and Institutions in Western Europe*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Irwin, Galen A. (1995a). 'The Dutch Parliamentary Election of 1994', *Electoral Studies*, 14, 1, pp. 72-77
- Irwin, Galen A. (1995b). 'Tussen de verkezingen', pp. 9-26 in Joop J. M. van Holsteyn & Kees Niemöller (eds.), *De Nederlandse kiezer 1994*, Leiden: DSWO Press
- Irwin, Galen A. (1999). 'The Dutch Parliamentary Election of 1998', *Electoral Studies*, 18, 2, pp. 271-276
- Irwin, Galen A. & Joop J. M. van Holsteyn (1989). 'Towards a more Open Model of Competition', *West European Politics*, 12, 1, pp. 112-138
- Irwin, Galen A. & Joop J. M. van Holsteyn (1999). 'Parties and Politicians in the Parliamentary Election of 1998', *Acta Politica*, 34, 2-3, pp. 130-157
- Iversen, Torben & Thomas R. Cusack (2000). 'The Causes of Welfare State Expansion. De-industrialization or Globalization?', *World Politics*, 52, 3, pp. 313-349
- Iversen, Torben & Anne Wren (1998). 'Equality, Employment, and Budgetary Restraint. The Trilemma of the Service Economy', *World Politics*, 50, 4, pp. 507-546
- Jackman, Robert (1986). 'Elections and the Democratic Class Struggle', World Politics, 39, 1, pp. 123-146
- Jensen, Per H. (1999). From Welfare to Workfare New perspectives or new realities. The Danish Case, paper for the 4th European Conference of Sociology, August 18-21, 1999, Amsterdam
- Jensen, Torben P. et al. (1991). *Indsatsen for de langstidsledige*, København: AKFS Forlag

- Jespersen, Mary P.S. (1989). 'A Danish Defence Dilemma: The Election of May 1988', West European Politics, 12, 1, pp. 189-195
- Jones, Erik (1998). 'The Netherlands: Top of the Class', pp. 149-170 in Erik Jones, Jeffry Frieden & Francisco Torres (eds.), *Joining Europe's Monetary Club*, New York: St. Martin's Press
- Jørgensen, Leif Hedegaard (various years(a)). Førtidspension invalidepension. Sociale Publikationer 8, København : Forlaget IDAG
- Jørgensen, Leif Hedegaard (various years(b)). Folkepension og delpension, Sociale Publikationer 5, København: Forlaget IDAG Jyllands-Posten
- Katzenstein, Peter (1985). Small States in World Markets. Industrial Policy in Europe, Ithaca: Cornell University Press
- Keeler, John T.S. (1993). 'Opening the Window for Reform. Mandates, Crises, and Extraordinary Policy-Making', *Comparative Political Studies*, 25, 4, pp. 433-486
- Keesings Historisch Archief (various years and issues)
- Keman, Hans (1994). 'The Search for the Centre: Pivot Parties in West European Party Systems', *West European Politics*, 17, 4, pp. 124-148
- Keman, Hans (1996). 'The Low Countries. Confrontation and coalition in segmented societies', pp. 211-253 in Josep M. Colomer (ed.), *Political Institutions in Europe*, London: Routledge
- Keman, Hans (1997). 'The Politics of Problem-Solving in Post-war Democracies: Institutionalising Conflict and Consensus in Western Europe', pp. 1-20 in Hans Keman (ed.), *The Politics of Problem-Solving in Post-war Democracies*, London: Macmillan
- Keohane, Robert O. (1984). 'The World Political Economy and the Crisis of Embedded Liberalism', pp. 15-38 in John H. Goldthorpe (ed.), Order and Conflict in Contemporary Capitalism, Oxford: Clarendon Press
- King, Gary, Robert O. Keohane & Sidney Verba (1994). *Designing Social Inquiry*, Princeton: Princeton University Press
- Kingdon, John W. (1995). *Agendas, Alternatives and Public Policies*, New York: Harper Collins
- Kitschelt, Herbert (2001). 'Partisan Competition and Welfare State Retrenchment. When Do Politicians Choose Unpopular Policies?', pp. 265-302 in Paul Pierson (ed.), *The New Politics of the Welfare State*, Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Kitschelt, Herbert, Peter Lange, Gary Marks & John D. Stephens (eds.) (1999). Continuity and Change in Contemporary Capitalism, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

- Klein, Rudolf (1993). 'O'Goffe's Tale', pp. 7-17, in Catherine Jones (ed.), *New Perspectives on the Welfare State*, London: Routledge
- Kleinnijenhuis, Jan & Jan A. de Ridder (1998). 'Issue News and Electoral Volatility', *European Journal of Political Research*, 33, 3, pp. 413-437
- Kleinnijenhuis, Jan & Ewald M. Rietberg (1995). 'Parties, Media, the Public and the Economy: Patterns of Societal Agenda-Setting', *European Journal of Political Research*, 28, 1, pp. 95-118
- Korpi, Walter (1980). 'Social Policy and Distributional Conflict in the Capitalist Democracies. A Preliminary Comparative Framework', *West European Politics*, 3, 3, pp. 296-316
- Korpi, Walter (1983). The Democratic Class Struggle, London: Routledge
- Korpi, Walter (1989). 'Power, Politics, and State Autonomy in the Development of Social Citizenship', *American Sociological Review*, 54, 2, pp. 309-329
- Korpi, Walter & Joakim Palme (1998). 'The Paradox of Redistribution and Strategies of Equality: Welfare State Institutions, Inequality, and Poverty in the Western Countries', *American Sociological Review*, 63, 3, pp. 661-687
- Korpi, Walter & Joakim Palme (2001) New Politics and Class Politics in Welfare State Regress: A Comparative Analysis of Retrenchment in 18 countries, paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Political Science Association, August 30- September 2, 2001, San Francisco
- Kuhnle, Stein (2000). 'The Scandinavian Welfare State in the 1990s: Challenged but Viable', *West European Politics*, 23, 2, pp. 209-228
- Kuipers, Mans (1998). 'Het Wonder van Wassenaar', *Intermediair*, 34, 15, pp. 15-21
- Landelijk Instituut Sociale Verzekeringen (1998). Kroniek van de sociale verzekeringen 1998. Wetgeving en volume-ontwikkeling in historisch perspectief, Amsterdam: Landelijk Instituut Sociale Verzekeringen
- Lau, Richard R. (1985). 'Two Explanations for Negativity Effects in Political Behavior', *American Journal of Political Science*, 29, 1, pp. 119-138
- Laver, Michael & W. Ben Hunt (1992). *Policy and Party Competition*, London: Routledge
- Layard, Richard, Stephen Nickell & Richard Jackmann (1994). *The Unemployment Crisis*, Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Levy, Jonah (1999). 'Vice Into Virtue? Progressive Politics and Welfare Reform in Continental Europe', *Politics and Society*, 27, 2, pp. 239-273
- Lewis-Beck, Michael (1988). *Economics and Elections. The Major Western Democracies*, Ann Arbor: The University of Michigan Press

- Lewis-Beck, Michael & Martin Paldam (2000). 'Economic Voting: An Introduction', *Electoral Studies*, 19, 2-3, pp. 113-121
- Lewis, Jane (1992). 'Gender and the Development of Welfare Regimes', *Journal of European Social Policy*, 2, 3, pp. 159-173
- Lijphart, Arend (1969). 'Consociational Democracy', *World Politics*, 21, 2, pp. 207-225
- Lijphart, Arend (1971). 'Comparative Politics and the Comparative Method', *American Political Science Review*, 65, 3, pp. 682-693
- Lijphart, Arend (1979). Verzuiling, pacificatie en kentering in de Nederlandse politiek, 3rd., Amsterdam: J.H. De Bussy
- Lijphart, Arend (1989). 'From the Politics of Accommodation to Adversarial Politics in the Netherlands; A Reassessment', *West European Politics*, 12, 1, pp. 139-153
- Lijphart, Arend (1999). Patterns of Democracy. Government Forms and Performance in Thirty-Six Countries, New Haven: Yale University Press
- Lindbom, Anders (2001). 'Dismantling the Social Democratic Welfare Model. Has the Swedish Welfare State lost its defining characteristics?', *Scandinavian Political Studies*, 24, 3, pp. 171-193
- Loftager, Jørn & Per K. Madsen (1997). 'Denmark', pp. 123-145 in Hugh Compston (ed.), *The New Politics of Unemployment*, London: Routledge
- Manow, Philip & Erik Seils (2000). 'The Employment Crisis of the German Welfare State', *West European Politics*, 23, 2, pp. 137-160
- Mares, Isabela (2000). 'Strategic Alliances and Social Policy Reform: Unemployment Insurance in Comparative Perspective', *Politics and Society*, 28, 2, pp. 223-244
- Martin, Cathie J. (1995). 'Nature or Nurture? Sources of Firm Preferences for National Health Reform', *American Political Science Review*, 89, 4, pp. 898-913
- Merrien, Francois-Xavier & Giuliano Bonoli (2000). 'Implementing major welfare reforms: A comparison of France and Switzerland – a new institutionalist approach', pp. 128-145 in Stein Kuhnle (ed.), *The Survival of the European Welfare State*, London: Routledge
- Metze, Marcel (1995). *De stranding*. *Het* CDA van hoogtepunt naar catastrofe, Nijmegen: SUN
- Moran, Michael (1988). 'Crises of the Welfare State', *British Journal of Political Science*, 18, 3, pp. 397-414
- Müller, Wolfgang C. & Kaare Strøm (eds.) (1999a). *Policy, Office, and Votes*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Müller, Wolfgang C. & Kaare Strøm (1999b). 'Political Parties and Hard

Choices', pp. 1-35 in Wolfgang C. Müller & Kaare Strøm (eds.), *Policy*, *Office, and Votes*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

- Myles, John & Paul Pierson (2001). 'The Comparative Political Economy of Pension Reform', pp. 305-333 in Paul Pierson (eds.), *The New Politics of the Welfare State*, Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Nannestad, Peter (1991). *Danish Design or British Disease?* Århus: Aarhus University Press
- Nannestad, Peter & Christoffer Green-Pedersen (forthcoming). 'Keep the Bumblebee Flying: Economic Policy in the Welfare State of Denmark, 1973-1999' in Erik Albæk et al. (eds.), *Managing the Danish Welfare State under Pressure: Towards a Theory of the Dilemmas of the Welfare State*, Århus: Aarhus University Press
- Nannestad, Peter & Martin Paldam (1993). 'The Demand for the Public Sector in the Rich Welfare State of Denmark: Two Polls from 1990', pp. 289-327 in Albert Breton et al. (eds.), *Preferences and Democracy*, Dordrecht: Kluwer
- Nannestad, Peter & Martin Paldam (1994). 'The VP-function: A Survey of the Literature on Vote and Popularity Functions after 25 Years', *Public Choice*, 79, 1-2, pp. 213-245
- Nielsen, Fritz von Nordenheim (1996). 'Danish Occupational Pensions in the 1980s. From Social Security to Political Economy', pp. 241-258 in Michael Shalev (ed.), *The Privatization of Social Policy: Occupational Welfare and the Welfare State in America, Scandinavia, and Japan*, London: Macmillan
- Nielsen, Hans Jørgen (1992). 'Valgkampen 1990', pp. 23-78 in Lars Bille, Hans Jørgen Nielsen & Steen Sauerberg, *De uregerlige vælgere – valgkamp, medier og vælgere ved folketingsvalget 1990*, København: Columbus
- Nielsen, Viggo (1996). *ÆldreSagen fra Ensomme Gamles Værn til folkelig bevægelse*, København: Ældre Sagen/Ældre Fonden NRC Handelsblad
- Nørgaard, Asbjørn S. (1997). The Politics of Institutional Control: Corporatism in Danish Occupational Safety and Health Regulation & Unemployment Insurance, 1870-1995, Århus: Politica
- Nørgaard, Asbjørn S. (1999). 'Viden og videnskab om velfærdsstaten: Er der *én* dansk velfærdsstat?', *GRUS*, 20, 56/57, pp. 6-39
- O'Connor, James (1973). *The Fiscal Crisis of the Welfare State*, New York: St. Martin's Press

- OECD (1981). The Welfare State in Crisis, Paris: OECD
- OECD (1994). Jobs Study. Evidence and Explanations, Part II The Adjustment Potential of the Labour Market, Paris: OECD
- OECD (1997). Family, Market, and Community. Social Policy Studies no. 21, Paris: OECD
- OECD (1998). Economic Surveys 1997-1998, Netherlands, Paris: OECD
- OECD (1999). Implementing the OECD Jobs Strategy. Assessing Performance and Policy, Paris: OECD
- OECD (various years). Economic Outlook, Paris: OECD
- OECD (various years). *National Accounts*, Paris: OECD. Based on SNA 1993 and taken from www.sourceoecd.org
- OECD (2002). Social Expenditure Data Base 1980-1998, CD-Rom version
- Offe, Claus (1984). The Contradictions of the Welfare State, London: Hutchinson
- Orloff, Ann S. (1993). 'Gender and the Social Rights of Citizenship: The Comparative Analysis of Gender Relations and Welfare States ', *American Sociological Review*, 58, 2, pp. 303-328
- Overbye, Einar (1999). Commitment to Welfare a Question of Trust, paper for the 4th European Conference of Sociology, August 18-21, 1999, Amsterdam
- Palier, Bruno (2000). "Defrosting' the French Welfare State', West European Politics, 23, 2, pp. 113-136
- Papadakis, Elim (1992). 'Public Opinion, Public Policy and the Welfare State', *Political Studies*, 40, 1, pp. 21-37
- Papadakis, Elim & Clive Bean (1993). 'Popular Support for the Welfare State: A Comparison Between Institutional Regimes', *Journal of Public Policy*, 13, 3, pp. 227-254
- Parlementaire enquête Uitvoeringsorganen sociale verzekeringen (1993). *Rapport enquêtecommessie, Sammenvatting*, Den Haag: Sdu Uitgeverij
- Pedersen, Mogens N. (1987). 'The Danish 'Working Multiparty System': Breakdown or Adaptation', pp. 1-60 in Hans Daalder (ed.), *Party Systems in Denmark, Austria, Switzerland, the Netherlands, and Belgium*, London: Frances Pinter
- Pedersen, Mogens N. (1988). 'The Defeat of All Parties. The Danish Folketing Election, 1973', pp. 257-281 in Kay Lawson & Peter H. Merkl (eds.), *When Parties Fail*, Princeton: Princeton University Press
- Pellikaan, Huib (1987). 'De beoordeling van het economische beleid van het kabinet-Lubbers', pp. 108-120 in Joop J. M. van Holsteyn, Galen A. Irwin & Cees van der Eijk (eds.), *De Nederlandse kiezer '86*, Amsterdam: Steinmetzarchief/SWIDOC

- Pennings, Paul (1995). 'De Boodschap van de Partijen', pp. 15-39 in Jan Kleinnijenhuis et al. (eds.), *Democratie op drift*, Amsterdam: vu Uitgeverij
- Pennings, Paul (1999). 'The Utility of Party and Institutional Indicators of Change in Consociational Democracies', pp. 20-40 in Kurt R. Luther & Kris Deschouwer (eds.), *Party Elites in Divided Societies*, London: Routledge
- Peters, B. Guy (1998). Comparative Politics, London: Macmillan
- Peters, B. Guy (1999). *Institutional Theory in Political Science*, London: Pinter
- Petersen, Eggert et al. (1996). *Danskernes trivsel, holdninger og selvansvarlighed under 'opsvinget'*, Århus: Department of Psychology, University of Aarhus
- Petersen, Klaus (1998). Legitimität und Krise. Die Politische Geschichte des dänischen Wohlfahrtsstaates 1945-1973, Berlin: Berlin Verlag
- Petersen, Nikolaj (1989). 'Sikkerhedspolitikken og 1988-valget', pp. 305-327 in Jørgen Elklit & Ole Tonsgaard (eds.), *To folketingsvalg*, Århus: Politica
- Pierson, Christopher (1991). *Beyond the Welfare State?* Cambridge: Polity Press
- Pierson, Paul (1993). 'When Effect Becomes Cause. Policy Feed-back and Political Change', *World Politics*, 45, 4, pp. 595-628
- Pierson, Paul (1994). *Dismantling the Welfare State. Reagan, Thatcher, and the Politics of Retrenchment*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Pierson, Paul (1996). 'The New Politics of the Welfare State', World Politics, 48, 2, pp. 143-179
- Pierson, Paul (1998). 'Irresistible Forces, Immovable Objects: Post-industrial Welfare States Confront Permanent Austerity', *Journal of European Public Policy*, 5, 4, pp. 539-560
- Pierson, Paul (2000a). 'Increasing Returns, Path Dependence, and the Study of Politics', *American Political Science Review*, 94, 2, pp. 251-267
- Pierson, Paul (2000b). 'Three Worlds of Welfare State Research', Comparative Political Studies, 33, 6/7, pp. 791-821
- Pierson, Paul (2001a). 'Coping with Permanent Austerity: Welfare State Restructuring in Affluent Democracies', pp. 410-456 in Paul Pierson (ed.), *The New Politics of the Welfare State*, Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Pierson, Paul (2001b). 'Post Industrial Pressures on the Mature Welfare States', pp. 80-104 in Paul Pierson (ed.), *The New Politics of the Welfare State*, Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Ploug, Niels et al. (1992). *A-kasserne og de ledige*, Dokumentation 5, København: Socialkommissionens Sekretariat

Plovsing, Jan (1998). *Socialpolitik* København: Handelshøjskolens Forlag *Politiken*

- Regini, Marino (2000). 'Between Deregulation and Social Pacts: The Responses of European Economies to Globalization', *Politics and Society*, 28, 1, pp. 5-33
- Rhodes, Martin (1996). 'Globalization and the West European Welfare States: A critical review of recent debates', *Journal of European Social Policy*, 6, 4, pp. 305-328
- Rigter, D. P. et al. (1995). Tussen sociale wil en werkelijkheid: Een geschiedenis van het beleid van het Ministerie van Sociale Zaken, The Hague: VUGA
- Riker, William (1986). *The Art of Political Manipulation*, New Haven: Yale University Press
- Roebroek, Joop & B. van Koten (1985). 'Sociaal-Economische Raad en sociale zekerheid', *Beleid en Maatschappij*, 12, 11, pp. 293-300
- Rokkan, Stein (1966). 'Norway: Numerical Democracy and Corporate Pluralism', pp. 70-115 in Robert A. Dahl (ed.), *Political Oppositions in Western Democracies*, New Haven: Yale University Press
- Ross, Fiona (2000a). 'Beyond Left and Right: The New Partisan Politics of Welfare', *Governance*, 13, 2, pp. 155-183
- Ross, Fiona (2000b). 'Framing Welfare Reform in Affluent Societies: Rendering Retrenchment more Palatable?', *Journal of Public Policy*, 20, 2, pp. 169-193
- Ross, Fiona (2000c). 'Interest and Choice in the Not Quite so New Politics of Welfare', *West European Politics*, 23, 2, pp. 11-34
- Rothstein, Bo (1998). *Just Institutions Matter*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Rothstein, Bo (2000). 'The future of the universal welfare state. An institutional approach', pp. 217-234 in Stein Kuhnle (ed.), *Survival of the European Welfare State*, London: Routledge
- Ruggie, John G. (1982). 'International Regimes, Transactions, and Change: Embedded Liberalism in the Postwar Economic Order', *International Organization*, 36, 2, pp. 195-231
- Scharpf, Fritz W. (1984). 'Economic and Institutional Constraints of Full-Employment Strategies: Sweden, Austria, and Western Germany', pp. 257-290 in John H. Goldthorpe, Order and Conflict in Contemporary Capitalism, Oxford: Clarendon Press

Scharpf, Fritz W. (1997). Employment and the Welfare State. A Continental

Dilemma, мртfg Working Paper 97/7. Cologne: Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies

- Scharpf, Fritz W. (2000a). 'Economic Changes, Vulnerabilities, and Institutional Capacities', pp. 21-124 in Fritz W. Scharpf & Vivien A. Schmidt (eds.), *Welfare and Work in the Open Economy. Vol. 1. From Vulnerability to Competitiveness*, Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Scharpf, Fritz W. (2000b). 'Institutions in Comparative Policy Research', *Comparative Political Studies*, 33, 6/7, pp. 762-790
- Scharpf, Fritz W. (2000c). 'The Viability of Advanced Welfare States in the International Economy: Vulnerabilities and Options', *Journal of European Public Policy*, 7, 2, pp. 190-228
- Scharpf, Fritz W. & Vivien A. Schmidt (eds.) (2000a). Welfare and Work in the Open Economy, Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Scharpf, Fritz W. & Vivien A. Schmidt (eds.) (2000b). Welfare and Work in the Open Economy. Vol. 1. From Vulnerability to Competitiveness, Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Schattschneider, Elmer E. (1960). *The Semi-Sovereign People. A Realist's Guide to Democracy in America*, New York: Holt
- Schmidt, Manfred G. (1993). 'Theorien in der vergleichenden Staatstätigkeitsforschung', pp. 371-393 in Adrienne Heretier (eds.), *Policy-Analyse, Elemente der Kritik und Pespektiven der Neuorientierung*: Politische Vierteljahrschrift Sonderheft 24
- Schmidt, Vivien A. (2002). 'Does Discourse Matter in the Politics of Welfare State Adjustment?', *Comparative Political Studies*, 35, 2, pp. 168-193
- Schut, Frederik T. (1995). 'Health Care Reform in the Netherlands: Balancing Corporatism, Etatism, and Market Mechanisms', *Journal of Health Politics, Policy, and Law,* 20, 3, pp. 615-652
- Schwartz, Herman (2001a). 'The Danish 'Miracle': Luck, Pluck or Stuck?', Comparative Political Studies, 34, 2, pp. 131-155
- Schwartz, Herman (2001b). 'Round up the Usual Suspects! Globalization, Domestics Politics and Welfare State Change', pp. 17-44 in Paul Pierson (ed.), *The New Politics of the Welfare State*, Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Shalev, Michael (1983). 'The Social Democratic Model and Beyond. Two Generations of Comparative Welfare State Research', *Comparative Social Research*, 6, pp. 315-351
- Siegel, Nico A. (2001). 'Jenseits der Expansion? Sozialpolitik in westlichen Demokratien, 1975-1995', pp. 54-89 in Manfred G. Schmidt (ed.), Wohlfahrsstaatliche Politik, Institutionen, Prozesse, Leistungsprofil, Opladen: Leske + Budrich

Skocpol, Theda & Edwin Amenta (1986). 'States and Social Policies', *Annual Review of Sociology*, 12, pp. 131-157

- Skocpol, Theda & John Ikenberry (1983). 'The Political Formation of the American Welfare State. In Historical and Comparative Perspective', *Comparative Social Research*, 6, pp. 87-148
- Sociaal en Cultureel Planbureau (various years). Sociaal en Cultureel Rapport, The Hague: Sociaal-Cultureel Planbureau
- Sociaal Bestek, 1987, 1, pp. 3-8

Socialisme en Democratie

- Socialdemokratiet i Danmark (various years). *Election campaign material, discussion papers etc.*, København: Socialdemokratiet i Danmark
- Soskice, David (1999). 'Divergent Production Regimes: Coordinated and Uncoordinated Market Economies in the 1980s and 1990s', pp. 101-134 in Herbert Kitschelt et al. (eds.), *Continuity and Change in Contemporary Capitalism*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Statsministeriet (1993). *Ny kurs mod bedre tider*, København: Statsministeriet
- Stephens, John D. (1979). *The Transition from Capitalism to Socialism*, London: Macmillan
- Stephens, John D., Evelyne Huber & Leonard Ray (1999). 'The Welfare State in Hard Times', pp. 164-193 in Herbert Kitschelt et al. (eds.), *Continuity and Change in Contemporary Capitalism*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Strøm, Kaare (1990a). 'A Behavioral Theory of Competitive Political Parties', *American Journal of Political Science*, 34, 2, pp. 565-598
- Strøm, Kaare (1990b). *Minority Government and Majority Rule*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Svallfors, Stefan (1991). 'The Politics of Welfare Policy in Sweden: Structural Determinants and Attitudinal Cleavages', *British Journal of Sociology*, 42, 4, pp. 609-634
- Svallfors, Stefan (1998). 'Worlds of Welfare and Attitudes to Redistribution: A Comparison of Eight Western Countries', *European Sociological Review*, 13, 2, pp. 283-304
- Swank, Duane (2001). 'Political Institutions and Welfare State Restructuring. The Impact of Institutions on Social Policy Change in Developed Democracies.', pp. 197-237 in Paul Pierson (ed.), *The New Politics of the Welfare State*, Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Swank, Duane (2002). Diminished Democracy? Global Capital, Political Institutions, and Policy Change in Developed Welfare States, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press

- Swenson, Peter (1991). 'Bringing Capital Back in, or Social Democracy Reconsidered', *Worlds Politics*, 43, 4, pp. 513-544
- Taylor-Gooby, Peter (1982). 'Two Cheers for the Welfare State: Public Opinion and Private Welfare', *Journal of Public Policy*, 2, 4, pp. 319-346
- Taylor-Gooby, Peter (1999). 'Policy Change at a Time of Retrenchment: Recent Pension Reform in France, Germany, Italy, and the UK', *Social Policy and Administration*, 33, 1, pp. 1-19
- Taylor-Gooby, Peter (2001). 'Sustaining state welfare in hard times: who will foot the bill?', *Journal of European Social Policy*, 11, 2, pp. 133-147
- Teulings, Coen, Romke van der Veen & Willem Trommel (1997). *Dilemma's van sociale zekerheid, een analyse van 10 jaar herziening van het stelsel van sociale zekerheid*, The Hague: VUGA
- Timonen, Virpi (2001). 'What Explains Public Service Restructuring? Evaluating Contending Explanations', *Journal of European Public Policy*, 8, 1, pp. 43-59
- Toirkens, Jose (1988). *Schijn en werkelijkheid van het bezuinigingsbeleid* 1975-1986, Deventer: Kluwer
- Tromp, Bart (1989). 'Party Strategies and System Change in the Netherlands', West European Politics, 12, 4, pp. 82-97

Trouw

- Tsebelis, George (1990). *Nested Games. Rational Choice in Comparative Politics*, Berkeley: University of California Press
- Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal (various years and issues). *Kamerstukken*, Den Haag: Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal
- Vail, Mark L. (1999). 'The Better Part of the Valour: The Politics of French Welfare Reform', *Journal of European Social Policy*, 9, 4, pp. 311-329
- van der Brug, Wouter (1999). 'Floating Voters or Wandering Parties? The Dutch National Elections of 1998', *West European Politics*, 22, 1, pp. 179-186
- van der Eijk, Cees, Galen A. Irwin & Kees Niemöller (1986). 'The Dutch Parliamentary Election of May 1986', *Electoral Studies*, 5, 3, pp. 289-296
- van der Eijk, Cees & Phillip van Praag jr. (eds.) (1987). De Strijd om de meerderheid, Amsterdam: CT-press
- van der Veen, Romke & Willem Trommel (1999). 'Managed Liberalization of the Dutch Welfare State: A Review and Analysis of the Reform of the Dutch Social Security System, 1985-1998', *Governance*, 12, 3, pp. 289-310

- van der Veen, Romke, Willem Trommel & Bert de Vroom (1999). *Institutional Change of Welfare States*. *Empirical reality, theoretical obstacles*, paper for the 11th SASE Conference, 8-11 July, Madison
- van Holsteyn, Joop J. M. & Galen A. Irwin (1988). 'CDA, Naar Voren! Over de veranderende verkiezingsstrategie van het CDA', pp. 66-98 in *Jaarboek Documentatiecentrum Nederlandse Politieke Partijen* 1987, Groningen: Documentatiecentrum Nederlandse Politieke Partijen
- van Kersbergen, Kees (1994). 'The Distinctiveness of Christian Democracy', pp. 31-47 in David Hanley (ed.), *Christian Democracy in Europe. A Comparative Perspective*, London: Pinter
- van Kersbergen, Kees (1995). Social Capitalism. A Study of Christian Democracy and the Welfare State, London: Routledge
- van Kersbergen, Kees (2000). 'The Declining Resistance of Welfare States to Change', pp. 19-36 in Stein Kuhnle (ed.), *The Survival of the European Welfare State*, London: Routledge
- van Oorschot, Wim (1997). 'Solidair en collectief of marktgericht en selectief? Nederlanders over sociale zekerheid', *Beleid en Maatschappij*, 24, 4, pp. 162-174
- van Oorschot, Wim (2000). 'Who should get what and why? On deservingness criteria and the conditionality of solidarity among the public', *Policy and Politics*, 28, 1, pp. 33-48
- van Oorschot, Wim & Cees Boos (1999). 'Dutch Pension Policy and the Aging of the Population', *European Journal of Social Security*, 1, 3, pp. 295-311
- van Praag Jr., Phillip (1994). 'Conflict and Cohesion in the Dutch Labour Party', pp. 133-150 in David S. Bell & Eric Shaw (eds.), Conflict and Cohesion in Western European Social Democratic Parties, London: Pinter
- van Wijnbergen, Christa (2000). Co-opting the Opposition: The Role of Party Competition and Coallition-Making in Curing the Dutch Welfare State, paper for the 12th International Conference of Europeanists, March 30-April 2, 2000, Chicago
- Verkuil, Dik (1992). *Een positieve grondhouding. De geschiedenis van het CDA*, Den Haag: SDU
- Vesterø-Jensen, Carsten (1985). *Det tvedelte pensionssystem*, Roskilde: Forlaget Samfundsøkonomi
- Visser, Jelle & Anton Hemerijck (1997). A Dutch Miracle. Job Growth, Welfare Reform and Corporatism in the Netherlands, Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press
- Voorlichtingscentrum Sociale Verzekering (various years). De Kleine Gids voor de Nederlandse sociale zekerheid, Deventer: Kluwer

Vording, Hendrik (1993). *Koppelingen in de sociale zekerheid 1957-1992*. *Van wetten en praktische bezwaren*, Amsterdam: Thesis Publishers *Vrij Nederland*

- Weaver, R. Kent (1986). 'The Politics of Blame Avoidance', *Journal of Public Policy*, 6, 4, pp. 371-398
- Weaver, R. Kent & Bert A. Rockman (1993). 'When and How Do Institutions Matter?', pp. 445-461 in R. Kent Weaver & Bert A. Rockman (eds.), *Do Institutions Matter*, Washington D.C.: Brookings Institution
- Weir, Margaret & Theda Skocpol (1985). 'State Structures and the Possibilities for 'Keynesian' Responses to the Great Depression in Sweden, Britain, and the United States', pp. 107-163 in Peter B. Evans (ed.), *Brining the State Back In*, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Wilensky, Harold (1975). *The Welfare State and Equality*, Berkeley: University of California Press
- Winter, Søren (1980). *Decentraliseringen af førtidspensionerne*, Århus: Århus Amtskommune, Social og Sundhedsforvaltningen
- Wolinetz, Steven B. (1990a). 'The Dutch Election of 1989: Return to the Centre-Left', *West European Politics*, 13, 2, pp. 280-286
- Wolinetz, Steven B. (1990b). 'A Quarter Century of Dutch Politics: A Changing Political System or le Plus que Change..?', *Acta Politica*, 25, 4, pp. 403-431
- Wolinetz, Steven B. (1993). 'Restructuring Dutch Social Democracy', West *European Politics*, 16, 1, pp. 97-111
- Wolinetz, Steven B. (1995). 'The Dutch Parliamentary Election of 1994', West European Politics, 18, 1, pp. 188-193

Index

Aarts, Kees 102, 106 Aarts, Leo J.M. 84, 170 AAW (Algemene arbeidsongeschiktheidswet) 11, 49-50, 83-84, 86, 95, 106,170 Active labour market policy 59, 76-77, 124-128 Activation 26, 59, 73, 126 Agenda setting 33-34, 108 Alber, Jens 14, 19, 25-26, 58, 60, 89, 138, 145, 159 Alberda, Wim 95 Amenta, Edwin 21 Andersen, Jørgen Goul 34, 48, 116, 118-119, 124, 127, 129 Anderson, Karen 25-26, 139 Andeweg, Rudy 44, 46, 93-94, 108, 170-171 Andriessen, Frans 95 Anker, Hans 95, 106 AOW (Algemene ouderdomswet) 11, 49-50, 68, 105, 107-109 Arbeidsløshedsdagpenge 48-50 Arbeidsministeriet 127 Arbeidsministeriet/Finansministeriet 169 Arnold, Douglas R. 25 ARP (Anti Revolutionaire Partij) 11,94,166,170 Auken, Svend 120, 122 Austria 89, 148 Avisårbogen 113-114, 116, 119, 121, 171 Baldwin, Peter 21 Bannink, Duco 74, 86 Baumgartner, Frank R. 33 Bean, Clive 166 Becker, Uwe 150

Belgium 148, 172

Benschop, Dick 105 Bijlsma, T. 48 Bille, Lars 112, 119-124, 126-127, 171 Birchfield, Vicki 22, 28 Blame avoidance 9, 14, 23-25, 32-39, 41, 61, 91, 107-110, 129, 131, 145-146, 149, 160 Bloc system 15-16, 37-39, 41, 48, 62, 107, 128, 143, 148, 160-161 Bolkestein, Frits 170 Bonoli, Giuliano 28, 61 Boos, Cees 70 Borchert, Jens 29, 144 Borre, Ole 116, 120-122, 124 Brinkman, Elco 98, 105 Britain 13, 149 Brüniche-Olsen, Paul 169 Budge, Ian 35 Budget agreement 117, 120-121, 127-138 Budgetary 32, 60-62, 66-88, 117, 153-156, 165, 168-169, 173 Buurmeijer, Flip 104 Cameron, David 19 Castles, Francis G. 20-21, 27, 29, 89, 165 CD (CentrumDemokraterne) 11, 51, 111, 113, 120, 122-124, 126, 137 CDA (Christen Democratisch Appèl) 10-11, 44, 51, 62-63, 93-96, 98-102, 104-109, 132-133, 150, 166-167, 170 CDA (1991) 103 CDA (1998) 107 Centre Parties 15, 43, 94, 107, 111, 123-124 Centraal Bureau voor de Statistiek 68, 83-84, 86 Child Allowance 40, 106, 116, 118 Christensen, Jacob 111-112 Christian Democratic 15-16, 21-22, 29, 36-41, 44-46, 95, 98, 107, 134, 148, 150, 160-161, 165, 166 Christian People's Party 51, 111, 120, 124, 126, 166 Christiansen, Flemming 80 Christiansen, Søren L. 116, 120, 171 сни (Christelijk-Historische Unie) 11,94,166 Clasen, Jochen 59 Clayton, Richard 58, 147 CNV (Christelijk Nationaal Vakverbond) 12, 103

Colomer, Josep M. 167 Communist Party 111 Compensation, strategies of 25, 33, 145-146 Conservatives 44, 51, 114-115, 118, 121, 123, 124-125, 127 Continental 21, 27-29, 47, 135-136, 165, 172 Cox, Robert H. 29, 73, 76, 95, 144 Crepaz, Markus M.L. 22, 28 CTSV (College van Toezicht Sociale Verzekeringen) 12,76 Cusack, Thomas R. 13, 19 D66 (Democraten 1966) 11, 93-95, 105-106, 167 Damgaard, Erik 44, 111-114, 120 Danmarks Statistik 54, 65, 70-71, 82, 157, 167-168 de Beus, Jos W. 101 de Graaf, Louw 98-99 de Jong, Philip R. 84, 170 de Koning, Jan 98 de Ridder, Jan A. 105, 108-109 de Volkskrant 96-97, 99-100, 103 de Vries. Bert 104 de Vries, Miranda W.M. 107 de Vroom, Bert 58 den Uvl, Joop 94-95, 99-101 Dependent variable 43, 58, 168 DeViney, Stanley 21-22 Direktoratet for Arbejdsløshedsforsikringen 71 Disability pension 13,17, 49-50, 63, 66, 77-86, 87-91, 97, 101-105, 109-110115-116, 122, 126, 130, 132-133, 139-141, 144-146156-157, 159, 162, 167, 169, 172 Division, strategies of 25, 33, 146 Downs, Anthony 31, 37 Early-retirement benefits 67, 71, 81-82, 87-88, 112, 114, 122, 127-128, 133-135, 139, 141, 144, 167, 169 Earthquake election 112-113, 150 Efterløn 48, 50, 81, 112 Elklit, Jørgen 112 Esping-Andersen, Gøsta 20-21, 24, 27-29, 45-47, 113, 149, 165, 167 Etherington, David 73

Farlie, Dennis 35 Ferrera, Maurizio 48, 166 Finansministeriet (1984) 117 Finansministeriet (1998) 127 Flora, Peter 19 FNV (Federatie Nederlandse Vakbeweging) 12, 103 Folketinget 114-115, 118, 122, 125-126, 128, 130, 156 Framing 30, 101, 129, 147, 149 France 28, 50 Frendreis, John P. 43 Førtidspension 50 Garrett, Geoffrey 165-166 George, Vic 28 Germany 29,89,148 Geul, Arend 97 Gladdish, Ken 93-94, 100, 170 Globalisation 165-166 GMD (Gemeenschappelijke Medische Dienst) 12, 83-84, 86 Goodin, Robert E. 47 Gough, Ian 22 Green-Pedersen, Christoffer 14, 19, 45, 58, 66, 69, 94, 113, 118, 123-125, 136, 138, 145, 147, 150-151, 157, 165, 168-169, 171, 173 Hall, Peter A. 27, 150 Hansen, Erik et al. 44 Hansen, Per 169-170 Haverland, Markus 19, 145, 148 Hazan, Reuven Y. 166 Heclo, Hugh 21 Hemerijck, Anton 14, 45, 94, 97, 103, 136, 150-151, 159, 170, 172 Hicks, Alex 13, 20, 22, 29, 144 Hillebrand, Ron 94, 101, 104 Hoffmans, Anja 96 Hoogerwerf, Andries 107 Housing allowance 127 Huber, Evelyne 13, 20-22, 24, 27-29, 45, 147, 167

Hunt, W. Ben 166

Ikenberry, John 21-22

Immergut, Ellen 28

200 INDEX

Inactivity 16, 103, 109, 128, 134, 166, 172 Irwin, Galen A. 44, 46, 93-94, 100-101, 104-108, 170-171 Invalidepension 77 Iversen, Torben 13, 19, 27 Jackman, Richard 33, 40 Jackman, Robert 20 Jensen, Per H. 73 Jensen, Torben P. et al. 73 Jespersen, Mary P.S. 120 Jones, Bryan D. 33 Jones, Erik 94, 96 Justice Party 112 Justification 3, 9, 15, 33, 35-41, 91, 102, 108, 110, 118, 126, 128-130, 146,160 *Jyllands-Posten* 114-115, 117-118, 120-122, 124-125, 127-128, 171 Jørgensen, Anker 119 Jørgensen, Leif Hedegaard 168-170 Katzenstein, Peter 19 Keeler, John T.S. 109, 117 Keesings Historisch Archief 96-99, 102-104, 106, 170 Keman, Hans 38, 44, 166 Keohane, Robert 43, 50, 58 King, Gary 43, 58 Kingdon, John W. 33 Kitschelt, Herbert 13, 24, 29, 32, 37, 58, 60, 144, 148-149, 166 Klein, Rudolf 23 Kleinnijenhuis, Jan 105, 108-109 Kok, Wim 51, 101, 104-105 Koopmans, F. 48 Korpi, Walter 13, 20, 26, 29, 47, 140, 144 Kuhnle, Stein 24 Kuipers, Mans 96 KVP (Katholieke Volks Partij) 11, 94, 166, 170 Labour force participation 45, 49, 128, 130, 134-135

Labour market 15, 16, 19, 21, 26-27, 33, 39-42, 45, 63, 73, 76-77, 83-85, 96, 101, 103, 109-110, 112, 117, 118, 124-128, 130, 133-134. 143, 147, 161, 167

Landelijk Instituut Sociale Verzekeringen 12, 74, 86, 169 Lau, Richard R. 23 Laver, Michael 166 Lavard, Richard 33, 36 Levy, Jonah 29, 34 Lewis, Jane 13 Lewis-Beck, Michael 32 Liberals 44, 51, 94, 111-114, 121, 124-125, 127 Lijphart, Arend 28, 43, 46, 93, 95, 149 Lindbom, Anders 58 LISV (Landelijk Instituut Sociale Verzekeringen) 12, 74, 86, 169 Loftager, Jørn 124-125 Lubbers, Ruud 10, 51, 58, 96-110, 114-115, 132 Madsen, Per K. 124-125 Manow, Philip 136 Mares, Isabela 13, 21 Martin, Cathie J. 21 Marxist 22, 26, 39 McKinlay, Robert D. 20 Merrien, Francois-Xavier 28 Metze, Marcel 102, 104-105, 170 Minority governments 46, 49, 111-114, 124, 136-138 Misra, Joya 22 Moran, Michael 22 Myles, John 168 Müller, Wolfgang C. 31 Nannestad, Peter 32, 48, 112-113, 118, 124-125 New politics 23, 108 Ng, Tang Nah 22 Nickell, Stephen 33, 40 Nielsen, Fritz von Nordenheim 169 Nielsen, Hans Jørgen 121 Nielsen, Viggo 140 Niemöller, Kees 100 Nixon (goes to China) 29, 36-39, 128-129, 145, 148 NRC Handelsblad 96-97, 99-100, 104-105 Nørgaard, Asbjørn Sonne 73

O'Connor, James 22 Obfuscation, strategies of 25, 33, 146 OECD (Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development) 12-13, 33, 40, 44, 47, 52-58, 89, 149, 167 Offe, Claus 22 Office-seeking 31, 37, 100, 104, 119 Old-age pension 13, 16-17, 26, 39-42, 49, 63, 65-70, 77-78, 81, 87-91, 106, 118, 130, 133, 139-141, 144-146, 156-157, 159, 161-162, 171, 173 Oil crisis 50, 93-95, 112 Oppenhuis, Erik 95 Orloff, Ann S. 13 Overbye, Einar 34 Paldam, Martin 32, 48 Palier, Bruno 28, 61 Palme, Joakim 13, 29, 47, 144 Papadakis, Elim 34, 166 Parlementaire enquÎte uitvoeringsorganen sociale verzekeringen 105 Parliament 73, 94, 96, 99-100, 104-107, 111, 113-114, 116-117, 121-122, 125-126, 128, 137, 140, 154, 156, 166, 170 Party competition 9-10, 15-16, 29, 35, 37-39, 41, 43-44, 48, 62, 90-91, 93-95, 107-110, 112-113, 131-132, 143-145, 148, 150-151, 160-161, т66 Pedersen, Mogens N. 111-112 Pellikaan, Huib 101 Pennings, Paul 105, 107-108 Peters, Guy B. 27, 58, 150 Petersen, Eggert et al. 117 Petersen, Klaus 112 Petersen, Nikolaj 120 Pierson, Christopher 19 Pierson, Paul 13-14, 19, 21, 23-28, 30, 32-33, 58, 135, 139, 145, 147, 149, 160, 165-166, 168, 172 Pivot party/system 15-16, 37-39, 41, 48, 62, 95, 143, 148, 161, 166 Ploug, Niels et al. 169 Ploysing, Jan 126 Policy learning 151 Political discourse 27, 33, 144 Politics matter 14, 20, 22, 29, 144 Politiken 114-118, 120-122, 124-128, 171

Pontusson, Jonas 58, 147 Power-resources theory 20-21, 26, 165 PPR (Politieke Partij Radicalen) 11,94,170 Programmatic structure 24-25, 28, 146, 172 Progress Party 111, 114, 116, 119-121, 124, 137 Purple government 63, 106-108, 132-133, 167 PvdA (Partij van de Arbeid) 11, 44, 62-63, 93-96, 98-108, 128, 131-133, 150, 167, 171 Ragin, Charles 22, 167 Rasmussen, Poul Nyrup 51, 122-123 Ray, Leonard 13, 24, 29 Real social minimas 98, 145-46 Regini, Marino 13, 149 Retrenchment 9-10, 13-17, 19-20, 22-43, 45-46, 48-50, 58-63, 65-91, 93-104, 106-111, 113, 117-118, 120-141, 143-150, 153-155, 159-163, 166, 168, 170-173 Rhodes, Martin 165 Rietberg, Ewald M. 108 Rigter, D.P. et al. 95, 98, 170 Riker, William 34 Rockman, Bert A. 28 Roebroek, Joop 97 Rokkan, Stein 59 Ross, Fiona 24, 29, 34-37, 144, 149 Rothstein, Bo 26, 29, 34, 140, 149 Ruding, Onno 98 Ruggie, John G. 50 Scandinavian 21, 147-148, 172 Scharpf, Fritz W. 13, 27, 32, 45, 50, 58, 135-136, 149-150, 166 Schattschneider, Elmer E. 34 Schludi, Martin 150 Schlüter, Poul 51, 58, 113-115, 124, 129-130 Schmidt, Manfred G. 167 Schmidt, Vivien A. 13, 29, 45, 135, 144, 149 Schut, Frederik T. 101 Schwartz, Herman 6, 14, 45, 126, 150, 159, 166

Seils, Erik 136

Semetko, Holli A. 106

204 INDEX

Services 21, 45, 147, 172 SF (Socialistisk Folkeparti) 11, 111, 119, 121, 123 Shaley, Michael 20 Sickness benefits 26, 83, 95, 104-106, 114, 118 Siegel, Nico A. 89 Skocpol, Theda 21-22 Smitsman, Anneloes 47 Social assistance 26, 33, 39, 50, 106, 112, 114, 118, 126, 167, 171 Social contributions 25, 33, 47-49, 68, 73, 135, 139, 172-173 Social Democracy 21-22, 36, 149-152 Social Democrats 44, 51, 94, 111, 113, 115-124, 126-131, 137-139, 143, 150 Social Liberals 51, 111, 113-114, 116-120, 123, 137, 166 Socialdemokratiet i Danmark 116 Socialisme en Democratie 99 Sociaal Bestek 99 Sociaal en Cultureel Planbureau 57, 101, 167 Social security schemes 13, 15-16, 24-26, 28-30, 32-35, 39-42, 46-50, 58-63, 65, 70, 74, 87, 89-90, 109-110, 115, 119-120, 130, 134, 136, 138-141, 143-147, 149, 153, 161-162, 165, 167-168 Soskice, David 27 State-centered 9, 21, 27 Statsministeriet 124 Stephens, John D. 13, 20-22, 24, 27-29, 45, 147, 167 Structural theories 19-21, 27 Strøm, Kaare 31, 136-137 Svallfors, Stefan 34, 149, 166 SVB (Sociale Verzekeringsbank) 12,68 Svensson, Palle 120 SVR (Sociale Verzekeringsraad) 12,74 Swank, Duane 22, 28, 165 Sweden 25-26, 147, 148 Swenson, Peter 21 Taylor, Rosemary C.R. 27, 150 Taylor-Gooby, Peter 28, 34, 61, 149, 166 Teulings, Coen 74, 86 Timonen, Virpi 147 Toirkens, Jose 95 Trade unions 12, 20-21, 26, 48, 59, 70, 74, 95, 103, 113, 115, 117, 118, 120, 125, 128, 139, 150, 172

Trommel, Willem 58, 74, 76, 86, 110 Tromp, Bart 94-95 Trouw 100 Tsebelis, George 32 Tweede Kamer der Staten-Generaal 70, 86, 170-171 Unemployment benefits 13, 15, 17, 26, 33, 40-42, 48-50, 63, 71-77, 81, 86-88, 90-91, 96, 106, 109-110, 117-118, 120-128, 130, 133, 139, 141, 144-145, 156, 159-161, 162, 167, 169 Unger, Birgitte 136, 170 United States 13, 149 Universal/Universalist/Universalism 20-21, 26, 29, 107, 118, 134, 140-141, 149, 167 Vail, Mark L. 24, 28 van der Brug, Wouter 107 van der Eijk, Cees 100 van der Veen, Romke 58, 74, 76, 86, 110 van Holsteyn, Joop J.M. 100-101, 106 van Koten, B. 97 van Kersbergen, Kees 20, 21, 23-24, 36, 94, 113, 151, 165 van Oorschot, Wim 34, 48, 70 van Praag Jr., Philip 100-101 van Wijnbergen, Christa 102 Verba, Sidney 43, 58 Verkuil, Dik 94-95 Vesterø-Jensen, Carsten 168 Visser, Jelle 14, 45, 76, 94, 97, 103, 136, 150-151, 159, 170, 172 Voorlichtingscentrum Sociale Verzekering 169-170 Vording, Hendrik 68, 74, 84 Vote-seeking 16, 31-33, 35, 37-38, 41, 99-100, 104 Voters 14-15, 23, 25, 33, 37, 100, 105, 116, 118, 125, 160-161 Vrii Nederland 103 VUT (Vervroegde uittreding) 11, 167 VVD (Volkspartij voor Vrijheid en Democratie) 11,44,51,62-63,93-96, 98-107, 132, 167, 170 WAO (Wet op de arbeidsongeschiktheidsverzekering) 10-11, 49-50, 83-

86, 102-107, 133, 170

Weaver, R. Kent 24, 28

206 INDEX

Weir, Margaret 21-22 Welfare-state regimes 21, 45, 149 Welfare without work 135-136 Wilensky, Harold 19 Wolinetz, Steven B. 95, 101-102, 105-106 Wren, Anne 27, 34 ww (Werkloosheidswet) 11, 50, 73-76, 101 www (Wet werkloosheidsvoorziening) 11, 50, 73-75, 101

Ældre Sagen 140